

## ANAEROBIC DIGESTION OF PRE-TREATED SLAUGHTERHOUSE WASTE

A Thesis submitted by

Peter William Harris, B.Sci.(Hons), B.Biomed.Sci.

For the award of

Doctor of Philosophy

2017

### Abstract

Low-rate covered anaerobic lagoons (CALs) offer the Australian red meat processing (RMP) industry an attractive wastewater treatment option with the added benefit of capturing methane-rich biogas that can be combusted to offset onsite fossil fuel consumption. Whilst high-strength, high-fat wastewater generated by the RMP industry provides excellent potential for biogas production, it also presents operational problems and can reduce the performance of anaerobic digestion (AD) systems. Fats, oils and greases, and other solids present in the wastewater are responsible for pipe blockages, degradation of lagoon covers, inhibition of mass transfer of nutrients, and sludge flotation and washout.

This thesis presents an investigation of pre-treatment on AD of high-fat waste cattle slaughterhouse using dissolved air flotation (DAF) sludge as a standard substrate. The first phase of work evaluated four pre-treatment options using biomethane potential (BMP) tests. The pre-treatment methods assessed were thermobaric, chemical, thermochemical and bovine bile as a novel bio-surfactant. Phase 2 examined thermobaric pre-treatment in continuous digestion.

Under batch digestion, thermobaric pre-treatment demonstrated the greatest improvement in the digestion process. Thermobaric pre-treatment was also the most practical for implementation at slaughterhouses, with potential for heat-exchange to reduce pre-treatment cost. Soluble chemical oxygen demand was enhanced from 16.3% in the control to 20.84% (thermobaric), 40.82% (chemical), and 50.7% (thermochemical). Pre-treatment altered volatile fatty acid concentration by -64% (thermobaric), 127% (chemical) and 228% (thermochemical). Lag phase was reduced by 20% in the thermochemical group, and 100% in the thermobaric group. Specific methane production (SMP) was enhanced by 3.28% (chemical), 8.32% (thermobaric), and 8.49% (thermochemical) as a result of pre-treatment.

Bovine bile was dosed at arbitrary concentrations from 0.2-6 g/L. At 0.6 g bile/L, methane yield increased by 7.08%. Doses above 2 g bile/L produced negative impacts on SMP, kinetics and digestion profile. At 6 g/L bile produced a 6% decrease in specific methane production and up to 79% additional inhibitory duration, delayed time of peak methane production 74%, and slowed total digestion time 65%. Reaction

kinetics declined linearly with respect to bile addition, reaching half the control value at 6 g/L bile concentration. Subsequent anaerobic toxicity assays using bile in the range of 1-6 g/L revealed the inhibitory nature of bile at higher doses. Economic feasibility assessment showed that, when compared to the current use of bile as a sale product to pharmaceutical companies, the addition of 0.2 g bile/L to existing slaughterhouse waste streams could increase the value of bile to 220% of its current sale value.

Based on the batch BMP results, thermobaric-treated substrate was used for continuous digestion experiments. Thermobaric-treated DAF sludge combined with abattoir wastewater was fed to lab-scale continuous stirred tank reactors (CSTR) for 49 days. While pre-treatment under batch digestion improved methane yield and inhibition, methane yield was decreased by 12.1%, pH was consistently lower, and H<sub>2</sub>S concentration was 56% higher on average in continuous digestion mode. Under the conditions of this investigation, the benefits measured under batch digestion were not reproduced under continuous digestion. This highlights the value of continuous digestion experiments in evaluating substrates for industrial application.

## **Certification of Thesis**

This Thesis is the work of Peter Harris except where otherwise acknowledged, with the majority of the authorship of the papers presented as a Thesis by Publication undertaken by the Student. The work is original and has not previously been submitted for any other award, except where acknowledged.

Principal Supervisor: Bernadette McCabe

Associate Supervisor: Thomas Schmidt

Associate Supervisor: Mark Lynch

Student and supervisors signatures of endorsement are held at the University.

## Acknowledgements

There are many people whom without their contributions my candidature would not have been possible. I would like to acknowledge the financial assistance provided by the University of Southern Queensland in the form of an Australian Postgraduate Award scholarship. Without this scholarship, I would not have undertaken the challenge of a PhD.

Thank you to the National Centre for Engineering in Agriculture for the use of lab space and equipment. Thank you to Oakey Beef Exports for access to facilities for sludge and waste collection.

To the many friends and colleagues who I have not specifically mentioned in the following, your contributions to everyday life – a friendly smile and wave, a greeting in passing – have all contributed to making my candidature easier.

To the biology tech staff, Adele, Mo, Julie, Andy, Amanda and Pat. Thank you all for your assistance and friendship over the many years we've shared together.

Rachel King, thank you for your assistance with all things statistics.

Matthew Mengel, thank you for your assistance with all things coding and graphing.

To my brother and sisters, thank you for your support.

Seonmi Lee, thank you for your assistance in laboratory tasks, and feeding digesters on weekends, your always pleasant attitude, and hilarious reactions to the smells of the lab. These small things have made my time more valuable, and the stresses easier to manage.

To dad, Chris Harris, who passed away during my candidature, thank you for your constant support in my endeavours.

To mum, Lyndell Harris, I thank you for your constant support, understanding, and unconditional love and care. Although these qualities have always been, my appreciation for you grows every day.

Mark lynch, you have been a great source of theoretical and practical knowledge for the chemistry components that were attempted throughout this PhD. We have shared many stories, frustrations and concerns, discussed many methods and results. Your expertise and friendship in all these matters has been extremely valuable. Thank you.

Anna Balzer, thank you for the friendship we forged throughout our PhD journeys, which means more to me than words can say. You have been my confidant, my rock and source of stability in hard times. We have shared many beers, had many laughs, and shed a few tears (most of them while laughing!).

Thomas Schmidt, you have been an incredible source of knowledge and practical skills in all things biogas. Without your assistance, completing this PhD with my sanity intact would have been a miracle. Your friendship has made coming to work an enjoyable experience, and I look forward to many more years of laughs and beers. Thank you!

Bernadette McCabe, your supervision has been a comforting constant amid the ups and downs of PhD life. With unwavering support and trust, you have guided me through my candidature. Your friendship has made the trials of PhD more bearable, and it has been a pleasure to work with you. Although the words do not do it justice, thank you for all that you have done for me throughout this PhD.

# List of Abbreviations

AD	Anaerobic digestion			
AMPTS II	Automated methane potential test system II			
AnMBR	Anaerobic membrane reactor			
AUD	Australian dollars			
В	Cumulative SMP at time (t)			
B <sub>0</sub>	Cumulative SMP at end of digestion			
BMP	Biochemical methane potential			
BOD	Biochemical oxygen demand			
BR	Bioreactor			
BRS	Bioreactor simulator			
Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub>	Calcium hydroxide			
CaO	Calcium oxide			
CH <sub>4</sub>	Methane			
CHP	Combined heat and power			
$CO_2$	Carbon dioxide			
COD	Chemical oxygen demand			
CoHRAL	Covered high-rate anaerobic lagoon			
CSTR	Continuous stirred-tank reactor			
DAF	Dissolved air flotation			
DAI	Data acquisition instrument			
DB	Database			
DMDO	Dimethyldioxirane			
DS	Dry solids			
EGSB	Expanded granular sludge bed reactor			
FeCl <sub>2</sub>	Iron chloride			
FOG	Fat, oil and grease			
FS	File storage			
GC-FID	Gas chromatography with a flame ionisation detector			
GHG	Greenhouse gas			
$H_2O_2$	Hydrogen peroxide			
$H_2SO_4^-$	Sulphuric acid			
H <sub>3</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	Phosphoric acid			

HCl	Hydrochloric acid
HNO <sub>3</sub>	Nitric acid
HPH	High-pressure homogenisation
HRT	Hydraulic retention time
IBC	Intermediate bulk container
ISR	Inoculum to substrate ratio; I:S
k	Rate constant of logistic equation
КОН	Potassium hydroxide
L	Litre, 1 cubic decimetre; 1 dm <sup>3</sup>
LCFA	Long-chain fatty acids
М	Molar; moles/litre
mEq	Milli equivalents
Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub>	Magnesium hydroxide
$M_{I}$	Mass of inoculum
min	Minutes
$mL_N$	Normal Millilitres; 1 atm. 0°C, corrected for water vapour
MJ	Megajoules
mM	Millmolar
M <sub>R</sub>	Final mass of reactor liquid components
Ms	Mass of substrate
Mt	Megatonnes
MWh	Megawatt hours
Ν	Normality
NaOH	Sodium Hydroxide
NH4-N	Ammonium-nitrogen
NOx	Nitrogen oxides
O <sub>3</sub>	Ozone
OLR	Organic loading rate; g (VS or COD)/L/day
Р	Phosphorus
PL-250	Pancreatic lipase 250
POMS	Peroxymonosulphate
psi	Pounds per square inch
RMP	Red meat processing

sCOD	Soluble chemical oxygen demand
tCOD	Total chemical oxygen demand
SMP	Specific methane production
t	Time in days
T <sub>EQ</sub>	Time of equivalent methane yield in days
T <sub>FIN</sub>	Time in days of digestion finish in days
tHSCW	Tonnes of hot standard carcass weight
TN	Total nitrogen
TS	Total solids
TSS	Total suspended solids
TVS	Total volatile solids
U	Rate constant of Gompertz equation
U/mg	Units of activity per mg of enzyme
UASB	Upflow anaerobic sludge blanket
USA	United States of America
v/v	% volume per unit of volume
VFA	Volatile fatty acids
V <sub>R</sub>	Reactor volume
VS	Volatile solids
VSI	VS of inoculum
VSS	Volatile suspended solids
VSs	VS of substrate
w/v	% weight per units of volume
WAS	Waste activated sludge
λ	Lag phase in Gompertz equation

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	i
Certification of Thesis	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
List of Abbreviations	vi
Table of Contents	ix
List of Figures	xi
List of Tables	xii
Statement of Authorship	xiii
Structure of the Thesis	xvi
Chapter I: Introduction	1
1.1 Brief overview of anaerobic digestion	3
1.2 Characteristics of abattoir wastewater	5
1.3 Wastewater parameters associated with biogas production	6
1.4 Impact of fat, oil and grease in anaerobic digestion	7
1.4.1 Enhancing biogas yield through co-digestion	10
1.5 Pre-treatment of substrates for anaerobic digestion	12
1.5.1 Mechanical degradation of feedstocks	15
1.5.2 Thermal hydrolysis	18
1.5.3 Acid and alkali and oxidative pre-treatments	21
1.5.4 Thermochemical pre-treatment	24
1.5.5 Biological pre-treatment of AD feedstocks	26
1.5.5.1 Enzymatic pre-treatment of AD feedstocks	28
1.5.5.2 Biochemical emulsification of AD feedstocks	29
1.6 Relative performance of pre-treatment options	29
1.7 Merit of pre-treatment methods in abattoir waste in Australia	32
1.8 Summary of the literature	34
1.9 Objectives of the study	35
Chapter II: Methodology	36
2.1 Methodology overview	37
2.1.1 Inoculum, substrate and bile collection	37
2.1.2 Biochemical methane potential	38

2.1.3	Curve fitting and reaction kinetics	39
2.1.4	Continuous digestion	40
Chapter III	I: Results & Discussion	
3.1 Rev application	view of pre-treatments used in anaerobic digestion and their pote n in high-fat cattle slaughterhouse wastewater	ntial 42
3.2 Eva anaerobic	aluation of chemical, thermobaric and thermochemical pre-treatm digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste	nent on 43
3.2.1	Thermobaric pre-treatment	
3.2.2	Chemical pre-treatment	46
3.2.3	Thermochemical pre-treatment	
3.2.4 pre-trea	Economic assessment of chemical, thermobaric and thermocher tments	mical 47
3.2.5	Limitations and future work	
3.3 Boy of high-fa	vine bile as a bio-surfactant pre-treatment option for anaerobic di t cattle slaughterhouse waste	gestion 50
3.3.1	Economic assessment of bile pre-treatment	52
3.4 Imp of high-fa	pact of thermobaric pre-treatment on the continuous anaerobic di t cattle slaughterhouse waste	gestion 52
3.5 Lin	nitations and future work	53
Chapter IV	7: Conclusions	
References	S	
Appendix	A	
Review of application	f pre-treatments used in anaerobic digestion and their potential n in high-fat cattle slaughterhouse wastewater	
Appendix	В	
Evaluation	n of chemical, thermobaric and thermochemical pre-treatment on digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste	
Appendix	C	105
Bovine bi	le as a bio-surfactant pre-treatment option for anaerobic digestion	n of
high-fat ca	attle slaughterhouse waste	105
Suppleme	ntary Tables	113
Appendix	D	115
Impact of high-fat ca	thermobaric pre-treatment on the continuous anaerobic digestion attle slaughterhouse waste	of 115

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Growth in global meat production from 1961-2016	1
Figure 2: Stages of anaerobic digestion, modified from Appels <i>et al.</i> (2008)	4
Figure 3: Section of crust removed from an anaerobic lagoon by an excavator after desludging indicating crust thickness	8
Figure 4: Illustration of dead space contributed by crust and sludge volume resulting in a large reduction in functional pond volume	9
Figure 5: Effect of pre-treatment on reaction rate and methane yield from anaerobic digestion	13
Figure 6: Reviewed pre-treatments in literature applied to different substrate	
categories in lab-, pilot- and full-scale studies as well as discussed in reviews (112 papers from 1978-2011)	15
Figure 7: Diagrammatic disintegration of waste activated sludge by high- pressure homogenisation	16
Figure 8: sCOD removal efficiency and VS reduction rate for pre-treated WAS	24
Figure 9: General outline of project methodology	36
Figure 10: Visual representation of BioReactor Simulator	41

# List of Tables

Table 1: Concentrations of parameters of high-strength wastewaters	
produced by abattoirs	6
Table 2: Effect of co-digesting substrates with FOG-rich co-substrates on	
methane yield	11
Table 3: Mechanical pre-treatments, wastes treated, conditions, and	
results from the literature	17-18
Table 4: Thermal pre-treatments, wastes treated, conditions, and results	
from the literature	19-20
Table 5: Literature results for the effects of chemical pre-treatment on	
various substrates	23
Table 6: Combined pre-treatments, wastes treated, conditions, and results	
from the literature	25
Table 7: Biological pre-treatments, wastes treated, conditions, and results	
from the literature	26-27
Table 8: Advantages and disadvantages of pre-treating WAS with	
different technologies	30
Table 9: Effect of pre-treatments on substrate and AD parameters	45
Supplementary Table 1: Characteristics of inocula, DAF sludge, cellulose	
and bile used in digestions	113
Supplementary Table 2: Conversion of volumetric dosing of bile to	
dosage per unit of FOG	114

## **Statement of Authorship**

This thesis is based on the following papers.

- I. Harris, P & McCabe, B 2015, 'Review of pre-treatments used in anaerobic digestion and their potential application in high-fat cattle slaughterhouse wastewater', *Applied Energy*, vol. 155, pp. 560-75.
- II. Harris, PW, Schmidt, T & McCabe, BK 2017, 'Evaluation of chemical, thermobaric and thermochemical pre-treatment on anaerobic digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 244, pp. 605-10.
- III. Harris, PW, Schmidt, T & McCabe, BK 2018, 'Bovine bile as a bio-surfactant pre-treatment option for anaerobic digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste', *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, vol. 6, pp 444-50.
- IV. Harris, PW, Schmidt, T & McCabe, BK 2018, 'Impact of thermobaric pretreatment on the continuous anaerobic digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste', *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, vol 134, pp. 108-13.

The thesis is concerned with evaluating pre-treatment of high-fat slaughtrehouse waste with the aim of improving anaerobic digestion. The experimental work focused on biochemical methane potential and continuous digestion in lab-scale continuous stirred-tank reactors.

**Paper I** is a review of the literature which critically examines various pretreatment options to improve anaerobic digestion across a broad range of substrates. This review identified two main knowledge gaps in the literature. Firstly, a lack of standardisation across investigations into anaerobic digestion makes drawing meaningful comparison difficult. This is also a hinderance in generating cost/benefit analyses to better inform industry on the how to optimise digestion of their substrates. Secondly, literature regarding the anaerobic digestion of fat-rich substrate and abattoir waste and wastewater in general, and the pre-treatment of such substrates are largely absent from the literature. **Paper II and III** report on the effect of pre-treatments on the anaerobic digestion, as determined by biochemical methane potential (BMP) testing, of dissolved-air flotation (DAF) sludge, a substrate used in this study to reflect the high fat content of red meat processing wastewater. **Paper II** reports on the application of thermobaric, chemical and thermochemical pre-treatment methods and the subsequent effect on the anaerobic digestion of this material. Thermobaric pre-treatment was the most effective pre-treatment in terms of improving methane yield and eliminating lagphase inhibition. **Paper III** reports on the effect of a novel bio-surfactant pre-treatment in the form of bovine bile to DAF sludge. **Papers II and III** briefly explore cost/benefit analyses of pre-treatment application. **Paper IV** reports on the application of thermobaric pre-treatment to lab-scale continuous stirre- tank reactors to monitor and assess the suitability of pre-treatment during long-term continuous digestion.

### **Contributions to papers**

Paper I: I wrote the paper. Edits were made by Bernadette McCabe

Author contributions:	Peter Harris	80%
	Bernadette McCabe	20%

**Paper II**: I performed all experimental work, I wrote the paper. Edits were made by Bernadette McCabe and Thomas Schmidt.

Author contributions:	Peter Harris	75%
	Bernadette McCabe	20%
	Thomas Schmidt	5%

**Paper III**: I performed all experimental work, I wrote the paper. Edits were made by Bernadette McCabe and Thomas Schmidt.

Author contributions:	Peter Harris	75%
	Bernadette McCabe	20%
	Thomas Schmidt	5%

**Paper IV**: I performed the majority of experimental work, with contibutions by Seonmi Lee, Thomas Schmidt and Bernadette McCabe on various occasions. I performed the majority of analyses, with contributions from Thomas Schmidt and

Seonmi Lee. I wrote the paper, edits were made by Bernadette McCabe and Thomas Schmidt.

Author contributions: Peter Harris 75%

Bernadette McCabe 20%

Thomas Schmidt 5%

## **Structure of the Thesis**

This thesis is structured as per the guidelines set forth by the University of Southern Queensland with respect to Thesis by Publication. The thesis is organised into four chapters that derive from **Papers I-IV** listed above, and 4 appendices which contain the published **Papers I-IV** in full journal format. Chapter one provides an introduction, review of the literature and outlines the research aims and objectives. Chapter two includes a brief overview of the methodology, for which the full methodology can be found in **Papers II-IV**. Chapter three provides an in-depth discussion of **Papers II-IV**. **IV**, and chapter four provides conclusion drawn from **Papers II-IV**.

# Ι

# Introduction

Global processing of cattle has intensified consistently over the past 50 years, increasing by 36.29 Mt from 27.69 Mt in 1961 to 63.98 Mt in 2013 (FAOSTAT 2015) (Figure 1). While production has more than doubled, waste mitigation techniques have lagged behind the ever increasing accumulation of waste.



Figure 1: Growth in global meat production from 1961-2013 (FAOSTAT 2015)

Processing livestock is an energy and cost intensive process. An environmental sustainability review of the Australian red meat processing (RMP) industry conducted by AMPC and MLA (2010) revealed that 9.8 kL of water was used to generate a single tonne of hot standard carcass weight (tHSCW) during 2008-2009 and generated 8.7

kL of wastewater. Per tHSCW, this consumed 4108 MJ of energy from various sources, and committed 11.3kg of solid waste to landfill, while greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions averaged 554kg CO<sub>2-eq</sub>/tHSCW. Of total energy emissions, 67% were related to electricity use, and 35% of emissions contributed by anaerobic wastewater treatment (AMPC & MLA 2010). For the year of 2014-15, with 8.76 million cattle harvested resulting in the production of 2.42 million tHSCW, the industry generated approximately 20.8 gigalitres of wastewater, consumed 9.94 petajoules of energy, committed 27.35 Mt of solid waste to landfill, and emitted 1.34 Mt of CO2-eq of GHG emissions (AMPC 2015; Australian Bureau of Statistics 2016). The terms 'wastewater' and 'waste' will be used interchangeably in this thesis. Any differentiation between solid and liquid waste will be clearly stated.

The Australian RMP industry is currently working on a range of measures in an effort to reduce carbon pollution and improve energy efficiency through actively seeking renewable sources of energy and water recovery. This has been largely in response to a variety of factors including prolonged drought, tightened water restrictions, increasing costs of water, fuel and energy, improved community focus and environmental awareness, and rising GHG emissions (AMPC & MLA 2010). Several knowledge gaps have been identified in which research is needed to reduce the industry's emissions and energy costs (AMPC & AMIC 2012). One of the technologies identified as a potential solution reducing emission and energy costs is anaerobic digestion (AD). It has been demonstrated that AD technology can play a major role in waste management and the production of biogas in the abattoirs (Ortner et al. 2014). The methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) produced can be combusted to generate heat and electricity (CHP), or can be refined into renewable natural gas and transport fuels (Stucley et al. 2012). In addition, AD can be used to manage waste and reduce GHG emissions, and the digestate may be used or sold as a valuable organic fertilizer substitute or soil amendment (Appels et al. 2011).

Red meat processors have embraced the uptake of AD systems to treat highstrength wastewater and thereby reduce emissions. In Australia, AD systems typically take the form of low-rate anaerobic lagoons, which are well suited to the vacant land space available, with a move to covered anaerobic lagoons to capture methane and reduce GHG emissions (CSIRO, 2010). While it has been noted that anaerobic lagoons are not optimised treatment strategies, they are low-capital investments which can affect a large degree of organic degradation and methane generation (Jensen *et al.* 2014).

The high-strength wastewaters produced in Australian abattoirs tend to contain high levels of fat, oil and grease (FOG) with values ranging between 5 and 4570 mg/L in grab samples (McCabe *et al.* 2012). While AD is effective for the degradation of many substrates, FOG present several challenges. Before waste reaches the digester, FOG can adhere to pipe walls and begin accumulating to form blockages. In the case of covered anaerobic lagoons, FOG typically has two fates; accumulation as fatty crust, or hydrolysis and digestion to form methane. In the first instance, accumulation of FOG, hair and cellulosic material from paunch float to the lagoon surface and coalesce into increasingly thicker masses to form the crust. (UNSW 1998; Mayo 2011; McCabe *et al.* 2013; White, Johns & Butler 2013). In the second instance, fat particles that are hydrolysed to long-chain fatty acids (LCFA) may subsequently adhere to the surface of the sludge microbes. These LCFA form a layer over the microbial surface, producing reversible inhibition of mass-transfer between the microbes and the medium (Long *et al.* 2012).

Australian abattoirs stand to benefit substantially if an appropriate pretreatment method can be developed to improve the bioavailability and subsequent conversion of FOG to methane. McCabe *et al.* (2014) has shown that biogas production can potentially vary tenfold depending on factors such as lagoon efficiency and operational practices. With exception to anaerobic membrane reactor technology (Dasa *et al.* 2016) and Lipothan reactor technology (ACS-Umwelttechnik 2017) which are yet to be rigorously tested, no other AD system currently deals with FOG effectively, typically the more sophisticated the anaerobic digestion technology, the less capable they are of handling FOG loads (Appels *et al.* 2008; Jensen *et al.* 2014).

### 1.1 Brief overview of anaerobic digestion

Anaerobic digestion is a natural process by which a consortium of microorganisms operates synergistically to break down organics to produce biogas in the absence of oxygen (Gerardi 2003). The four steps of anaerobic digestion include hydrolytic, acidogenic, acetogenic and methanogenic activity (Figure 2; Appels *et al.* 2008). Biogas produced from this process consists primarily of methane (60-80%) and carbon dioxide (20-40%) (Di Bella 2010).



Figure 2: Stages of anaerobic digestion, modified from Appels et al. (2008).

For complex substrates, hydrolysis is the rate limiting step in the AD process (Appels *et al.* 2008). The role of hydrolyic enzymes is to degrade large insoluble carbohydrates, proteins and lipids to their soluble metabolites. Carbohydrates are degraded from polysaccharides to di- or mono-saccharides, proteins break down to amino acids, and lipids break down to form LCFA. The next stage of digestion, acidogenesis, further degrades the products of hydrolysis to form volatile fatty acids (VFA), hydrogen and carbon dioxide, and some other by-products. Acetogenesis involves the degradation of VFA and alcohols to produce acetic acid, hydrogen and carbon dioxide. These products are consumed by two groups of methanogenic archae to produce methane. While acetoclastic methanogens consume acetic acid and produce methane and carbon doixide, hydrogenotrophic archae utilise hydrogen and carbon dioxide and produce methane (Appels *et al.* 2008), and some archae utilise both pathways.

### **1.2** Characteristics of abattoir wastewater

The main types of wastes from abattoirs include organic solid wastes generated during meat processing and wastewaters from washing at various stages of the process. Australian RMP wastewater is generated at high volumes and characterised as having high organic, fat and nutrient loading. Volumes are typically around 850kL/day with organic content of 5700kg chemical oxygen demand (COD) per day (MLA 2002). In Australia, a typical abattoir is defined as processing 150 tHSCW per day, equivalent to 625 head of cattle (MLA 2002). Production is assumed to take place 5 days a week, 250 days per year, including boning and rendering (MLA 2002). While Johns (1993) determined typical values for abattoir wastewater, case studies have reported pollutant concentrations far greater than the typical (McCabe et al. 2013; UNSW 1998; Table 1). Abattoir wastewater becomes high-strength due to the accumulation of constituents including blood, fat, paunch, protein and excrement in the water. The composition of Australian RMP wastewaters may vary significantly from abattoir wastewaters in other countries due to the fully integrated facilities in Australia which include slaughter, boning and rendering processes at the same plant (Johns 1995). In contrast, German abattoirs, for example, are required by law to perform rendering in an off-site facility (UNEP & DEPA 2000). Furthermore, the high-strength wastewaters produced in Australian abattoirs tend to contain high levels of FOG compared with their nonintegrated equivalents. For this reason, care must be taken when comparing reports from various abattoirs around the world. While large integrated beef slaughterhouses in the USA show excellent similarities with data from Australian abattoirs, Australian abattoirs tend to generate higher volumes of higher-strength wastewaters than their European counterparts (Johns 1995; MLA 2002). Although high-strength wastewaters typically contribute well to biogas production, the FOG component tends to be problematic (Wan et al. 2011).

Parameter (mg/L)	Typical abattoir raw wastewater (all meats) <sup>(b)</sup>	King Island (beef) <sup>(c)</sup>	Southern Meats wastewater ex DAF (sheep) <sup>(d)</sup>	Churchill Abattoir (Beef) <sup>(e)</sup>
BOD	1600-3000	3000	~1/2 COD	163-7020
COD	4200-8500	7250	3100-11500	1040-12100
FOG	100-200	120	290-2670	5-2110
TSS	1300-3400	2000	1150-5700	457-6870
VSS	n/a	n/a	1040-5300	n/a
TN	114-148	450	180-440	296-785
NOx	n/a		0.01 - 0.12	n/a
NH4-N	65-87	250	18-135	23.8-349 <sup>(f)</sup>
<b>Total P</b>	20-30	45	26.4-60	n/a
VFA	175-400	n/a	61-600	1020-1980
Alkalinity	350-800	n/a	340-700	70-906

Table 1: Concentrations of parameters of high-strength wastewater produced by abattoirs.

<sup>(a)</sup> Benefield (2001); <sup>(b)</sup> Johns (Johns 1993); <sup>(c)</sup> White; Johns and Butler (2013); <sup>(d)</sup> UNSW (1998); <sup>(e)</sup> McCabe *et al.* (2013); <sup>(f)</sup> Value is for NH<sub>3</sub>-N; n/a indicates not available

BOD – biochemical oxygen demand; TSS – total suspended solids; VSS – volatile suspended solids; TN – total nitrogen; NOx – nitrogen oxides; NH<sub>4</sub>-N – ammonium as nitrogen; P - phosphorus

### **1.3** Wastewater parameters associated with biogas production

The wastewater parameters which are of particular interest to this work are those which could be logically associated with increased biogas production, including COD, soluble COD (sCOD), volatile solids (VS), FOG, fat particle size, and VFA (Appels *et al.* 2008; Nakhla *et al.* 2003; Pilli *et al.* 2011). Pre-treatments are often assessed with respect to sCOD release and degradation (Amani, Nosrati & Sreekrishnan 2010). As treatments rupture cells, the intracellular contents are released into the extracellular medium, contributing to the soluble fraction of COD (Gronroos *et al.* 2005). As a measure of pre-treatment impact on substrate degradation, sCOD appears to be useful (Kim et al. 2003; Rincón et al. 2013). However, while sCOD may increase in response to a pre-treatment, the relationship between sCOD and biogas production is complex, and as such, does not necessarily indicate an increase in biogas production (Carrere *et al.* 2010). Therefore, if biogas production is to be reported with respect to sCOD degradation, further information must be collected to support findings.

Although less commonly investigated as a measure of pre-treatment impact, specific methane production is regularly reported with respect to VS added (Luste & Luostarinen 2010). Also known as organic solids, VS is made up of carbohydrates,

proteins and fats, typically derived from organisms, but may also include artificial organic compounds. Consequently, there is a strong correlation between VS degradation and biogas production (Appels *et al.* 2008). Given this strong correlation, measuring VS as an indicator of pre-treatment impact may be more valuable than measuring sCOD. However, while drying a sample for VS determination, there may be an initial loss of volatiles such as alcohols and VFA. Due to the lack of standardization in the reporting of pre-treatment impact on AD performance, this chapter will cover the majority of common measurements.

This chapter is particularly focused on the degradation of FOG, either during the pre-treatment process, or during the AD process as a result of pre-treatment. In batch digestions, measurement of FOG content can be done before and after pre-treatment, and post-digestion. Fat particle size reduction is another favourable outcome of pre-treatment. A reduction in particle size increases the surface area to volume ratio of the fat content, increasing the area susceptible to chemical and enzymatic interaction (Mshandete *et al.* 2006). Logically, this should increase the rate of methane production, but may result in temporary inhibition due to increased LCFA concentration. Further degradation of LCFA will produce VFA, which are also of anaerobic digestion, and a feedstock for methanogenic archaea. While VFA at concentrations of 6.7-9 mM are toxic to methanogens, if a pre-treatment were capable of degrading triglycerides and LCFA to VFA, the process could significantly enhance reaction kinetics (Batstone *et al.* 2000).

### **1.4** Impact of fat, oil and grease in anaerobic digestion

The FOG component of high-strength wastes, such as those created in abattoirs, can induce several problems including clogging of pipes, adhesion to sludge causing both inhibition of mass-transfer of nutrients and sludge flotation with subsequent washout (Girault *et al.* 2012; Long *et al.* 2012). Anaerobic lagoons can receive large volumes of FOG and continue to function for long periods of time before the lagoon fails. This is likely due to the lack of mixing in lagoons, allowing FOG to float to the lagoon surface along with lignocellulosic material to form a fatty crust. While this accumulation is far from ideal, a managed crust does offer some benefit in

odour reduction, pond insulation, and FOG locked up in crust is relatively unavailable to cause process inhibition (AMPC 2012; Golder Associates Pty Ltd 2009).

In continuously fed anaerobic lagoons this process can be unsustainable, where accumulation of FOG as crust outweighs FOG consumption. If FOG accumulation is not monitored and dealt with accordingly, crust can accumulate to several meters thick with surprising density as shown in Figure 3 (McCabe *et al.* 2013). Not only does this make crust removal from large lagoons difficult and expensive, the issue of how to deal with waste FOG after removal has not been addressed (Mayoh 2011).



Figure 3: Section of crust removed from an anaerobic lagoon by an excavator after desludging indicating crust thickness (McCabe et al. 2013).

In time, accumulation of crust on the lagoon surface heavily restricts the functional volume of the lagoon through the generation of dead space, resulting in short circuiting (Shilton & Harrison 2003). Figure 4 depicts a schematic diagram of the impact of crust accumulation on the functional volume of an anaerobic lagoon. Furthermore, the organic material itself is largely unavailable for degradation by the anaerobic consortium, as very little surface area with respect to crust volume is accessible by hydrolytic enzymes.



*Figure 4: Illustration of dead space contributed by crust and sludge volume resulting in a large reduction in functional pond volume.* 

In addition to affecting the functional volume of a digester, covered anaerobic lagoons suffer further complications due to FOG. Thick crust material can significantly inhibit gas permeation and subsequently reduce gas capture by the cover (McCabe et al. 2013). Cover materials that come into contact with FOG are subject to chemical attack which can compromise the material integrity and result in ruptures, or gas leakage (Golder Associates Pty Ltd 2009). As crust accumulates and thickens, such as in Figure 4, floating raft-style covers can be flexed and bent out of shape, compromising the ability of the cover to capture gas.

Alternatively, high rate systems with active heating and mixing bring microbes into greater contact with FOG and LCFA. Subsequently, high rate AD systems that utilise granular sludge are more sensitive to FOG loadings and are at a greater risk of resulting failure than anaerobic lagoons (Jensen et al. 2015; Dereli *et al.* 2012). While microbes can be acclimated to FOG loadings this is a typically slow process with the time required to acclimate increasing with FOG loading (Fernandez, Sanchez & Font 2005). A move toward covered high rate anaerobic lagoon (CoHRAL) technology to treat abattoir wastewater which incorporates novel waste water distribution and settling systems is underway with the recent commissioning of the first CoHRAL system in the Australian RMP industry (Condon, 2014). The monitoring of this type of system will be particularly useful in assessing the overall impact of FOG loading and AD performance.

While anaerobic lagoons are currently considered the most suitable digester type for handling wastes with high FOG content, new research into anaerobic membrane reactor (AnMBR) technology has shown great promise in wastewater treatment, especially in wastes with high FOG loads. Christian *et al.* (2011) reported on the first two years of treating high-strength industrial wastewater at Ken's Foods in Massachusetts, USA. This AnMBR, the largest in the world in 2011, had a design of 475 m<sup>3</sup>/d with COD, BOD and TSS loadings of 39000 mg/L, 18000 mg/L and 12000 mg/L respectively. The AnMBR produced consistently high-quality effluent with non-detectable TSS, and average COD and BOD concentrations of 210 and 20 mg/L, indicating removal efficiency of 99.4% and 99.9% respectively. Furthermore, AnMBR reactors have been loaded with COD in the order of 5-30 kg COD/m<sup>3</sup>/d, and FOG loading of up to 4-6 kg/m<sup>3</sup> with removal rates of 97% and 100% removal efficiency respectively (Dereli *et al.* 2012; Diez, Ramos & Cabezas 2012). However, few investigations have involved large FOG loadings being treated using AnMBR technology. Given that high-rate AD systems are typically sensitive to FOG loadings, more research should be conducted to investigate the feasibility of FOG digestion using AnMBR technology (Long *et al.* 2012).

#### 1.4.1 Enhancing biogas yield through co-digestion

While FOG have typically been viewed as a problematic substrate they have much to offer AD operations. Addition of FOG to an AD system has the potential to significantly increase biogas production (Zhu, Hsueh & He 2011). When the theoretical methane potential with respect to the stoichiometry of the macromolecules is compared, lipids are capable of yielding more methane at 1014 L/kg VS than both proteins at 480 L/kg VS and carbohydrates at 370 L/kg VS (Buswell & Neave 1930; Wan et al. 2011). These theoretical values were supported by Labatut (2012), with observed specific bio-methane yields ranging from 903.9-1101.2 L/kg VS for lipids, 302.5-407.3 L/kg VS for proteins and 191.8-359.3 L/kg VS for carbohydrates digested under mesophilic conditions. Indeed, co-digestion of substrates with FOG has produced significant increases in biogas production. Li, Champagne, and Anderson (2011) compared the biogas produced from digestion of waste activated sludge (WAS) co-digested with FOG using BMP tests. While the WAS control produced  $117 \pm 2.02$ mL/g total volatile solids (TVS), the reactor co-digesting WAS with 0.35 g FOG at an S:I ratio of 0.46 produced  $418 \pm 13.7$  mL/g TVS. This represents more than 350% increase in biogas production attributed to the addition of FOG. Similarly, Silvestre et al. (2011) co-digested sewage sludge with trapped grease waste. Not only did this study result in increased biogas production by 138%, but found that acetic and  $\beta$ - oxidation syntrophic acetogenic activities were 2.5 and 3.75 times higher than the initial inoculum respectively. This suggested that sludge could become acclimatised to greater FOG loads over time, and that this could be an effective strategy for improving fat degradation and reducing the inhibitory effects of LCFA. Table 2 lists several investigations which support the conclusion that co-digestion with FOG can significantly improve methane yields by considerable volumes.

Main substrate	<b>Co-substrate</b>	CH <sub>4</sub> volume	CH4 %	Reference
Sewage sludge (100% VS)	Grease trap sludge (0% VS)	278 m <sup>3</sup> /t VS added	63	Luostarinen, Luste and Sillanpaa (2009)
Sewage sludge (54% VS)	Grease trap sludge (46% VS)	463 m <sup>3</sup> /t VS added (+66% CH <sub>4</sub> yield)	62	Luostarinen, Luste and Sillanpaa (2009)
Sewage sludge (100% VS)	Grease trap sludge (0% VS)	271 m <sup>3</sup> /t VS added	65	Davidsson <i>et al.</i> (2008)
Sewage sludge (70% VS)	Grease trap sludge (30% VS)	344 m <sup>3</sup> /t VS added (+27% CH <sub>4</sub> yield)	69	Davidsson <i>et al.</i> (2008)
Pig slurry (100% v/v)	Waste sardine oil (0% VS)	0.43 m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /m <sup>3</sup> digester/d	72	Ferreira, Duarte and Figueiredo (2012)
Pig slurry (95% v/v)	Waste sardine oil (5% VS)	1.61 m <sup>3</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /m <sup>3</sup> /digester/d (+274% CH <sub>4</sub> yield)	70	Ferreira, Duarte and Figueiredo (2012)
Poultry manure (100% v/v)	Olive oil mill wastewater (0% v/v)	0.43 L/(V <sub>R</sub> /d)	74.1	Gelegenis et al. (2007)
Poultry manure (75% v/v)	Olive oil mill wastewater (25% v/v)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.52 \text{ L/(V_R/d)} \\ \text{CH}_4 \text{ yield} \uparrow 21\% \end{array}$	71.8	Gelegenis <i>et al.</i> (2007)
Sewage sludge (77% VS)	Grease trap waste (23 % VS)	CH₄ yield ↑ 138%		Silvestre <i>et al.</i> (2011)
Municipal primary sludge (21% VS)	Thickened WAS (31% VS) and FOG (48% VS)	CH₄ yield ↑ 195%		Kabouris et al. (2009)

Table 2: Effect of co-digesting substrates with FOG-rich co-substrates on methane yield.

 $V_R$  – Reactor volume;  $\uparrow$  - original value has increased, beyond 100%, by the given percentage.

However, co-digestion is dependent on access to available waste streams. Investigation of co-digestion using Australian abattoir wastewater is only in its infancy and is noted to be a multifaceted issue which goes beyond simply sourcing feedstocks for AD. The Australian RMP industry consists of medium to large enterprises which are often not located within close proximity to other agro-industrial waste streams. Subsequently, co-digestion is currently not an economically viable option for Australian abattoirs. Thus, Australian RMP industries which employ biogas facilities use abattoir wastewater as a monosubstrate. Ortner *et al.* (2015) exemplifies the situation of developing a reliable monodigestion process using slaughterhouse waste as the sole substrate. Beyond co-digestion, pre-treatment of FOG offers the next step to enhancing the AD process.

### **1.5** Pre-treatment of substrates for anaerobic digestion

In the context of this work, pre-treatment refers to the treatment of the waste or wastewater to enhance the availability of the substrate components to microbial enzymes, and thereby improve the removal of organics, increase reaction kinetics, and or total biogas production (Figure 5). Substrate availability may be enhanced through several mechanisms, resulting in liberation of sequestered organics, enhance surface area to volume ratio, or hydrolysis of macromolecules. The two reactions of primary interest are hydrolysis and  $\beta$ -oxidation. As hydrolysis is the first reaction involved in the degradation of complex substrates, this is general considered to be the rate limiting step (Luo, Yang & Li 2012). However, for the degradation of substrates high in FOG, LCFA degradation through  $\beta$ -oxidation is the slowest reaction, and controls the overall degradation kinetics (Ma et al. 2015). There are several different pre-treatment methods available to enhance digestion, including biological, mechanical, thermal, chemical, enzymatic, and biochemical approaches (Appels et al. 2008; Nakhla et al. 2003). While this chapter contains collated literature data on various pre-treatment methods, due to non-standardised reporting and great variability between research projects, direct comparison is difficult. Although projects that report on methane and biogas production are preferred, projects which report on other variables such as VS and sCOD have been included as they are valuable to inform further research.

Figure 5 illustrates the effect of pre-treatments on rate of anaerobic digestion (i.e. reaction kinetics; pre-treatment b) and increase the methane yield (pre-treatment c). Both effects will improve the operation of a biogas plant. However, depending on when a BMP test is ended, different interpretations are possible: t1: pre-treatment b - double the methane yield; t2: none of the pre-treatment methods increase methane yield; t3: pre-treatment c - increased the methane yield by 25% (Montgomery & Bochmann 2014).



*Figure 5: Effect of pre-treatments on reaction rate and methane yield from anaerobic digestion (Montgomery & Bochmann 2014).* 

Biogas production kinetics are used to describe and evaluate the anaerobic digestion of batch digestions by fitting the biogas production data to various kinetic equations (Ghatak & Mahanta 2014). Ghatak and Mahanta (2014) compiled a list of kinetic equations developed by various researchers, and described the evolution of kinetic equations from a simple linear equation, through logarithmic growth curves, Gaussian equations, through to logistic growth equations and finally the modified Gompertz equation. While these equations relay varying degrees of information to the researcher, the modified Gompertz equation is quite comprehensive for batch digestions. By curve fitting this equation to collected data, a researcher can reliably measure the rate constant and lag phase of a digestion which, like most complex substrates, produce a sigmoid curve of cumulative biogas production (Ghatak & Mahanta 2014).

This information is particularly useful for the investigation of co-digestion and pre-treatment in which reaction rates can be improved through various mechanisms. It is within the interests of an AD plant to enhance these reaction rates to produce as much biogas in as short a time as possible. A decrease in lag phase is indicative of a substrate which requires a lesser degree of hydrolysis from the AD consortium. This reduction in las phase typically results in an overall reduction in time required to complete digestion. This may allow an operator to decrease the hydraulic retention time (HRT) of a reactor, and or increase the organic loading rate (OLR). An increase in rate constant indicates that the substrate is more readily degradable due to pretreatment or co-digestion, and the rate of biogas production is increased, typically resulting in shorter digestion times, and potentially, increased biogas yield.

Carlsson, Lagerkvist & Morgan-Sagastume (2012) reviewed pre-treatments in literature applied to different substrate categories in lab-, pilot- and full-scale studies as well as discussed in reviews (112 papers from 1978-2011). The pie-chart (Figure 6) illustrates the number of times each substrate-type occurs in combination with a pre-treatment; the total number of occurrences is larger than the number of articles since several articles discuss more than one pre-treatment type. The bar-charts illustrate the distribution among the different pre-treatments for each substrate-type. The literature was selected so as to cover as many different types of substrates, pre-treated with as many processes and/ or technologies as possible.



Figure 6: Pre-treatments and substrates in the reviewed literature. Substrate pre-treatments applied to different substrate categories in lab-, pilot- and full-scale studies as well as discussed in reviews (112 papers from 1978-2011). The pie-chart illustrates the number of times each substrate-type occurs in combination with a pre-treatment; the total number of occurrences is larger than the number of articles since several articles discuss more than one pre-treatment type. The bar-charts illustrate the distribution among the different pre-treatments for each substrate-type. The literature was selected so as to cover as many different types of substrates, pre-treated with as many processes and/or technologies as possible.) (Carlsson, Lagerkvist & Morgan-Sagastume 2012).

### 1.5.1 Mechanical degradation of feedstocks

Mechanical pre-treatments are commonly used to enhance digestion of cellular wastes such as sludges (e.g. WAS), cellulosics (e.g. crop waste), and other similar wastes. The aim of these pre-treatments is to rupture the cell walls of the cellular organisms in these feedstocks, a process which can be reduced from days to minutes through mechanical pre-treatment (Kopp *et al.* 1997). High-pressure homogenisation (HPH) and ultrasonication are two mechanical methods of potential benefit to FOG digestion. More in-depth review of mechanical pre-treatments can be found in **Paper I**.

High-pressure homogenisation works by compressing and projecting waste at high speed against an impact ring (Figure 7). The turbulence, cavitation and shear stresses applied to the waste disintegrate the cells, releasing cellular contents into the medium (Appels *et al.* 2008). While this technology has been successfully applied to disintegration of algal biomass and heavily utilised in the field of sludge disintegration, there is little available literature which considers HPH for pre-treatment of lignocellulosic biomass or fatty substrates. While some investigations have assessed the effect of HPH on substrates that are suitable for AD, they have focussed on the impact to the substrate, and not on the AD process. Subsequently, it is unknown how the changes in these substrates would impact a BMP test.



*Figure 7: Diagrammatic disintegration of waste activated sludge by high-pressure homogenisation (Genizer 2009)* 

Ultrasonication has also been applied sparingly to FOG-rich substrates. The mode of action of ultrasonication is more sophisticated than HPH. As ultrasound waves propagate through the medium they create regions of compression and rarefaction. Microbubbles formed in this process grow in successive cycles and reach an unstable diameter at which they violently collapse in a process known as cavitation. Cavitational collapse produces intense local heating and high pressure (around 5000°C and over 500 atmospheres with a lifetime of a few microseconds) on a liquid-gas

interface, and, turbulence and high shearing phenomena in the liquid phase (Erden, Buyukkamaci & Filibeli 2010; Pilli *et al.* 2011). Furthermore, cavitation produces highly reactive H<sup>•</sup> and OH<sup>•</sup> radicals which facilitate chemical reactions for destroying organic materials. These chemical reactions are further favoured by the high temperature and pressure generated at the site of cavitation (Dewil 2006). Table 3 lists several mechanical pre-treatment methods and summarises the conditions and results of numerous investigations.

**Pre-treatment** Substrate Results Reference **Ball mill** WAS Baier and • sCOD content  $\uparrow 42\%$ Schmidheiny • Gas yield \\$ 20-50\% (1997)**High-pressure homogenisation** 30 - 50 bar WAS Choi, Hwang and • sCOD content  $\uparrow$  551% Shin (1997) • Soluble protein  $\uparrow 86\%$ • VS removal ↑ 11-15% 150 - 600 bar WAS • Biogas yield  $\uparrow$  30% Onyeche (2007) 600 bar WAS Engelhart *et al*. • Biogas yield  $\uparrow$  28-54% (2000)Mechanical jet WAS, (30 bar) • sCOD content  $\uparrow$  500% Nah et al. (2000) Sonication WAS Sandino et al. • No improvement in VS (2005)removal WAS Khanal *et al*. • sCOD content  $\uparrow$  11-39% (2006)6000 kJ/kg TS WAS Braguglia, Tomei • Hydrolysis constant  $(k) \uparrow$ and Mininni 30-80% (2006)120 MJ/kg TS Meat • Oil removal  $\uparrow$  55.9% Erden. processing Buyukkamaci • COD removal  $\uparrow$  14.73% effluent and Filibeli (2010)750 MJ/kg TS Meat Erden, • COD removal  $\uparrow$  76.74% Buyukkamaci processing effluent and Filibeli (2010)0.5 W/mL, 5WAS **Biggs and Lant** • Particle size  $\downarrow$  92% min (1998)0.1-0.4 W/mL, Municipal Cesaro *et al*. • Biogas yield  $\uparrow 24\%$ 30-60 min solid waste • sCOD content  $\uparrow$  71.8% (2012)

*Table 3: Mechanical pre-treatments, wastes treated, conditions, and results from the literature.* 

 $\uparrow$  - original value has increased, beyond 100%, by the given percentage.

Table 3 continued.

Pre-treatment	Substrate	Results	Reference
Sonication			
2000 kJ/kg TS	Waste vegetable oil,	Organic content ↑ 41932% (emulsification)	Moisan (2012)
Microwave			
0.3-300 GHz, 15 min	WAS	• sCOD content ↑ 22% CH₄ yield ↑ 79%	Park et al. (2004)
<b>Electrical Field</b>			
8000 kJ/kg DS	WAS	Sludge digestion ↑ 9%	Kopplow, Barienbruch and
		270	Heinz (2004)

DS – Dry Solids; ↑ - original value has increased, beyond 100%, by the given percentage.

### 1.5.2 Thermal hydrolysis

The concept behind thermal pre-treatment is to expose substrates to elevated temperatures for long enough to promote chemical reactions and solubilisation of larger biomolecules. While temperatures typically range between 150-220°C under pressures of 600-2500 kPa, lower temperature pre-treatments have also been investigated (Appels *et al.* 2008; Gavala *et al.* 2003). However, many European researchers are required to adhere to the EC 1069/2009 regulation for the treatment of animal by-products not intended for human consumption.

Thermal pre-treatment of WAS has been heavily investigated, while other applications such as manure, abattoir waste, lignocellulosics and even algal biomass have received little attention (Appels *et al.* 2008; Carlsson, Lagerkvist & Morgan-Sagastume 2012; Cuetos *et al.* 2010; Mladenovska *et al.* 2006; Sims 2013). Furthermore, there have been few investigations into thermal pre-treatment of FOG-rich wastes. Fortunately, these investigations have yielded some encouraging results. Hiraoka *et al.* (1985), pre-treated substrates high in triglyceride content, and measured the decomposition of glyceride fatty acids to produce significant increases in acetic, propionic, butyric and valeric acid following thermal pre-treatment. Subsequent digestion displayed an increase in biogas production of 30%. Similar results were measured by Wilson, Novak and Murthy (2009), with pre-treatment at 170°C vastly enhancing acetic acid content of feed sludge. Equivalent increases in biogas production have also been supported in research by Li and Jin (2015). Table 4 lists the conditions and results of numerous investigations into thermal pre-treatment.

*Table 4: Thermobaric pre-treatments, wastes treated, conditions, and results from the literature.* 

<b>Pre-treatment</b>	Substrate	Results	Reference
Thermobaric			
70°C, 1-7 days	WAS	• CH <sub>4</sub> yield ↑ 19.8-85.9%	Gavala <i>et al.</i> (2003)
121°C, 30 minutes	WAS	• Biogas yield † 32%	Kim, Ahn and Speece (2002)
121°C, 60 minutes	WAS	• Biogas yield ↑ 20%	Barjenbruch and Kopplow (2003)
170°C, 60 minutes	WAS	• CH <sub>4</sub> yield $\uparrow$ 45%	Valo, Carrere and Delgenes (2004)
170°C, 60 seconds	WAS	<ul> <li>Biogas yield ↑ 49%</li> </ul>	Dohányos <i>et al.</i> (2004)
175°C, 40 minutes	WAS	• TSS removal ↑ 65%	Graja <i>et al.</i> (2005)
130°C, 30 minutes	WAS	• VSS/TSS ratio ↓ 70-80%	Bougrier, Delgenes and Carrere (2006)
170°C, 30 minutes	WAS	• CH <sub>4</sub> yield $\uparrow$ 51%	Bougrier, Delgenes and Carrere (2007)
110°C, 30 minutes	WAS	• VVS/TSS ratio ↑ 464%	Bougrier, Delgenes and Carrere (2008)
135°C, 35 minutes	WAS	• sCOD content ↑ 34%	Bougrier, Delgenes and Carrere (2008)
190°C, 50 minutes	WAS	● sCOD content ↑ 46%	Bougrier, Delgenes and Carrere (2008)
116°C, 38-73 minutes	WAS	• VSS/TVS ratio ↑ 383- 429%	Bougrier, Delgenes and Carrere (2008)
122°C, 20-90 minutes	WAS	• VSS/TVS ratio ↑ 306- 1410%	Bougrier, Delgenes and Carrere (2008)
128°C, 38-73 minutes	WAS	• VSS/TVS ratio ↑ 814- 1441%	Bougrier, Delgenes and Carrere (2008)
134°C, 55 minutes	WAS	• VSS/TVS ratio ↑ 1104%	Bougrier, Delgenes and Carrere (2008)
165°C, 30 minutes	WAS	• Biodegradability ↑ 47- 61%	Mottet <i>et al.</i> (2009)
170°C, 30 minutes	WAS	• sCOD content ↑ 765%	Wang <i>et al.</i> (2009)
100°C, 1 hour	Pig manure	• Biogas yield † 31%	Rafique <i>et al.</i> (2010)

 $\uparrow$  - original value has increased, beyond 100%, by the given percentage.
Table 4 continued.

Pre-treatment	Substrate	Results	Reference
Thermobaric			
133°C, 20 min, >3 bar	Slaughterhouse waste	• Formation of refractory compounds. Unsuccessful in enhancing biodegradability of lipids and nitrogen-rich waste	Cuetos <i>et al.</i> (2010)
60, 80, 100°C	WAS	• Biogas yield ↑ 30%	Ho (2010)
90-120°C, 50- 70 minutes	Kitchen waste	<ul> <li>Retention time required for acidification ↓ 5 days</li> <li>Propionic acid was the dominant VFA produced</li> <li>Biogas yield ↑ 31.7%</li> </ul>	Li and Jin (2015)
80°C, 1.5 hours	Food waste	<ul> <li>Methane yield ↑ 52%</li> <li>Extra yield can supply energy required for pre- treatment</li> </ul>	Ariunbaatar et al. (2014)
Steam explosior	ı		
170 – 230°C, 5 – 15 minutes	Salix	• CH <sub>4</sub> yield $\uparrow$ 50%	Estevez, Linjordet and Morken (2012)
134°C	Gravity thickened WAS	<ul> <li>sCOD content ↑ 4829- 7987%</li> <li>Total soluble nitrogen ↑ 2190%</li> <li>Soluble NH4<sup>+</sup>-N content ↑ 1371%</li> </ul>	Gianico <i>et al.</i> (2013)
	Dynamic thickened WAS	<ul> <li>sCOD content ↑ 2317- 3289%</li> <li>Total soluble nitrogen ↑ 3862%</li> <li>Soluble NH4<sup>+</sup>-N content ↑ 771%</li> </ul>	Gianico <i>et al.</i> (2013)
220°C, 30 seconds	WWTP sludge	<ul> <li>Biogas yield ↑ 80%</li> <li>TS solubilised ↑ 55%</li> </ul>	Zheng <i>et al.</i> (1998)
Hvdrothermal			
170-220°C,	Poultry	<ul><li>TS loss of 73.1-77.2%</li><li>TCOD loss of 57.8-</li></ul>	Park et al. (2017)
1.7-2.0 MPa, 30 minutes	slaughterhouse waste	68.3% • COD solubility increased from 2.2% to 98.2% • NH₄ <sup>+</sup> -N content ↑ 104.8%	
		• VFA content ↑ 405.7- 482.9%	

 $\uparrow$  - original value has increased, beyond 100%, by the given percentage.

#### 1.5.3 Acid and alkali and oxidative pre-treatments

Addition of acids and bases to AD feedstocks have been heavily investigated across a range of substrates including sludges, wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) residues, organic waste, plant residues and manures (Appels et al. 2008; Carlsson, Lagerkvist & Morgan-Sagastume 2012). Acidic pre-treatment has been performed using acids such as HCl, H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> and HNO<sub>3</sub>, and is indicated to be more effective in treating lignocellulosic biomass (Zhen et al. 2017). The main mechanism in this application is the acid hydrolysis of hemicellulose to release monomeric sugars and soluble oligomers from the cell wall into the digestate, and thereby improving the bioavailability of the substrate to exoenzymes and microorganisms (Zhen et al. 2017). Conversely, alkali addition is generally more efficient at enhancing the AD process (Jan et al. 2008). Beyond substrate degradation, alkali addition carries the added benefits of improving the system buffering capacity, specific methanogenic activity, and process stability (Zhen et al. 2017). Of the alkaline pre-treatments which have been investigated, sodium hydroxide (NaOH) is the most effective for enhancing organics hydrolysis and the AD process (Kim et al. 2003). NaOH aids in the degradation of substrates through solvation and saponification, inducing depolymerisation and cleavage of complex structure and subsequent solubilisation of smaller molecular weight compounds (Zhen et al. 2017).

Sodium hydroxide pre-treatment has been optimised for the enhancement of WAS digestion. Kim *et al.* (2003) determined that optimal dosing with NaOH was 7 g/L, bringing the solution to pH 12. The duration at which the substrate was held at pH 12 was not mentioned. This pre-treatment increased sCOD content by approximately 478% from 2250 mg/L to around 13000 mg/L. Digestion resulted in greater sCOD removal from 1136 mg/L in the control to 4941 mg/L after treatment, an increase of 335%. Degradation of VS was also improved from 20.5% up to 29.8% in the chemically treated sample. Both biogas production and methane content increased in response to the treatment, with increases of 13.4% and 12.8% respectively.

Alkali pre-treatment of pork fat has also been investigated. Massé, Kennedy and Chou (2001) studied the effect of NaOH pre-treatment on the solubilisation and size reduction of pork fat particles in abattoir waste. While sCOD was not impacted by addition of 50-400 mEq NaOH/L, the authors measured a  $73 \pm 7\%$  reduction in particle size at concentrations ranging from 150-300 mEq/L. Although the fat particles were then smaller, they were still hydrophobic and would float on the surface of a digester, unavailable for immediate consumption. However, this reduction in particle size and subsequently increased surface area should increase the rate of degradation due to exoenzymes produced by the sludge, or could be utilised to improve the efficiency of subsequent pre-treatment methods, such as enzymatic pre-treatment.

This impact on degradation rate was noted by Battimelli, Carrere and Delgenese (2009). These researchers investigated the effect of NaOH pre-treatment on biogas production from fatty abattoir waste. While this pre-treatment affected little change in the total biogas produced, it did slightly enhance the initial reaction kinetics. These findings support the previous assertion that reduction of particle size due to alkaline hydrolysis could be exploited for additional benefit through further pre-treatment.

The third type of chemical pre-treatment is oxidative pre-treatments. These methods involve the use of oxygen at temperatures of ~260°C and pressures of 10 MPa (Amani, Nosrati & Sreekrishnan 2010). However, odour, corrosion and high energy consumption restrict practical application of this process (Appels *et al.* 2008). Alternatively, powerful oxidants including ozone (Ariunbaatar et al. 2014; Bougrier et al. 2006), and peroxides peroxymonosulphate (POMS) and dimethyldioxirane (DMDO) (Dewil et al. 2007), have also been investigated, with the latter being the most promising options. Table 5 lists the pre-treatment conditions and results of various chemical methods investigated in the literature.

Pre-treatment	Substrate	Results	Reference
Alkali			
NaOH (1%), 7 d	Cattle dung	• Digestibility ↑ 31- 42%	Dar and Tandon (1987)
		<ul> <li>Biogas yield ↑ 100%</li> </ul>	
NaOH, 130°C	WAS	• Biogas yield ↑ 20%	Tanaka <i>et al.</i> (1997)
NaOH, 0.01 N, 4 d	WAS	<ul> <li>Improved sludge thickening</li> </ul>	Saiki <i>et al.</i> (1999)
NaOH, 20-80 mEq/L, 25°C, 10 h	WAS	• sCOD content $\uparrow$ 31%	Chang, Ma and Lo (2002)
NaOH, 45 mEq/L, 25-55°C, 4 h	WAS	• sCOD content ↑ 28- 38%	Heo et al. (2003)
NaOH 20 mEq/L, 24 h	WAS	• Biogas yield ↑ 83%	Ray, Lin and Rajan (1990)
NaOH 7 g/L (175 mEq/L)	WAS	• sCOD content ↑ 31.7%	Kim et al. (2003)
KOH	WAS	• sCOD content ↑ 28.5%	Kim et al. (2003)
Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub>	WAS	• sCOD content $\uparrow 2.7\%$	Kim et al. (2003)
Ca(OH) 2	WAS	• sCOD content $\uparrow$ 7.2%	Kim et al. (2003)
CaO	WAS	• No observed improvement	Carballa, Omil and Lema (2004)
Oxidation			
0.2 g O <sub>3</sub> /g COD	Primary- secondary sludge	• CH₄ yield ↑ 112%	Weemaes <i>et al.</i> (2000)
0.16 g O <sub>3</sub> /g SS	WAS	• SS removed ↑ 22%	Battimelli <i>et al.</i> (2003)
0.015-0.05 g O <sub>3</sub> /g TS	WAS	• TS removed ↑ 28%	Goel, Tokutomi and Yasui (2003)
0.06 kg O <sub>3</sub> /kg TSS	WAS	• sCOD content ↑ 16%	Sievers, Ried and Koll (2004)
0.1 g O <sub>3</sub> /g TS	WAS	<ul> <li>No improvement in TS removal</li> </ul>	Bernal-Martinez et al. (2007)
0.068 g O <sub>3</sub> /g TS	Food waste	• Methane yield $\uparrow 8.7\%$	Ariunbaatar et al. (2014)
$\begin{array}{c} 0.07 \text{ g Fe}^{2+}/\text{g H}_2\text{O}_2, \\ 50\text{g H}_2\text{O}_2, 1 \text{ h} \end{array}$	WAS	• COD content ↑ 494%	Dewil <i>et al.</i> (2007)
60 g POMS/kg DS, 1 h	WAS	• COD content $\uparrow$ 406%	Dewil <i>et al.</i> (2007)
660 mL DMDO/kg DS, 1 h	WAS	• COD content ↑ 589%	Dewil <i>et al.</i> (2007)

Table 5: Literature results for the effects of chemical pre-treatment on various substrates

N – Normality; SS – Suspended Solids;  $\uparrow$  - original value has increased, beyond 100%, by the given

percentage.

#### 1.5.4 Thermochemical pre-treatment

Several researchers have combined thermal and chemical pre-treatments to produce more favourable results than either individual pre-treatment (Table 6). Again, WAS is a prime candidate for thermochemical pre-treatment. Kim et al. (2003) demonstrated the effects of thermochemical pre-treatment with 7g NaOH/L. This pretreatment enhanced COD solubilisation by 85.4% over the control, over 40% greater than chemical pre-treatment alone, and increased VS reduction by 30% (Figure 8). Furthermore, when Tanaka et al. (1997) treated WAS with 0.3 g NaOH/L at 130°C in an autoclave for 5-200 minutes, they recorded an increase in VSS solubilisation of 40-50% and an increase in methane production by greater than 200% over the control. Valo et al. (2004) treated WAS at 170°C for 15 minutes in an autoclave and recorded an increase in TS reduction of 59%, with 92% higher gas production. While pretreatment of WAS has been heavily investigated, there is little literature regarding FOG pre-treatment. One exception to this is an investigation conducted by Li, Champagne and Anderson (2013) in which co-digested FOG and kitchen waste were pre-treated thermochemically. Pre-treatment enhanced biogas production by 9.9  $\pm$ 1.5% over the control.



*Figure 8: sCOD removal efficiency and VS reduction rate for pre-treated WAS (Kim et al. 2003).* 

Pre-treatment	Substrate	Results	Reference
Thermo-chemical			
50-90°C, Lime	WAS	<ul> <li>VSS content ↑ 46%</li> <li>CH<sub>4</sub> yield ↑ 30%</li> </ul>	Vlyssides and Karlis (2004)
Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub> for 1 h, 70°C, 1 h, HCl for 2 h	Pig manure	<ul> <li>Biogas yield ↑ 86%</li> </ul>	Rafique <i>et al.</i> (2010)
60°C, 0.6 mg H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> +1.5 mg FeCl <sub>2</sub> /mg S <sup>2-</sup> , 30 min	WAS	<ul> <li>sCOD content ↑ 157%</li> <li>Soluble protein content ↑ 167%</li> <li>Soluble carbohydrate content ↑ 250%</li> <li>total VFA content ↑ 20%</li> <li>CH4 yield ↑ 20%</li> <li>COD removal ↑ 10%</li> <li>sCOD removal ↑ 20%</li> </ul>	Dhar <i>et al</i> . (2011)
NaOH 7 g, 121°C, 30 min	WAS	<ul> <li>sCOD content ↑ 77.3%</li> <li>VS removal ↑ 25.6%</li> <li>CH<sub>4</sub> yield↑ 34%</li> </ul>	Kim et al. (2003)
KOH 65 mEq/dm <sup>3</sup> , 170°C, 15 min	WAS	<ul> <li>Biogas yield ↑ 54%</li> <li>sCOD ↑ 80%</li> <li>COD removal ↑ 71%</li> </ul>	Valo, Carrere and Delgenes (2004)
0.156 g NaOH/g VS, 3 hours 60,120,150°C		<ul> <li>Biodegradation improvement</li> <li>Bioavailability increase</li> </ul>	Battimelli et al. (2010)
0.04 mol NaOH/g COD, 70°C, 1 hour		<ul> <li>Lipid hydrolysis efficiency ↑89%</li> <li>Increased bioavailability of solid fatty waste</li> </ul>	Affes et al. (2013)
рН 10, 55°С	Waste kitchen oil and kitchen waste	• Biogas yield ↑ 9.9 ± 1.5%	Li, C., Champagne, P. and Anderson, B. C. (2013)
Chemical-mechani	ical		
Lime, vacuum (0.02 bar), 30 min	WAS	• sCOD content ↑ 33%	Abbassi (2003)
Thermo-Enzymati	C T		0.1.1
Alkaline endopeptidase, 2- 10g/L	Feathers	• Methane yield ↑ 37- 51%	Salminen and Rintala (2002)

*Table 6: Combined pre-treatments, wastes treated, conditions, and results from the literature.* 

KW – kitchen waste;  $\uparrow$  - original value has increased, beyond 100%, by the given percentage.

#### 1.5.5 Biological pre-treatment of AD feedstocks

Biological pre-treatment includes methods that utilise pre-digestion, enzymes and bio-surfactants to enhance digestion (Table 7). Pre-digestion, involves two-stage digestion - a digestion stage prior to the main digestion process. By subjecting the waste to different digestion parameters prior to the main AD process, researchers aim to improve the digestibility of the waste. Peng *et al.* (2014) investigated the use of an oil-degrading *Bacillus* species. Prior to AD, oily wastewater was subject to a 24 hour digestion with *Bacillus*. During this time, exoenzymes were released by the bacteria to cleave triglycerides, diglycerides and LCFA, and increase the concentration of VFA present. This results in greater contact between microbes and the VFA substrates, significantly enhancing mass transfer of soluble nutrients into the sludge. This predigestion process resulted in an increase in methane yield by 16%, and an increase in the methane content of the biogas produced by 8% from 52-60%. However, unlike the other forms of pre-treatment, pre-digestion is rarely reported in the literature.

As the focus of this work is on abiotic pre-treatments which alter the substrate, as opposed to a series of digestions in which the inoculum is changed, this review will not go into depth with respect to biological pre-treatments.

Pre-treatment	Substrate	Results	Reference
<b>Pre-digestion</b>			
30-35°C, 1-2 d	Cattle slurry	<ul> <li>Biogas yield ↑ 17- 19%</li> <li>CH<sub>4</sub> content ↑ 7-11%</li> </ul>	Singh, Jain and Tauro (1983)
Pre-hydrolysis			
70°C	Primary sludge	<ul> <li>SS removal ↑ 12%</li> </ul>	Lu et al. (2008)
Aerobic digestion			
bacterium type SPT2-1	WAS	<ul> <li>Biogas yield ↑ 50%</li> </ul>	Hasegawa <i>et al.</i> (2000)
<i>Geobacillus sp.</i> strain AT1	WAS	• Biogas yield † 210%	Miah, Tada and Yang (2005)

*Table 7: Biological pre-treatments, wastes treated, conditions, and results from the literature.* 

 $\uparrow$  - original value has increased, beyond 100%, by the given percentage.

Table 7 continued.

Pre-treatment	Substrate	Results	Reference
Enzymatic			
42°C, 2 d	WAS	Biogas yield ↑ 10%	Mayhew <i>et al.</i> (2003)
HRT 2 d	WAS	CH <sub>4</sub> yield $\uparrow$ 60%	Davidsson <i>et al.</i> (2007)
Porcine pancreas lipase 0.5% w/v and 10mM Ca <sup>2+</sup> , pH 8 (1M NaOH), 37°C, 4, 8, 12, 24 h	Lipid-rich dairy wastewater	<ul> <li>Free fatty acid content ↑ 1240%</li> <li>Lipids hydrolysed ↑ 39.5 ± 6.8%</li> <li>Glycerol content ↑ 65%</li> <li>Proteins hydrolysed ↑ 32.7%</li> <li>Biogas yield ↑ 162- 292%</li> <li>COD removed ↑ 30- 40.9%</li> </ul>	Mendes, Pereira and de Castro (2006)
Pancreatic lipase 250 (PL-250), 25°C, 5.5 h	Slaughterhouse waste	<ul> <li>35% of fat hydrolysed during pre-treatment</li> <li>Digestion time ↓ 5% More effective on beef fat</li> </ul>	Massé, Kennedy and Chou (2001); Masse and Massé (2003)
Lipase-producing Staphylococcus xylosus, 6 days	Poultry slaughterhouse waste	<ul> <li>Lipid degradation correlated well with sCOD increase.</li> <li>Increased biogas yield</li> </ul>	Affes et al. (2017)
<b>Bio-surfactant</b>			
BOD-Balance <sup>1M</sup> , 100, 250 and 500 mg/L	Raw and high FOG rendering wastewater	Raw: • pCOD removal ↑ 59- 96% • sCOD removal ↑ 74- 100% High FOG: • COD removal rate coefficient ↑ 164-238% +164-247% pCOD removal rate coefficient	Nakhla <i>et al.</i> (2003)

pCOD – Particulate COD; ↑ - original value has increased, beyond 100%, by the given percentage.

#### 1.5.5.1 Enzymatic pre-treatment of AD feedstocks

Use of enzymes to enhance hydrolysis of macromolecules, and thereby enhance the AD process, has been under investigation for many years. Through this method, enzymes specific to the type of substrate being degraded are used to cleave macromolecules such as polysaccharides (e.g. with amylase enzyme), proteins (e.g. with pepsin enzyme) and fats (e.g. with lipase enzyme) into their lower molecular weight products, ideally to monomers. While enzymatic pre-treatment of FOG has received the greater deal of research into FOG pre-treatment, the majority of enzymatic pre-treatment research has been focused on cellular feedstocks (Higgins & Swartzbaugh 1986; Nagle *et al.* 1992; Romano *et al.* 2009; Sonakya, Raizada & Kalia 2001). Cammarota and Freire (2006) have performed a review of hydrolytic enzymes in the treatment of wastewater with high oil and grease content and conclude that further investigation is needed to determine the efficacy of these pre-treatments to improve degradation of the relatively recalcitrant and problematic FOG component of dairy and slaughterhouse wastewater.

Hydrolysis of pork and beef fat through enzymatic pre-treatment has been demonstrated by Masse, Massé and Kennedy (2003). This investigation involved the pre-treatment of abattoir waste with pancreatic lipase 250 (PL-250) at 25°C for 5.5 hours. Pre-treatment alone resulted in the hydrolysis of 35% of fat, while subsequent digestion achieved 80% reduction in neutral fat and LCFA concentration 5% faster than the controls. Methane content of biogas was unaffected by PL-250 pre-treatment. Furthermore, Massé, Kennedy and Chou (2001) have stated that PL-250 is more effective in the treatment of beef fat particles than treating pork fat particles.

Mobarak-Qamsari *et al.* (2012) investigated the effect of enzyme extract preparation from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* on synthetic dairy wastewater with 1000 mg/L total fat content. A treatment of 10% v/v with a lipase activity of 0.3 U/mL was effective in enhancing removal efficiency of COD by 24%, and biogas production after 13 days of digestion by 102%. The researchers noted that these results indicate potential to accelerate the digestion of FOG in the AD process. Mendes, Pereira and de Castro (2006) also investigated enzymatic pre-treatment of lipid-rich dairy wastewater. The lipase used was a crude preparation of porcine pancreas lipase with activity of 1770 U/mg solid. Treatment with enzyme at 0.5% w/v affected increases in

lipid hydrolysis, free fatty acid content, glycerol content, protein hydrolysis, COD removal and biogas production by  $39\% \pm 6.8\%$ , 1240%, 65%,  $35.45\% \pm 5.45\%$ , and  $227\% \pm 65\%$  respectively.

#### 1.5.5.2 Biochemical emulsification of AD feedstocks

Bio-surfactants are typically used to pre-treat wastes high in FOG. These substances contain both hydrophilic and hydrophobic structural components which facilitate interactions between polar and non-polar compounds (Liu et al. 2015), in this instance, fatty residues and the aqueous digestate.

A study by Nakhla *et al.* (2003) evaluated a cactus-derived bio-surfactant, 'BOD-balance', in the treatment of FOG-rich rendering wastewater prior to AD. With a dose of 500 mg/L, BOD-balance affected reductions in tCOD and sCOD of 63.42% and 73.21% respectively, an improvement of 29.71% and 36.07% respectively over the controls. When trialled at full-scale, the addition of BOD-balance at 130-200 mg/L affected a dramatic increase in biogas production and a drop in pH (amended with sodium bicarbonate). The concentration of FOG and COD decreased by 84.6 and 40.9% respectively, and COD removal efficiency was noted to have increased from 20% to 64%. Furthermore, the authors of Nakhla *et al.* (2003) note that the concentrations of bio-surfactant used in this study are very high due to very high FOG content, as well as past accumulation of FOG in the digester. Accordingly, long-term dosage may be lower than employed in this study. While biogas production was not reported, methane content was measured to be 73%.

#### **1.6** Relative performance of pre-treatment options

A number of factors need to be considered when selecting a pre-treatment technology, including the relative performance, advantages / disadvantages of each technology, and associated costs. Although pre-treatment has the potential to improve anaerobic digester performance in the Australian RMP industry, there is significant variation in biogas production reported in the literature for each technology (Poschl, Ward & Owende 2010). Major sources of variation can be categorised as reporting, digester, pre-treatment, and feedstock variations.

A general assessment of the advantages and disadvantages of different pretreatment methods with respect to a specific substrate are presented in Table 8. It is important to note that the advantages and disadvantages listed in Table 8 are relative to the substrate being treated. Without standardised reporting, the current state of the literature does not allow for any reasonable degree of comparison of pre-treatment methods across substrates.

Table 8: Advantages and disadvantages of pre-treating WAS with different technologies (originally adapted from Taherzadeh et al. (2008); Hendriks and Zeeman (2009); further modified from Montgomery and Bochmann (2014)).

Process	Advantages	Disadvantages
Mechanical		
Milling	<ul><li>Increases surface area</li><li>Makes substrate easier to handle</li><li>Often improves fluidity in digester</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Increased energy demand</li> <li>High maintenance costs / sensitive to stones etc.</li> </ul>
High-pressure homogenisation	<ul> <li>Increases surface area</li> <li>Organic solvent free method</li> <li>Well established technology on large scale</li> </ul>	<ul><li> High heat and energy demand</li><li> Complex equipment required</li></ul>
Ultrasonication <sup>(a)</sup>	<ul> <li>Increases surface area</li> <li>Increased methane production</li> <li>No chemical addition</li> <li>Low maintenance cost</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Increased energy demand</li> <li>Probes require replacement every 1.5-2 years</li> </ul>
Thermal		
Hot water	• Increases the enzyme accessibility	<ul><li>High heat demand</li><li>Only effective up to certain temperature</li></ul>
Steam explosion	• Breaks down lignin and solubilises hemicellulose	<ul><li> High heat and electricity demand</li><li> Only effective up to certain temperature</li></ul>
Extrusion	• Increases surface area	<ul> <li>Increased energy demand</li> <li>High maintenance cost / sensitive to stones etc.</li> </ul>
Chemical		
Acid	• Enhances organics hydrolysis	<ul> <li>High cost of acid</li> <li>Corrosion problems</li> <li>Formation of inhibitors, particularly with heat</li> </ul>
Alkali	<ul><li>Enhances organics hydrolysis</li><li>Reduces fat particles</li></ul>	<ul><li>High alkali concentration in digester</li><li>High cost of chemical</li></ul>
Ozonation	<ul><li>Destruction of pathogens</li><li>Flexible operation</li></ul>	C C
Biological		
Microbial	• Low energy consumption	<ul><li>Slow</li><li>No lignin breakdown</li></ul>
Enzymatic	• Low energy consumption	<ul><li>Continuous addition required</li><li>High cost of enzyme</li></ul>
Bio-surfactant	<ul><li>Dissolution of lipids</li><li>Less toxic than anionic surfactants</li></ul>	<ul> <li>High cost of bio-surfactants</li> <li>Low commercial production</li> </ul>

<sup>(a)</sup> Appels *et al.* (2008); <sup>(b)</sup> Focus is on lipids; Saharan, Sahu and Sharma (2011)

Assuming standardised reporting of methane production, it remains difficult to produce a blanket energy assessment for pre-treatments. Every industry brings with it a unique and challenging feedstock – Some of these include plant residues including but not limited to lignocellulosics and pulps, WAS, municipal WWTP, manures from livestock and poultry, FOG from kitchen waste, grease trap waste and oily products, meat processing effluent, vegetable waste, slurries, offal, biosolids, cheese whey and algal wastes (Dereli et al. 2012; Dhorgham, Sakthipriya & balasubramanian 2012; Graja et al. 2005; Heo et al. 2003; Kopplow, Barjenbruch & Heinz 2004; Li & Jin 2015; Martinez-Soza et al. 2009; Massé, Kennedy & Chou 2001; Methanogen Ltd. 2010; Mladenovska et al. 2006; Taherzadeh & Karimi 2008; Zhu, Hsueh & He 2011). Each of these substrates varies in composition (Labatut, Angenent & Scott 2011). Within each industry, wastes are still subject to significant variation between individual processors (UNSW 1998). In the RMP industry, variation will include the degree of primary treatment, including the number, size and efficiency of screens, DAF, contra sheers, screw presses, sterilisation and rendering (AMPC 2012). Other factors that will impact waste include the degree of product recovery; size of a slaughterhouse; water: waste ratio (i.e. dilution - not to be confused with moisture content); species processed; and operating climate, and differences down to the week, day and shift (Bauer 2011). Each waste source presents a novel characteristic profile - carbohydrate: protein: lipid ratios, VS, TS, alkalinity and VFA content to name a few (Alkaya & Demirer 2011). The impact of individual pre-treatment methods across a range of feedstocks will vary due to the nature of the feedstock (Kim et al. 2003). Unless the goal is to compare the effect of a static pre-treatment method across feedstocks, it is unsuitable to compare the impact of multiple pre-treatment methods unless the substrate is controlled. Furthermore, pre-treatment methods between researchers can vary significantly. Consequently, this becomes a determination of what parameters are most effective within a pre-treatment type on a specific feedstock.

Prior to digestion, pre-treatment may be applied at the discretion of the operator. Pre-treatments, as discussed, include thermal, chemical, thermochemical, mechanical and biological methods which are more or less suitable given the application (Figure 6). Not only may a pre-treatment be unnecessary, one risk of pre-treatment is that by increasing the amount of available compounds, a digester may experience inhibition (Poschl, Ward & Owende 2010). This is a real potential, for

example, in high-protein wastes with ammonia formation, and FOG-rich wastes which break down to potentially inhibitory concentrations of LCFA and VFA (Batstone *et al.* 2000; Chen, Cheng & Creamer 2008). Furthermore, the degree of impact of a pretreatment depends on the waste that the pre-treatment method is applied to (Engelhart *et al.* 2000). As a result of pre-treatments being targeted to a specific waste source, it is difficult in the case of a review to draw appropriate material together for a reasonable comparison.

Following pre-treatment, digestion methods also vary significantly. Digesters are divided into either low-rate or high-rate systems. Low-rate anaerobic systems include batch digestions, plug-flow reactors and lagoons and typically require a high hydraulic (5-120 days) and solids retention time. Alternatively, high-rate anaerobic systems include up-flow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB), continuous stirred tank reactors (CSTR), expanded granular sludge bed (EGSB) and AnMBR systems among others (Appels et al. 2008; Dereli et al. 2012; van Lier 2008). These systems are heated to either the mesophilic or thermophilic optimum temperatures of ~37°C and ~55°C respectively, and receive active stirring or mixing. These high-rate systems typically involve a de-coupling of the solids and hydraulic retention time and as such, can treat equivalent volumes of wastewater with a HRT ranging from hours to days (Dereli et al. 2012). Several things need to be taken into consideration when comparing energy yield here. An important factor to consider is that some pre-treatments actively improve reaction kinetics without impacting total biogas production (Labatut, Angenent & Scott 2011). Energy production must then be compared as a function of time, not simply total methane produced.

#### 1.7 Merit of pre-treatment methods in abattoir waste in Australia

Australian abattoirs stand to benefit substantially if an appropriate pretreatment method can be developed to improve the bioavailability and subsequent conversion of FOG to methane. While no anaerobic digestion system currently deals with FOG effectively, typically the more sophisticated the anaerobic digestion technology, the less capable they are of handling FOG loads.

With the increasing popularity of overseas technologies being introduced to Australian RMP plants it is important to note that the quality and biodegradability of the effluent is key to maximise performance of these AD technologies. This is particularly important in light of the high strength nature of the waste water and volumes produced in this industry. This is quite significant when the scale of capital investment is considered which can be regarded as one of the largest inhibitors of uptake of foreign AD technologies. The use of cost-effective pre-treatments to improve the biodegradability of the wastewater will enable additional energy recovery with a concomitant reduction in GHG emissions. The actual energy balance and costs is dependent on a number of factors highlighted in the previous section. Further research is needed to fully understand the economics of AD systems to meat processors. The value of biogas, recovered non-renewables, treated water, and GHG mitigation to a meat processor must be understood in order to put forward a strong financial case for an AD system. Only once this is known, can an AD system and subsequent pre-treatment of wastes for AD be valued.

Researched and speculated actions of the pre-treatment of effluents rich in fats and oils from several origins presented in this chapter show new and promising applications for the enhancement of the AD process. Of all the pre-treatments discussed, ultrasonic, thermochemical and biochemical have shown greatest potential in the degradation of high fat waste water in addition to some studies describing the degradation of fats and oils by alkaline/acid/enzymatic hydrolysis. The greatest increase in biogas production covered in this chapter was  $227\% \pm 65\%$  using enzymatic pre-treatment of lipid-rich dairy waste; however, it should be noted that several articles investigating pre-treatment methods which do not concern themselves with AD and biogas production have been reviewed. Regardless, there is evidence from these investigations that these pre-treatment methods affect considerable substrate degradation, and are subsequently worth investigation as pre-treatment methods for FOG-rich AD substrates. Although carbohydrates and protein are relatively easily digested, the challenge is to develop a pre-treatment method which greatly improves FOG digestion to produce methane, and developing a digestion protocol to optimally include FOG to improve biogas production while limiting the inhibitory impacts associated with FOG-rich substrates.

Treatment efficiency and nutrient recovery of waste streams can also be optimised through treatment of separate fractions of the waste stream (Deng *et al.* 2014). Aptly, Jensen *et al.* (2014) suggest that this concept be investigated in cattle abattoirs, with treatment of individual waste streams. While this may indeed result in

a greater degree of organic removal and nutrient recovery, this could be a relatively expensive operation compared with digestion of a combined waste. However, this could also provide excellent conditions by which FOG could be separated from the primary waste streams, perhaps by dissolved air floatation, pre-treated and suitably introduced to an AD system.

#### 1.8 Summary of the literature

The Australian RMP industry is under pressure to reduce GHG emissions and optimise energy consumption. Wastewater produced from fully integrated abattoirs in Australia is high-strength and FOG-laden and contributes significantly to abattoir GHG emissions. Although pre-treatment of wastes such as lignocellulosics and WAS are commonplace, investigation of pre-treatment of FOG for AD is relatively rare. Given the significantly higher theoretical methane content of FOG over carbohydrates and proteins, it is surprising that FOG are only now being considered for pre-treatment.

Despite the fact that FOG has the potential to significantly enhance biogas yield from AD systems, FOG can also produce several problems. Pre-treatment may be critical in reducing problems caused by FOG, including pipeline blockages, adhesion to sludge, and inhibition of mass transfer of nutrients, problems which ultimately lead to anaerobic lagoon failure. However, there is potential that pre-treatment may worsen problems, in particular inhibition of mass-transfer due to LCFA adhesion to sludge. This may be overcome by diluting pre-treated fatty substrates with co-substrates. While it remains to be seen whether pre-treatment of FOG is economically viable, investigation must first be conducted to identify suitable pre-treatment methods for an optimised process. Once a process is optimised, FOG digestion will help to ease the impact of rising electricity and water prices in industry, as well as reduce GHG emissions.

This chapter highlights several knowledge gaps in the literature. There is a distinct lack of standardisation when reporting on AD investigations. This makes meaningful comparison across the literature a difficult task. Also prominent is the lack of investigations that focus on FOG-rich wastes, regardless of the potentially enormous benefit from enhanced methane production. Once standardised reporting has been established across the literature, it will be possible to produce a reliable cost/benefit analysis to better advise industry on the best course of action to provide optimal

digestion of their waste, and subsequently, optimal methane production. While there are some investigations into pre-treatment of FOG-rich wastes, further research is needed to understand the mechanisms by which pre-treatments impact the FOG component of wastes – investigations which would benefit greatly from standardised reporting. There is little-to-no literature which advises industry on how to handle crust material once it has accumulated. While AnMBR reactors represent a possible solution to digest FOG-rich wastes and avoid the complications associated with crust formation, more research is needed to understand the fate of FOG in these reactors. These knowledge gaps need to be addressed in order to improve performance and further the development of AD technology through industrial uptake.

#### 1.9 Objectives of the study

The comparative review of various pre-treatments revealed that there is merit in applying these methods to high-fat slaughterhouse waste in an effort to increase AD performance and overcome associated operational issues. Hence the research described in this thesis was concerned with evaluating pre-treatments to improve the performance of high-fat abattoir wastewater in an anaerobic digestion system.

The scope of this investigation encompassed two main objectives:

- To compare the biochemical methane potential of high-fat slaughterhouse waste when subjected to four different pre-treatment methods, namely chemical, thermobaric, thermochemical and bovine bile (as a novel biosurfactant);
- To apply the best pre-treatment as deemed from the results of BMP tests and assess continuous anaerobic digestion performance of high-fat slaughterhouse waste in a lab scale study.

# Π

### Methodology

To address the objectives, the experimental design followed a 2-phase, 5-stage approach (Figure 9). For full methodology refer to **Papers II, III and IV** in Appendices B-D.



Figure 9: General outline of project experimental design.

The first phase (stages 1-3) represented the initial assessment of pre-treatment effect on the substrate using BMP testing, while phase 2 (stages 4-5) was concerned with assessing the performance of the substrate using a single pre-treatment under continuous digestion. In stage 1, waste materials were characterised to provide a

baseline to measure the effect of pre-treatment on the substrate. Stage 2 involved application of pre-treatment to the substrate, and subsequent analysis of substrate characteristics to measure change due to pre-treatment. Under stage 3, substrate was subject to BMP testing and results were analysed for the effect of pre-treatment on specific methane production and digestion profile (i.e. change in reaction kinetics, inhibition finish time). To conclude phase 1, the most promising pre-treatment was selected for use in continuous digestion experiments.

Phase 2 involved continuous digestion experiments, the next progression after BMP analysis in investigating a substrate for suitability in anaerobic digestion. This progression allowed for regular feeding intervals, with control over hydraulic retention time, organic loading rate, and the ability to investigate the health of the digestion system with respect to pH, VFA concentration, and buffering capacity. Stage 4 involved monitoring of continuous digestion of pre-treated high-fat abattoir waste in a BioReactor Simulator (BRS; Figure 10; BioProcess Control, Sweden). During this stage, anaerobic reactors were operated for 70 days. Monitoring included daily substrate addition, digestate collection, and regular analysis. Biogas flow rate and volume was measured in real time. pH was measured daily, while biogas composition, VFA, total alkalinity, total and volatile solids, ammonium content, and fat, oil and grease content were measured twice weekly. Stage 5 was conducted in parallel to stage 4, and involved the critical analysis of the data collected in stage 4.

#### 2.1 Methodology overview

This overview of methodology contained in this section is to supplement the detailed information provided in **Papers II-IV**.

#### 2.1.1 Inoculum, substrate and bile collection

For **Papers II and IV**, inoculum was collected from the recirculation pump servicing a covered anaerobic lagoon as a nearby cattle slaughterhouse. For **Paper III**, inoculum was sourced initially from the same site as for **Paper II**, but due to on-site complications, inoculum quality was compromised, and was no longer capable of achieving the benchmark of 80% in the microcrystalline cellulose control as specified by Verein Deutscher Ingenieure (2006). An alternate inoculum was sourced from a wastewater treatment plant prior to sludge thickening. Once collected, inoculum was transferred back to the laboratory and incubated at 37°C until use, typically 4-10 days later.

The substrate used in **Papers II-IV** was DAF sludge sourced from a nearby cattle slaughterhouse. DAF sludge was collected from the weir of a DAF unit treating green stream waste - a collection of paunch wash, tripe wash, boning, stick water, bone chip and render waste. In **Paper IV** DAF sludge was combined with green stream waste. Substrate was transferred back to the laboratory and stored at  $4\pm1^{\circ}$ C until use.

Bile was collected from below the kill floor of the red meat processing plant. During the slaughter process, the animal is eviscerated, and the gall bladder is removed from the liver. The gall bladder is slashed and bile is drained into a collection drain which exits above a 1 m<sup>3</sup> intermediate bulk container (IBC). Bile for these experiments was collected from this drain, above the IBC. Bile was transferred back to the lab on ice and stored at  $4\pm1^{\circ}$ C until use. While bile was dosed per unit of reactor volume in **Paper III**, supplementary table 2 at the end of Appendix C shows these dosage calculated as bile addition per unit of FOG.

#### 2.1.2 Biochemical methane potential

Batch BMP tests were conducted using the Automated Methane Potential Test System II (AMPTS II) in accordance with the guidelines set forth in Verein Deutscher Ingenieure (2006). No trace elements, vitamins or nutrients were added to digesters in addition to what is contained in the substrate. While BMPs are conventionally performed at an inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) of 2:1 on the basis of VS, an ISR of 3:1 was used in this work. This ratio gave good results in preliminary experiments, reducing inhibition and foaming, and providing a margin by which to avoid overloading with fatty or inhibitory substrates. Gas produced by the reactors is passed through scrubbers of 3M sodium hydroxide, designed to remove carbon dioxide from the gas. Scrubbed gas passes to flow cells in a data acquisition instrument (DAI) which measures the amount of volumetric methane and produces an output corrected to standard temperature and pressure (0°C, 1 atmosphere) and is corrected for TS load, and reported as SMP ( $mL_N CH_4/g VS$ ).

As digesters are loaded on basis of VS, the masses of substrate and inoculum loaded into digesters has not been reported. These values were considered

inconsequential, as inoculum and substrate VS content is can be dynamic across a broad range, and reporting masses would make reproduction of the work difficult. However, given the reported inoculum and substrate VS, as well as the ISR and final mass of the reactor liquid, the following equations (I) and (II) can be used to calculate the masses added.

$$M_{I}=M_{R}/(((VS_{I}/ISR)/VS_{S})+1)$$
(1)

$$M_{S} = M_{R} - M_{I} \tag{2}$$

Where  $M_I$  is the inoculum mass,  $M_S$  is the substrate mass,  $M_R$  is the reactor liquid mass,  $VS_S$  is the % VS of fresh matter of the substrate,  $VS_I$  is the % VS of the inoculum fresh matter, and ISR is the inoculum to substrate ratio on basis of VS.

As the VS content of a substrate can be altered as a result of pre-treatment, it was important that reactors be loaded based on the VS content of the untreated substrate. This allowed for any change in BMP resulting from pre-treatment to be accounted for. For **Paper III**, supplementary table 1 lists the TS and VS content of the inocula and substrates as a percentage of fresh matter.

#### 2.1.3 Curve fitting and reaction kinetics

Results from BMP tests were assessed for reaction kinetics using two equations; a growth curve logistic equation (Equation 3), and a modified Gompertz Equation (Equation 4; Ghatak & Mahanta 2014). Curves were fitted to the data to acquire rate constants and lag periods using SciPy optimisation curve-fit routine.

$$B = \frac{B_0}{1 + e^{-k(t - t_0)}} \tag{3}$$

From equation 3, B is the cumulative specific methane potential (SMP;  $mL_N$  CH<sub>4</sub>/g VS) at time t (days); B<sub>0</sub> is the maximum SMP achieved by end of digestion; *k* is the rate constant; T<sub>0</sub> is the time at which maximum production rate occurs. The function is weighted using standard deviation to achieve a better fit.

$$B = B_0 e^{-e(\frac{Ue}{B_0}(\lambda - t) + 1)} \tag{4}$$

From equation 4, B is the cumulative SMP at time t; B0 is the maximum SMP achieved by end of digestion; U is the kinetic constant of methane production rate;  $\lambda$ 

is the duration of lag phase in days, used here to represent inhibition. Equation is unweighted.

#### 2.1.4 Continuous digestion

While batch digestions are effective at determining the specific methane potential of a substrate, they do little to elucidate the long-term sustainability of an anaerobic digester treating the substrate in question. Continuous digestion experiments are the next progression after batch BMP experiments. These systems allow researchers to investigate the large-scale application and potential of a substrate. Substrates for continuous digestion should be chemically analysed for macromolecule content, total organic carbon, total nitrogen, as well as a suite of elements including phosphorus, sulphur, iron, nickel, cobalt, molybdenum, tungsten, manganese, coper, selenium and zinc (Schmidt et al. 2014).

Continuous digesters are controlled for temperature, stirring/agitation, and experiments are designed with an OLR and HRT in mind to simulate industrial performance. Under these conditions, reactors can be acclimatised to new substrates, and their OLR and HRT can be modified over time to optimise biogas yield while maintaining a high degree of substrate degradation. Reactors can be fed continuously, or at regular intervals, and digestate is collected from the reactors as a result.

Regularly collected digestate allows for process monitoring, in which pH, VFA, alkalinity, ammonium, and various other parameters can be measured to assess digester performance.

Continuous digestion experiments were conducted using the BRS system (Bioprocess Control, Sweden; Figure 10). This system consists of 6x2 L bioreactors (BR), temperature controlled by a thermostatic water bath, and stirred by an agitation system attached to the reactor. Gas produced by the system is measured automatically by the DAI flow cells in an accompanying water bath. Each flow cell sends data to the database (DB), which is then accessed by the user through the website. Data is stored remotely on file storage for later access.

By operating continuous digesters in lab-scale, researchers can simulate the operation of large-scale industrial reactors. These digesters are typically temperature controlled, stirred systems in which the OLR, HRT and solids retention time (SRT)

can be controlled more strictly than in an industrial application. For the continuous digestion work outlined in this thesis, a HRT of 8 days was used to emphasise the effect of the pre-treatment by rapidly turning over the digestate with fresh substrate. Furthermore, SRT was decoupled from HRT by allowed sludge to settle prior to digestate collection. This allowed for a retention of active biomass within the digester and consequently promoting degradation. Continuous systems also allow for regular measurement of key parameters to observe for changes in digester performance. These parameters include pH, VFA, alkalinity, ammonium, VS and TS, COD, FOG, and any other parameters a researcher may be interested in.



Figure 10: Visual representation of the BioReactor Simulator (Strömberg et al. 2012). BR – Bioreactor; DAI – Data Acquisition Instrument; DB – Database; FS – File storage.

## III

### **Results & Discussion**

## 3.1 Review of pre-treatments used in anaerobic digestion and their potential application in high-fat cattle slaughterhouse wastewater

The literature review presented as **Paper I** was required to identify technologies and methods which showed particular promise in the treatment of substrates which contain high concentrations of FOG. Paper I identified that, while fatty material has a large potential to generate methane, the problems associated with utilising such feedstocks in anaerobic digestion tend to be more of a hindrance than a benefit. As a consequence, very little research has been conducted on the pre-treatment of fatty substrates, and instead research has tended to lean toward co-digestion (Li, Champagne, & Anderson 2013). The exploration of pre-treatment methods and technology in this chapter enabled the research to focus on technologies which were considered more likely to be viable candidates in which pre-treatment would generate a favourable outcome. Accordingly, thermobaric, chemical, thermochemical, ultrasound, enzymatic and bio-surfactant methods identified as potentially beneficial pre-treatment methods. Due to expense of enzymatic pre-treatment was excluded from further investigation, and while ultrasonic pre-treatment was investigated, complications with the equipment prevented publication of the results. Consequently, thermobaric, chemical, thermochemical and bio-surfactant pre-treatments were utilised in work moving forward.

3.2 Evaluation of chemical, thermobaric and thermochemical pre-treatment on anaerobic digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste

Stoichiometry and co-digestion experiments in the literature both indicated that addition of fat in anaerobic digestion systems can increase methane yields. However, fat is a generally problematic material. Pre-treatment has potential to not only reduce the problematic aspects of fat addition, but also further increase methane yields. While a large body of work exists concerning the pre-treatment of a wide range of substrates, there has been little work regarding the pre-treatment of high-fat waste, with particular rarity in the context of RMP waste. **Paper I** identified 6 pre-treatment categories that have potential to enhance biogas yield. From these, thermobaric, chemical, thermochemical, and bio-surfactant pre-treatment methods were used to pre-treat highfat abattoir waste prior to anaerobic digestion.

It was hypothesised that application of these pre-treatments to a FOG-rich substrate would aid in the anaerobic degradation of the substrate. **Paper II** documents the investigation of thermobaric, chemical and thermochemical pre-treatment of DAF sludge, and subsequent batch BMP testing. DAF sludge is a high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste stream that is generally sent to a rendering plant for conversion into tallow, and is of identical chemical composition to the fat which remains uncaptured by fat-removal technology. Results from this investigation were therefore considered translatable to pre-treated fat on-site. The effect of pre-treatment on the substrate was assessed by measuring COD solubilisation and VFA formation. BMP testing was conducted to assess methane production and the effect of pre-treatment on the digestion profile with respect to inhibition, rate kinetics, equivalent digestion time, and total digestion time.

#### 3.2.1 Thermobaric pre-treatment

The results reported in **Paper II** were encouraging. The effect of thermobaric pre-treatment was in accordance with the alternative hypothesis that thermobaric treatment aided in the anaerobic digestion of high-fat abattoir waste. sCOD, reported as a percentage of total COD, increased from 16.3% to 20.84%, an indication that larger, insoluble macromolecules have been hydrolysed to lower molecular weight, and soluble products. As hydrolysis is the rate limiting step for complex macromolecules in anaerobic digestion (Appels *et al.* 2008), this should reduce lag

43

phase inhibition. Indeed, BMP testing produced a digestion profile completely free of lag-phase inhibition. Although the rate constant was reduced in the thermobaric treatment, linear digestion began 5 days earlier than the control, resulting in much greater methane yield at all times during digestion. Total digestion time was increased from 12 days to 14 days in the thermobaric treatment, allowing for an increase in methane yield by 8.32%. However, the thermobaric treatment achieved equivalent methane yield to the controls by roughly day 9, around 25% earlier than the controls. When considered for continuous digestion, this presents the operator with 2 options. In an industrial context, if the primary interest is to reduce organic content, an operator could allow this digestion to continue to completion at 14 days and achieve the 8.32% increase in methane yield. However, the thermobaric trials required only 9 days to break even with the final yield achieved by the controls at day 12. Therefore, the thermobaric trials required 5 days to achieve only 8.32% extra methane yield. If the primary interest is to produce energy, a reduction in HRT would take advantage of much greater reaction kinetics in the thermobaric treatment, utilising the 5 day period to gain much more methane (i.e. 440 mL) than completing digestion (77 mL) (Table 9). Alternatively, given that the system is capable of degrading the same amount of organics in a reduced time-frame, increasing the OLR would allow for much greater methane yield to be achieved within the original 12 day completion time of the control. This, in effect, is similar to decreasing the HRT. Similar results were reported by Li and Jin (2015) in which thermal pre-treatment reduced the retention time necessary for acidification by 5 days.

In industrial application, it is common for OLR to be dictated by volumetric throughput, not by adjusting the organic content in the waste stream. Consequently, OLR and HRT tend to be linked, and an increase in OLR coincides with a decrease in HRT. An economic analysis of thermobaric pre-treatment indicated that active heating of the substrate would not be economically viable. However, heat exchange would significantly reduce the cost of active heating, and would improve the economic viability of such a pre-treatment.

Treatment	Thermal	Chemical	Thermochemical	Bile 0.6 g/L
SMP	+8.32%	+3.28%	+8.49%	+7.08%
Lag phase	-100%	0%	-20%	0%
Rate constant	$\downarrow$	-	$\downarrow$	-5.66%
sCOD	+4.50%	+31.9%	+34.40%	0%
VFA	-64%	+27%	+128%	0%
TEQ	-16.67%	-16.67%	-8.33%	-12.12%
TFIN	+8.33%	0%	+8.33%	+3.03%

Table 9: Effect of pre-treatments on substrate and AD parameters.

 $T_{EO}$  – Time required to achieve a methane yield equivalent to the control at  $T_{FIN}$ 

While methane yield and reaction kinetics were influenced positively by pretreatment in this investigation, economic assessment produced a less favourable outcome. Pre-treatment with sodium hydroxide would result in a net loss of 51% of operating cost. With respect to thermobaric pre-treatment, economic assessment indicated that, depending on water content, losses ranged from 97% to 61% of operating cost. However, this assessment was based entirely on active heating, and ignored potential for heat-exchange, or for the value of minimising problematic interactions with fatty material. Consequently, there may be value in thermobaric pretreatment, and these outcomes could be supported by further investigation.

There remains some concern about the reaction vessel used in these experiments remaining sealed during the thermobaric pre-treatment. Schott bottles are designed so that under sufficient pressure, the lid will become loose to release the pressure to prevent the glass bottle from exploding. Under the conditions of thermobaric pre-treatment (121°C, 15 psi, 20 min.), if the seal of the reaction vessel became compromised, loss of VFA would be inevitable, and result in a loss of biogas potential. Similar losses in organic content were measured by Park et al. (2017), in which following pre-treatment at temperatures ranging from 170-220°C under 1.7-2.0 MPa respectively, TS was reduced from 20.4% w/w in the untreated substrate to 6.1-7.2% w/w, and TCOD was reduced from 26.8 g/L to 8.5-11.3 g/L following pre-treatment. In this instance, the researchers note that following pre-treatment, the residual steam was discharged from the reactor, and reaction products were removed. This could be solved by acquiring a pressure vessel and performing pre-treatment such as in Wilson and Novak (2009)

It would also have been valuable to assess the effect of pre-treatment on the species of LCFA and VFA produced as a result of pre-treatment. Wilson and Novak (2009) demonstrated that LCFA respond better to thermobaric pre-treatment with increasing degree of unsaturation. Furthermore, the authors also demonstrated that fatty acid with a higher degree of unsaturation degrade to form more acetic and propionic acids, while saturated fatty acids tend to produce more valeric, caproic and heptanoic acid (Wilson & Novak 2009). As approximately half of the LCFA found in beef tallow is unsaturated, and the majority of this is only mono-unsaturated, it is likely that a large degree of valeric, caproic and heptanoic acid may have been produced by the pre-treatment process. While the results of research into the inhibitory effect of various species of VFA vary, it is clear that the health of a reactor cannot be defined by a generic VFA concentration (Franke-Whittle *et al.* 2014).

#### 3.2.2 Chemical pre-treatment

The performance of the chemical pre-treatment was consistent with the alternative hypothesis, that pre-treatment would enhance anaerobic digestion of the high-fat substrate. Soluble COD was increased from 16.3% to 48.2% (Table 9). This increase in soluble organics is likely due to the saponification of fatty material to form sodium salts of LCFA, although Kim *et al.* (2003) demonstrated a significant capacity for chemical pre-treatment with sodium hydroxide to solubilise protein. Treatment had also degraded organics to yield VFA, indicated by an increase in VFA by 27%. Pre-treatment reduced inhibition by approximately 1 day, and similar to the thermobaric pre-treatment, achieved an equivalent yield to the control 2 days faster. Total digestion time was prolonged by 1 day, for a methane yield increase by 3.28%. This improvement lends the same benefits as discussed with respect to thermobaric pre-treatment, regarding OLR and HRT.

#### 3.2.3 Thermochemical pre-treatment

The effect of thermochemical pre-treatment was consistent with the alternate hypothesis that pre-treatment would improve the anaerobic digestion of high-fat abattoir waste. Like the chemical treatment, SCOD was increased from 16.3% to 50.7% (Table 9). The combination of chemical and thermal aspects greatly improve VFA content by 128%. These results indicate that saponification of the fats, and solubilisation of protein has occurred, as in the chemical trial, with the enhanced

hydrolysis seen in the thermobaric trial. Lag-phase inhibition was reduced by 20%, with a distinct increase in the rate of gas production. However, it appears that the chemical component of the thermochemical treatment limits the ability of the thermal component to reduce inhibition. Total digestion time was extended by 2 days for an increased methane yield by 8.49%. Thermochemical treatment achieved the final yield of the control around 1.5 days in advance, opening up the opportunities with respect to adjusting HRT and OLR to increase yields under continuous digestion.

3.2.4 Economic assessment of chemical, thermobaric and thermochemical pre-treatments

A simple economic assessment was conducted for chemical, thermobaric and thermochemical pre-treatments in **Paper II**. A number of assumptions were made for the simple economic assessment. First, the assessment considers ongoing costs, but not the capital required for infrastructure. Secondly, the flow-on effects that pretreatment may have on digester operation, such as greater treatment efficiency, impacts on crust accumulation and sensor fouling, etc., are not considered here. Thirdly, the value of extra heat generated from CHP, is not considered here.

The economic assessment for the chemical pre-treatment based on the application of 7 g NaOH/L as used in this study. Sodium hydroxide pellets could be purchased for \$467 Australian dollars (AUD) per 1000 kg, enough to treat 143 m<sup>3</sup> of FOG-rich waste. With an improvement in biogas yield of 3.28%, this would be worth AUD \$185 as electricity, or AUD \$229.60 to offset natural gas. This is insufficient to cover the cost of sodium hydroxide, and is likely not an economically viable pre-treatment option.

Experimentally, thermobaric pre-treatment yielded an extra 8.32% methane yield. Treating 143 m<sup>3</sup> of FOG-rich waste, the same volume of waste as determined in the chemical pre-treatment, this would yield an extra 28172 MJ. Converting to electricity with 40% efficiency provides 3130 kWh. The value of this as electricity is AUD \$470, and used to offset natural gas would be worth AUD \$230. However, the cost of performing this pre-treatment is heavily dependent on the water content of the waste. With a specific heat capacity of 4.18 J/g/°C, water is energetically expensive to heat, and the economics of the pre-treatment could be improved through dewatering. For instance, with a moisture content of 85.44%, 117.2 MWh of electricity would be

required to heat 143 m<sup>3</sup> of material from 40 to 100°C. At an estimated cost of AUD \$0.15/kWh, this would cost AUD \$17580. In contrast, if 90% of the moisture content were removed, the cost to heat would be around AUD \$3045. These calculations highlight that active heating of the material is not a viable option to take advantage of the effects of pre-treatment in this situation. However, utilisation of waste heat from CHP or from other plant processes could significantly reduce the need for active heating, and improve viability of thermobaric pre-treatment in an industrial setting.

Like the thermobaric and chemical pre-treatments, the economic viability of thermochemical pre-treatment is subject to the cost of heating and the cost of sodium hydroxide. Given that these separate treatment methods are not viable, thermochemical treatment will also require either cheaper cost of treatment, or better return on investment to become economically viable.

- 3.2.5 Limitations and future work
- Batch digestion

The work presented in this section represents a small fraction of the potential work in this field, and there are many other pre-treatment options that may produce benefits under BMP testing. From the literature review, ultrasound, enzymatic, microwave and advanced oxidative techniques pre-treatments were also identified as having potential to enhance the anaerobic digestion of high-fat substrates. Furthermore, there have been a host of microbial bio-surfactants identified, which may be valuable pre-treatment options for high-fat substrates. Each of these experiments should investigate a range of pre-treatment conditions, i.e. a range of temperatures, doses/concentrations, energy inputs, exposure time, etc. to find the optimal conditions for treatment.

With respect to the thermobaric, chemical and thermochemical pre-treatment methods which were the focal point of **Paper II**, these methods should be further investigated to identify the optimal conditions for these pre-treatments to be conducted under. In particular to chemical pre-treatment, although sodium hydroxide has been identified as the most effective alkali for the degradation of waste activated sludge, other alkalis could be tested to determine the best chemical for the degradation of lipid. • Quantitation of free fatty acid liberation from bound fatty acids

Quantitation of the degradation of bound fatty acids (e.g. triglycerides, diglycerides) to free fatty acids (FFA) is useful to understanding the effect of a pretreatment. This is difficult to achieve, as methods typically cleave LCFA from glycerol prior to derivatisation to fatty acid methyl esters, and are thereby inappropriate for extracting FFA. Likely due to the specific nature of the experiment, these tests are not performed commercially in most instances.

Attempts were made in this study to extract free fatty acids from a mixture of free and bound fatty acids. Known quantities of water and lard were mixed to simulate an environmental sample. Aqueous samples were acidified to below pH 2 with acid. Attempts were made with both hydrochloric and sulphuric acids. Following acidification, the lipid soluble fraction was extracted in hexane. Extraction of free fatty acids from the hexane was attempted with base. Attempts were made with both 0.1 M sodium hydroxide, and 0.1 M potassium hydroxide. The aqueous layer was collected and acidified to below pH 2, and lipids were extracted into the hexane. Solvent was evaporated under a compressed air stream, and vacuum dried in a desiccator with sodium hydroxide pellets. Dried sample was trans-esterified with 14% boron trifluoride in methanol for 24 hours at 50-55°C. Samples were analysed using a Shimadzu GC-2010 gas chromatograph with mass spectrometer GCMS-QP2010 plus gas chromatograph mass spectrometer, with an RTX-5 capillary column (30 m x 0.25 µm, serial number 801339)

Recovery of the free fatty acids proved difficult. Attempts to analyse FFA extracted from lard, as a more controlled material, and later DAF sludge, produced insufficient signal-to-noise ratios for the peaks to be detected, indicating a failure in the extraction process. Repeated failures to achieve FFA extraction from a mixed sample led to seeking to outsource the method to a commercial lab. While lipid profiling is common in commercial laboratories, the separation and quantitation of FFA and bound fatty acids is not routinely performed. The concept of separating FFA from bound fatty acids was consequently abandoned in favour of producing lipid profiles as a far simpler, yet much less informative alternative.

Although lipid profiles were produced, quantitation of the fatty acids of interest was difficult. Commercial analysis of the LCFA standard was performed using a 100m column. By comparison, a 30m column was used for these analyses. While separation of peaks for the most part was good, separation of C18:1, C18:2 and C18:3 was not possible. Attempts to achieve peak separation included decreasing the temperature ramp rate surrounding the elution time of these fatty acids, and introducing isothermal periods at the expected elution times. Despite several attempts to achieve peak separation, all efforts were ineffective.

An effort should be made to separate bound fatty acids (i.e. tri-, di-, monoglycerides) from free fatty acids in environmental samples. This would help to determine how effective a pre-treatment is at degrading fatty substrates, and learn how the fats are degraded with respect to pre-treatment. Furthermore, this would help to discern how pre-treatments aid or detract from the AD process.

• Particle size analysis

Determination of particle size, particularly micellar diameter is of particular interest with respect to FOG pre-treatment. One aspect of FOG which makes digestion difficult is the property of hydrophobicity and the tendency for lipids to group together, as either clumps or micelles. This grouping reduces the surface area to volume ratio of the mass of fat, and consequently reduces the area available for enzymatic cleavage to occur. Particle size analysis aids in the understanding of the mode of action of the pretreatment, or whether a method has been effective at improving the degradability of the substrate. Particle size analysers were considered for this study but were not available.

3.3 Bovine bile as a bio-surfactant pre-treatment option for anaerobic digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste

In addition to the thermobaric, chemical and thermochemical pre-treatment methods investigated in **Paper II**, **Paper I** also identified bio-surfactant addition as a potentially viable pre-treatment method. Bile is a novel bio-surfactant which *in vivo* acts to improve the surface area-to-volume ratio of lipids for the purpose of improving the rate of enzymatic degradation of these lipids to long-chain fatty acids, and subsequently, volatile fatty acids. It was this action for which bile was considered for pre-treatment for the anaerobic digestion of high-fat abattoir waste.

**Paper III** investigates the use of bovine bile as a novel bio-surfactant to aid in the anaerobic digestion of DAF sludge. As the pre-treatment is novel, a suite of doses were determined arbitrarily, however, inspiration was drawn from Nakhla *et al.* (2003) with their use of 'BOD-balance', a bio-surfactant extracted from cacti that yielded favourable outcomes. It was hypothesised that the addition of bile to high-fat abattoir waste would benefit the anaerobic digestion process. This would be realised in an improvement to the digestion profile of the high-fat waste, measured by either a decrease in inhibition and digestion time, an increase in reaction kinetics, or an increase in methane yield. Three individual digestions were performed to collect the data for this investigation, and highlighted that the effect of pre-treatment on the anaerobic digestion process depends significantly on the composition of the substrate and quality of the inoculum.

The effect of bile dosed at 0.2-1 g/L was consistent with the alternate hypothesis that bile addition would enhance the anaerobic digestion of high-fat abattoir waste. While there was no improvement in the digestion profile, an increase in methane yield of 7.08% was measured with a bile dose of 0.6 g/L. Addition of bile showed no improvement in solubilising COD, nor did it increase VFA content (Table 9). The mode of action was likely emulsification of fatty material.

Bile dosed at 0.2-1 g/L with sludge acquired from a WWTP, treating substrate with a DAF sludge with very high fat content produced a significant increase of up to 7.08%. Conversely, bile dosed at 1-6 g/L with sludge acquired from a red meat processing facility treating a DAF sludge with relatively low fat content produced negligible influence with 1-2 g bile/L. At concentrations of 3-6 g/L, bile produced inhibition that increased exponentially with increasing dose. Reaction kinetics declined linearly with increasing dose, declining to half the control value with a dose of 6 g bile/L. Lag-phase inhibitory duration increased by up to 79%, time required to achieve peak methane production was delayed by up to 74%, and total digestion time was slowed by up to 65%. At a dose of 6 g bile/L, methane yield was reduced by 6%.

An anaerobic toxicity assay was also performed to assess the effect of bile dosed at 1-6 g/L to reactors digesting cellulose as a standard substrate. Although WWTP sludge was used for the toxicity assay, the results of the high-dose BMP were replicated, albeit to a lesser extent.

#### 3.3.1 Economic assessment of bile pre-treatment

The economic viability of using bile as a bio-surfactant was briefly assessed. In comparison to the current use of bile as a sale product to pharmaceutical companies, the addition of 0.2 g bile/L to existing slaughterhouse waste streams could increase the value of bile, through biogas production, to 220% of its current sale value. In contrast with the pre-treatment options trialled in **Paper II**, bile was the only option which produced a positive economic outcome under the conditions outlined in **Paper II**.

3.4 Impact of thermobaric pre-treatment on the continuous anaerobic digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste

The results of **Papers II and III** formed the basis for the next stage of work, **Paper IV**, in which bile, chemical, and thermochemical pre-treatments were eliminated as viable options for pre-treatment of DAF sludge. Low-dose bile produced up to 7.08% increased methane yield, while high-dose bile pre-treatment resulted in decreased methane yields, reduced reaction kinetics, and increased inhibitory effect. While chemical treatment enhanced methane yields, the increase was minor in comparison to that obtained by thermobaric and thermochemical pre-treatments options. Although the thermochemical pre-treatment produced marginally more methane than the thermochemical pre-treatment, the addition of sodium hydroxide appeared to be a largely ineffective component of the pre-treatment process. Subsequently, thermobaric pre-treatment, with an increase in methane yield by 8.32%, and 100% reduction of inhibition, was selected to progress to continuous digestion experimentation (**Paper IV**).

While the simple economic assessment was not favourable for thermobaric pre-treatment, the reduction in treatment time and increased rate of methane production may allow for more consistent use of gas-fired boilers, and offset consumption of coal, or other fossil fuels to yield a positive economic outcome.

It was hypothesised that thermobaric-treated DAF sludge would improve substrate utilisation under continuous digestion conditions, resulting in either increased methane yield and/or increasing substrate degradability (**Paper II**). While an increase in methane potential would be a good outcome, an increase in substrate degradability appeared to be the most beneficial aspect of the thermobaric treatment.

52

This would allow for more regular feeding intervals (i.e. a reduced HRT), or conversely, an increase in OLR, and subsequently a higher daily rate of gas production.

Thermobaric pre-treatment of DAF sludge and subsequent digestion in CSTR reactors was not beneficial to the digestion process. Treatment resulted in reduced biogas and methane yields by approximately 12%, which may be a result of VFA loss during pre-treatment. Such losses were also exhibited by Park et al. (2017). Reactors digesting thermobaric-treated DAF sludge experienced greater instability in pH, VFA and VFA:TA ratio, greater accumulation of FOG, and a higher production of hydrogen sulphide. VFA content was higher in the reactors receiving thermobaric-treated substrate over the first 30 days, which may be a result of a more readily degradable substrate, and contributed to a consistently lower digester pH over the first 44 days.

H<sub>2</sub>S concentrations were 56% greater on average, indicating a greater degradation of protein in the thermobaric-treated substrate. The increased FOG and decreased OLR produced with the fresh batch of substrate from day 34 onward caused the digesters to fail by day 43. Addition of Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> rapidly recovered digester pH, biogas production and significantly reduced H<sub>2</sub>S concentrations. Extraction of fully-mixed effluent samples from day 48 onward induced a critical loss of active biomass, ultimately causing digester failure. It is possible that the addition of trace elements to the reactors could have both improved reactor stability and prolonged digestion under the conditions of this experiment (Schmidt et al. 2014). It was speculated that the large variations seen in substrate characteristics between all stages of investigation played a large role in influencing the effect of pre-treatment.

- 3.5 Limitations and future work
  - Continuous investigations

In comparison to the batch digestion, while work performed in **Paper II** yielded encouraging results, application of thermobaric-treated DAF sludge to continuous digestion was not beneficial. Such conflicting results have been reported previously. For example, Schwede *et al.* (2013) thermally treated microalgae and produced a 185% increase in methane yield under batch conditions. However, under continuous digestion, an increase of only 108% was recorded. Similarly, Zhang, Su and Tan (2013) measured on average 29% less methane produced from substrate digested in continuous systems when compared with batch systems.

53

Although simple BMP tests give a good indication of the amount of biogas and methane that can be ultimately produced from a substrate, these tests do not accurately reproduce the conditions of a large-scale AD system under continuous or continuous operation (Carrere *et al.* 2016). Given that laboratory investigation to understand a substrate's biogas potential is critical in making business and design decisions regarding the implementation of AD technology, it is important to consider the limitations of BMP tests, and the advantages and shortcomings of batch and continuous digestion investigations.

As shown in **Paper III**, bile under BMP testing has potential to increase methane yield up to 7.08% at a dose of 0.6 g/L. At the more conservative dosage of 0.2 g bile/L, which is also the more viable dosage for industry, the measured increase was reduced to 5.71%. At this more modest increase, through the generation of methane, the value of bile is 220% greater than current use as a sale product. Investigation of bile addition under continuous digestion conditions should be conducted to assess the viability of bile addition in a full-scale industrial system. Promising candidates from BMP investigation of other pre-treatment options should also be subjected to continuous digestion experimentation. If steady state digestion is achieved, researchers should look to vary the OLR and HRT to achieve optimal digestion conditions. Digester effluent should be regularly analysed for the accumulation of VFA species and other inhibitors.

• Quantitation of VFA produced from hydrolysis of lipid

Quantitation of VFA species using GC-FID was conducted early in the project as a way of measuring VFA as acetic acid equivalence. At the time, there was no interest in measuring the quantities of individual VFA, but more interest in generating VFA as an indicator of the pre-treatment enhancing hydrolysis. It is now understood that VFA play a role in digester inhibition, and can be used as an indicator for digester failure, but the inhibitory concentration of these VFAs is a subject of ongoing research. For future research, it would be preferable to quantify the degradation of individual macromolecules to VFA such as was performed by (Wilson & Novak 2009).

• Control over substrate characteristics

Research into, and operation of AD systems, is heavily influenced by the variation and inconsistency in substrates and inocula (Schmidt, McCabe & Harris

2018). The nature of uncontrolled industrial samples influenced by on-site activities and fluctuations undermines the quality of research outcomes. Waste characteristics vary considerably, as demonstrated in **Paper 1**, and are subject to variation with respect to species slaughtered, seasonal change, weekly, daily, and even between shifts (Bauer, 2011). Due to these sources of variation, substrate and inoculum characteristics can vary significantly at any given time.

Control over industrial substrate characteristics is a difficult problem to overcome. Some approaches to substrate control include: Composite sampling, collecting large grab samples, and using a synthetic substrate. Composite sampling aims to limit variation between grab samples by collecting material at intervals, or with respect to flow volume, throughout the day. While this produces a more consistent substrate, the variation is not eliminated, but may allow for more consistent experimentation throughout a long-term investigation, where multiple batches of substrate are needed. In contrast, for short-term experimentation, depending on the research question, it may be suitable to collect a large grab sample. While this ensures that sub-sampling from this well-mixed grab sample will yield reproducible results, eventually, the batch will be either depleted, or become overgrown with contaminating organisms, and subsequent grab samples will likely vary greatly from the previous. Finally, these issues can be solved through production of a synthetic substrate. However, producing a synthetic substrate is more difficult than the previous options. Importantly, the synthetic substrate should be as identical to the real substrate as possible, so that results are relatable to industry. Therefore, production of a synthetic substrate should begin with characterisation of the substrate which is to be mimicked. Carbohydrate, protein and lipid content should be matched, and effort should be made to provide identical macromolecular constituents, as for instance, different lipids are more degradable, while others are more inhibitors. Beyond this, the synthetic substrate must contain micro-nutrients/trace elements for continued support of the microbial community. For a complex waste stream such as an abattoir wastewater, this may be achieved simply by adding bovine blood in a controlled manner. The result is a substrate which can be reproduced with minimal variation over numerous batches, and, once the recipe is created, should be simple to create in a timely and cost-effective manner. It would have been greatly beneficial to analyse substrate characteristics for total carbon, total nitrogen, phosphorus and sulphur, as well as trace elements
including iron, zinc, nickel, cobalt, copper, selenium, tungsten, molybdenum and manganese.

With a desire for reproducibility in mind, creation of a synthetic substrate was considered to overcome this problem. However, AD systems were considered too complex to consider all of the biological necessities to create a sufficiently suitable synthetic substrate. Instead, Baxter beef flavoured dog food was trialled in this project as a synthetic substrate for a continuous digestion experiment, with the aim of increasing fat content by adding lard to determine the critical point before digester failure due to FOG loading. At this point lard was to be reduced to a sustainable loading and the substrate was to be pre-treated to commence the second stage of the experiment. Unfortunately, following lard addition, digesters immediately began to fail, and despite considerable effort, the digesters were unrecoverable. While the goal was to determine the impact of pre-treatment on the digestibility of the lipid fraction, this substrate was considered too far removed from slaughterhouse waste, and the change to DAF sludge was made for experiments detailed in papers II, III and submitted manuscript IV.

With respect to inoculum consistency, weather events, shock loadings, feedstocks and operational inconsistencies significantly impact anaerobic sludge quality. Consequently, a number of inoculum sources were utilised throughout this project, and made comparison of results difficult.

In order to limit this variation, and consequently improve future data quality and confidence in the results, effort should be made to produce both a controlled inoculum and substrate. Consistency in inoculum quality could be controlled by producing sludge in-house with controlled substrate addition, temperature control, stirring and monitoring.

## IV

## Conclusions

This investigation demonstrated that anaerobic digestion of high-fat abattoir waste can be enhanced through pre-treatment under batch conditions. Batch digestion of DAF sludge pre-treated with 0.2-1 g/L bile, chemical, thermochemical, and thermobaric pre-treatment each produced beneficial outcomes in the AD of high-fat abattoir waste. The most significant improvements were achieved through thermobaric pre-treatment, with an 8.32% increase in methane yield, a complete elimination of lagphase inhibition, and equivalent yield to the control achieved 3 days earlier. The results using thermobaric pre-treated DAF sludge under continuous digestion were contrary to those achieved under batch digestion. Unlike earlier work, continuous digestion did not show increases in specific methane production but revealed important information related to the negative impacts that a heterogeneous, high-fat slaughterhouse waste has on anaerobic digestion performance. Under continuous digestion, thermobaric pretreatment resulted in reduced methane yield by 12.1%, a consistently lower pH, and 56% increased hydrogen sulphide content. This reduction in methane yield is speculated to be due to loss of volatile organics during the pre-treatment process given the lack of a pressure vessel. The study was carried out using varying levels of fats, oils and greases at different organic loading rates and highlighted the importance of close process control and monitoring, particularly when the substrate is used in monodigestion rather than co-digestion. It has been concluded that while pre-treatment can have significant benefits to the digestion process, consistency and quality of sludge

and inoculum are essential elements in deriving benefit from pre-treatment. Consequently, industries which experience great variation in substrate characteristics should take great care in sampling and subsequent analysis of substrates for the planning of AD installations.

### References

- Abbassi, BE 2003, 'Improvement of anaerobic sludge digestion by disintegration of activated sludge using vacuum process', *Water Quality Research Journal of Canada*, vol. 38, no. 3.
- ACS-Umwelttechnik 2017, *Lipothan reactor*, ACS-Umwelttechnik, viewed 12/12/2017, <a href="http://www.acs-environment.com/en/reactor-types/lipothan-reactor">http://www.acs-environment.com/en/reactor-types/lipothan-reactor</a>>.
- Affes, M, Aloui, F, Hadrich, F, Loukil, S & Sayadi, S 2017, 'Effect of bacterial lipase on anaerobic co-digestion of slaughterhouse wastewater and grease in batch condition and continuous fixed-bed reactor', *Lipids in Health and Disease*, vol. 16, no. 1, p. 195. <u>http://doi.org/10.1186/s12944-017-0587-2</u>.
- Affes, R, Palatsi, J, Flotats, X, Carrère, H, Steyer, J & Battimelli, A 2013, 'Saponification pretreatment and solids recirculation as a new anaerobic process for the treatment of slaughterhouse waste', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 131, pp. 460-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.12.187.
- Alkaya, E & Demirer, G 2011, 'Anaerobic mesophilic co-digestion of sugar-beet processing wastewater and beet-pulp in batch reactors', *Renewable Energy*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 971-5.
- Amani, T, Nosrati, M & Sreekrishnan, T 2010, 'Anaerobic digestion from the viewpoint of microbiological, chemical and operational aspects - a review', *Environmental Reviews*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 255-78.

- AMPC & AMIC 2014, Evaluation of greenhouse gas mitigation activities undertaken by the red meat processing industry, Australian Meat Processing Corporation, AMPC.
- AMPC & MLA 2010, *Industry environmental sustainability review 2010*, Meat and Livestock Australia, Meat and Livestock Australia.
- AMPC 2012, Waste water management in the Australian red meat processing industry.
- AMPC 2015, Environmental performance review: Red meat processing sector 2015, Australian Meat Processor Corporation.
- Appels, L, Baeyens, J, Degreve, J & Dewil, R 2008, 'Principles and potential of the anaerobic digestion of waste-activated sludge', *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science*, vol. 34, pp. 755-81.
- Appels, L, Lauwers, J, Degrève, J, Helsen, L, Lievens, B, Willems, K, Impe, JV & Dewil, R 2011, 'Anaerobic digestion in global bio-energy production: Potential and research challenges', *Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 15, pp. 4295-301.
- Ariunbaatar, J, Panico, A, Frunzo, L, Esposito, G, Lens, PNL & Pirozzi, F 2014, 'Enhanced anaerobic digestion of food waste by thermal and ozonation pretreatment methods', *Journal of Environmental Management*, vol. 146, pp. 142-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.07.042.</u>
- Australian Bureau of Statistics 2016, *Livestock and Meat, Australia*, Australian Bureau of Statistics, Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- Baier, U & Schmidheiny, P 1997, 'Enhanced anaerobic degradation of mechanically disintegrated sludge', *Water Science & Technology*, vol. 36, no. 11, pp. 137-43.

- Barjenbruch, M & Kopplow, O 2003, 'Enzymatic, mechanical and thermal pretreatment of surplus sludge', *Advances in Environmental Research*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 715-20.
- Batstone, D, Keller, J, Newell, R & Newland, M 2000, 'Modelling anaerobic digestion of complex wastewater. I: model development', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 75, pp. 67-74.
- Battimelli, A, Carrere, H & Delgenes, J 2009, 'Saponification of fatty slaughterhouse wastes for enhancing anaerobic biodegradability', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 100, no. 15, pp. 3695-700. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2008.12.029">http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2008.12.029</a>.
- Battimelli, A, Millet, C, Delgenes, J & Moletta, R 2003, 'Anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge combined with ozone post-treatment and recycling', *Water Science & Technology*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 61-8.
- Battimelli, A, Torrijos, M, Moletta, R & Delgenes, J 2010, 'Slaughterhouse fatty waste saponification to increase biogas yield', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 101, pp. 3388-93. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.12.043</u>.
- Bauer, A 2011, 'Investigation into the Biochemical Methane Potential of Abattoir Wastewater', University of Southern Queensland.
- Benefield, LA 2001, Wastewater quality / strength / content.
- Bernal-Martinez, A, Carrere, H, Patureau, D & Delgenes, J 2007, 'Ozone pretreatment as improver of PAH removal during anaerobic digestion of urban sludge', *Chemosphere*, vol. 68, no. 6, pp. 1013-9.
- Biggs, C & Lant, P 1998, 'Identifying the mechanisms of activated sludge flocculation', in Environmental Engineering Research Event: *proceedings of*

the Environmental Engineering Research Event Avoca Beach, New South Wales, Australia.

- Bougrier, C, Albasi, C, Delgenes, J & Carrere, H 2006, 'Effect of ultrasonic, thermal and ozone pre-treatments on waste activated sludge solubilisation and anaerobic biodegradability', *Chemical Engineering and Processing: Process Intensification*, vol. 45, no. 8, pp. 711-8.
- Bougrier, C, Delgenes, J & Carrere, H 2007, 'Impacts of thermal pre-treatments on the semi-continuous anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge', *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 20-7.
- Bougrier, C, Delgenes, J & Carrere, H 2008, 'Effects of thermal treatments on five different waste activated sludge samples solubilisation, physical properties and anaerobic digestion.', *Chemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 139, no. 2, pp. 236-44.
- Braguglia, C, Tomei, M & Mininni, g 2006, 'Anaerobic digestion of sonicated sludge: effect on volatile solids degradation kinetics', in IWA Specialised Conference on Sustainable Sludge Management: State-of-the-Art, Challenges and Perspectives: proceedings of the IWA Specialised Conference on Sustainable Sludge Management: State-of-the-Art, Challenges and Perspectives Moscow, Russia, pp. 154-60.
- Buswell, A & Neave, S 1930, *Laboratory studies of anaerobic digestion*, Department of registration and education.
- Cammarota, M & Freire, D 2006, 'A review on hydrolytic enzymes in the treatment of wastewater with high oil and grease content', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 97, pp. 2195-210. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2006.02.030</u>.
- Carballa, M, Omil, F & Lema, J 2004, 'Improvement of anaerobic digestion operation and digested sludge characteristics using chemical and thermal

pre-treatment', in 10th World Congress of Anaerobic Digestion: *proceedings* of the10th World Congress of Anaerobic Digestion Montreal, Canada.

- Carlsson, M, Lagerkvist, A & Morgan-Sagastume, F 2012, 'The effect of substrate pre-treatment on anaerobic digestion systems: A review', *Waste Management*, vol. 32, no. 9, pp. 1634-50. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2012.04.016.
- Carrere, H, Antonopoulou, G, Affes, R, Passos, F, Battimelli, A, Lyberatos, G & Ferrer, I 2016, 'Review of feedstock pretreatment strategies for improved anaerobic digestion: From lab-scale research to full-scale application', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 199, pp. 386-97. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.09.007</u>.
- Carrere, H, Dumas, C, Battimelli, A, Batstone, D, Delgenes, J, Steyer, J & Ferrer, I 2010, 'Pretreatment methods to improve sludge anaerobic degradability: a review', *Journal of Hazardous Material*, vol. 183, no. 1-5, pp. 1-15. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.06.129</u>.
- Cesaro, A, Naddeo, V, Amodio, V & Belgiorno, V 2012, 'Enhanced biogas production from anaerobic codigestion of solid waste by sonolysis', *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 596-600.
- Chang, C-N, Ma, Y-S & Lo, C-W 2002, 'Application of oxidation-reduction potential as a controlling parameter in waste activated sludge hydrolysis', *Chemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 90, no. 3, pp. 273-81.
- Chen, Y, Cheng, J & Creamer, K 2008, 'Inhibition of anaerobic digestion process: A review', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 99, no. 10, pp. 4044-64. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2007.01.057.
- Choi, H, Hwang, K & Shin, E 1997, 'Effects on anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge pretreatment', *Water Science & Technology*, vol. 35, no. 10, pp. 207-11.

- Christian, S, Grant, S, McCarthy, P, Wilson, D & Mills, D 2011, 'The first two years of full-scale anaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR) operation treating high-strength industrial wastewater', *Water Practice and Technology*, vol. 6, no. 2. <u>http://doi.org/10.2166/wpt.2011.032</u>.
- Condon, J 2014, Environment: Processing waste water moves from problem to profit, Beef Central. <<u>http://www.beefcentral.com/processing/environment-processing-waste-water-moves-from-problem-to-profit/</u>>.
- CSIRO 2010, *Covered anaerobic ponds*, Meat Technology Update, 4th October 2010, <<u>www.meatupdate.csiro.au</u>>.
- Cuetos, M, Gomez, X, Otero, M & Moran, A 2010, 'Anaerobic digestion and codigestion of slaughterhouse waste (SHW): Influence of heat and pressure pre-treatment in biogas yield', *Waste Management*, vol. 30, no. 10, pp. 1780-9.
- Dar, G & Tandon, S 1987, 'Biogas production from pretreated wheat straw, lantana residue, apple and peach leaf litter with cattle dung', *Biological wastes*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 75-83.
- Dasa, KT, Westman, SY, Millati, R, Cahyanto, MN, Taherzadeh, M & Niklasson, C 2016, 'Inhibitory effect of long-chain fatty acids on biogas production and the protective effect of membrane bioreactor', *Biomed Research International*, vol. 2016. <u>http://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7263974</u>.
- Davidsson, A, Lovstedt, C, la Cour Jansen, J, Gruvberger, C & Aspegren, H 2008, 'Co-digestion of grease trap sludge and sewage sludge', *Waste Management*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 986-92.

- Davidsson, A, Wawrzynczyk, J, Norrlow, O & Jansen, J 2007, 'Strategies for enzyme dosing to enhance anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge ', *Journal* of *Residuals Science and Technology*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 1-7.
- Deng, L, Li, Y, Chen, Z, Liu, G & Yang, H 2014, 'Separation of swine slurry into different concentration fractions and its influence on biogas fermentation', *Applied Energy*, vol. 114, pp. 504-11.
- Dereli, RK, Ersahin, ME, Ozgun, H, Ozturk, I, Jeison, D, van der Zee, F & van Lier, J 2012, 'Potentials of anaerobic membrane bioreactors to overcome treatment limitations induced by industrial wastewaters', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 122, pp. 160-70.
- Dewil, R 2006, 'Ultrasonic treatment of waste activated sludge', *Environmental Progress*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 121-8.
- Dewil, R, Appels, L, Baeyens, J & Degreve, J 2007, 'Peroxidation enhances the biogas production in the anaerobic digestion of biosolids', *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, vol. 146, no. 3, pp. 577-81.
- Dhar, B, Elbeshbishy, E, Hafez, H, Nakhla, G & Ray, M 2011, 'Thermo-oxidative pretreatment of municipal waste activated sludge for volatile sulfur compounds removal and enhanced anaerobic digestion', *Chemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 174, no. 1, pp. 166-74.
- Dhorgham Skban, I, Sakthipriya, N & Balasubramanian, N 2012, 'Electrocoagulation treatment of oily wastewater with sludge analysis', *Water Science* & *Technology*, vol. 66, no. 12, pp. 2533-8. <u>http://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2012.481</u>.
- Di Bella, R 2010, 'Biogas generation from an Anaerobic pond "Abattoir", Dissertation thesis, University of Southern Queensland, Toowoomba.

- Diez, V, Ramos, C & Cabezas, J 2012, 'Treating wastewater with high oil and grease content using an anaerobic membrane bioreactor', *Water Science & Technology*, vol. 65, no. 10, pp. 1847-53. <u>http://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2012.852</u>.
- Dohányos, M, Zábranská, J, Kutil, J & Jenícek, P 2004, 'Improvement of anaerobic digestion of sludge', *Water Science and Technology*, vol. 49, no. 10, pp. 89-96.
- Engelhart, M, Kruger, M, Kopp, J & Dichtl, N 2000, 'Effects of disintegration on anaerobic degradation of sewage excess sludge in downflow stationary fixed film digesters', *Water Science & Technology*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 171-9.
- Erden, G, Buyukkamaci, N & Filibeli, A 2010, 'Effect of low frequency ultrasound on anaerobic biodegradability of meat processing effluent', *Desalination*, vol. 259, no. 1-3, pp. 223-7.
- Estevez, M, Linjordet, R & Morken, J 2012, 'Effects of steam explosion and codigestion in the methane production from Salix by mesophilic batch assays', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 104, no. 749-56, p. 749.
- FAOSTAT 2015, Food and agriculture organization of the United Nations statistics division, Food and agriculture organization of the United Nations, viewed 30/03/2015. <a href="http://faostat3.fao.org/download/Q/QL/E">http://faostat3.fao.org/download/Q/QL/E</a>>.
- Fernandez, A, Sanchez, A & Font, X 2005, 'Anaerobic co-digestion of a simulated organic fraction of municipal solid wastes and fats of animal and vegetable origin', *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 26, pp. 22-8.
- Ferreira, L, Duarte, E & Figueiredo, D 2012, 'Utilization of wasted sardine oil as cosubstrate with pig slurry for biogas production – A pilot experience of decentralized industrial organic waste management in a Portuguese pig farm', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 116, pp. 285-9.

- Franke-Whittle, IH, Walter, A, Ebner, C & Insam, H 2014, 'Investigation into the effect of high concentrations of volatile fatty acids in anaerobic digestion on methanogenic communities', *Waste Management*, vol. 34, no. 11, pp. 2080-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2014.07.020.
- Gavala, H, Yenal, U, Skiadas, I, Westermann, P & Ahring, B 2003, 'Mesophilic and thermophilic anaerobic digestion of primary and secondary sludge. Effect of pre-treatment at elevated temperature', *Water Research*, vol. 37, pp. 4561-72.
- Gelegenis, J, Georgakakis, D, Angelidaki, I, Christopoulou, N & Goumenaki, M 2007, 'Optimization of biogas production from olive-oil mill wastewater, by codigesting with diluted poultry-manure', *Applied Energy*, vol. 84, no. 6, pp. 646-63.
- Genizer 2009, *Technology*, Genizer, viewed 13/03/2018, <<u>http://www.genizer.com/technology.asp</u>>.
- Gerardi, M 2003, *The microbiology of anaerobic digesters*, John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, New Jersey.
- Ghatak, MD & Mahanta, P 2014, 'Comparison of kinetic models for biogas production rate from saw dust', *International Journal of Research in Engineering and Technology*, vol. 3, no. 7.
- Gianico, A, Braguglia, C, Cesarini, R & Mininni, G 2013, 'Reduced temperature hydrolysis at 134 °C before thermophilic anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge at increasing organic load', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 143, pp. 96-103.
- Girault, R, Bridoux, G, Nauleau, F, Poullain, C, Buffet, J, Peu, P, Sadowski, A & Beline, F 2012, 'Anaerobic co-digestion of waste activated sludge and greasy

sludge from flotation process: Batch versus CSTR experiments to investigate optimal design', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 105, pp. 1-8. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.11.024</u>.

- Goel, R, Tokutomi, T & Yasui, H 2003, 'Anaerobic digestion of excess activated sludge with ozone pre-treatment', *Water Science & Technology*, vol. 47, no. 12, pp. 207-14.
- Golder Associates Pty Ltd 2009, Anaerobic cover material vulnerability: Assessment of available cover materials, A.ENV.0072, Meat and Livestock Australia.
- Graja, S, Chauzy, J, Fernandes, P, Patria, L & Cretenot, D 2005, 'Reduction of sludge production from WWTP using thermal pretreatment and enhanced anaerobic methanisation', *Water Science & Technology*, vol. 52, no. 1-2, pp. 267-73.
- Gronroos, A, Kyllonen, H, Korpijarvi, K, Pirkonen, P, Paavola, T, Jokela, J & Rintala, J 2005, 'Ultrasound assisted method to increase soluble chemical oxygen demand (SCOD) of sewage sludge for digestion', *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, vol. 12, pp. 115-20. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2004.05.012">http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2004.05.012</a>.
- Hasegawa, S, Shiota, N, Katsura, K & Akashi, A 2000, 'Solubilization of organic sludge by thermophilic aerobic bacteria as a pretreatment for anaerobic digestion ', *Water Science & Technology*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 163-9.
- Hendriks, A & Zeeman, G 2009, 'Pretreatments to enhance the digestibility of lignocellulosic biomass', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 1, pp. 10-8. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2008.05.027</u>.
- Heo, N, Park, S, Lee, J & Kang, H 2003, 'Solubilization of waste activated sludge by alkaline pretreatment and biochemical methane potential (BMP) tests for

anaerobic co-digestion of municipal organic waste', *Water Science and Technology*, vol. 48, no. 8, pp. 211-9.

- Higgins, G & Swartzbaugh, J 1986, Enzyme addition to the anaerobic digestion of municipal wastewater primary sludge, USEPA Water research laboratory, Cincinnati, OH.
- Hiraoka, M, Takeda, N, Sakai, S & Yasuda, A 1985, 'Highly efficient anaerobic digestion with thermal pretreatment', *Water Science & Technology*, vol. 17, no. 4-5, pp. 529-35.
- Ho, L 2010, 'First-stage and single-stage continuously stirred tank anaerobic digestion of synthetic complex wastewater and piggery wastewater (with emphasis on thermophilic temperature)', Doctoral thesis, Murdoch University.
- Jan, T, Adav, S, Lee, D, Wu, R, Sy, A & Tay, J 2008, 'Hydrogen fermentation and methane production from sludge with pretreatments', *Energy and Fuels*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 98-102.
- Jensen, P, Sullivan, T, Carney, C & Batstone, D 2014, 'Analysis of the potential to recover energy and nutrient resources from cattle slaughterhouses in Australia by employing anaerobic digestion', *Applied Energy*, vol. 136, pp. 23-31.
- Jensen, P, Yap, S, Boyle-Gotla, A, Janoschka, J, Carney, C, Pidou, M & Batstone, D 2015, 'Anaerobic membrane bioreactors enable high rate treatment of slaughterhouse wastewater', *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 97, pp. 132-41. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2015.02.009</u>.
- Johns, M 1993, *Developments in waste treatment in the meat processing industry a review of literature - 1979-1993*, Meat Research Corporation, Australia.

- Johns, M 1995, 'Developments in wastewater treatment in the meat processing industry: A review', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 54, no. 3, pp. 203-16.
- Kabouris, J, Tezel, U, Pavlostathis, S, Engelmann, M, Dulaney, J, Gillette, R & Todd, A 2009, 'Methane recovery from the anaerobic codigestion of municipal sludge and FOG', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 100, no. 15, pp. 3701-5.
- Khanal, S, Isik, H, Sung, S & van Leeuwen, J 2006, 'Ultrasound conditioning of waste activated sludge for enhanced aerobic digestion of waste activated sludge', in IWA Specialized Conference on Sustainable Sludge Management: State-of-the-Art, Challenges and Perspectives: proceedings of the IWA Specialized Conference on Sustainable Sludge Management: State-of-the-Art, Challenges and Perspectives Moscow, Russia, pp. 441-8.
- Kim, J, Park, C, Kim, T-H, Lee, M, Kim, S, Kim, S-W & Lee, J 2003, 'Effects of various pre-treatment for enhanced anaerobic digestion with waste activated sludge', *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, vol. 95, no. 3, pp. 271-5.
- Kim, M, Ahn, Y-H & Speece, R 2002, 'Comparative process stability and efficiency of anaerobic digestion; mesophilic vs thermophilic', *Water Research*, vol. 36, no. 17, pp. 4369-85.
- Kopp, J, Muller, J, Dichtl, N & Schwedes, J 1997, 'Anaerobic digestion and dewatering characteristics of mechanically disintegrated excess sludge', *Water Science & Technology*, vol. 36, no. 11, pp. 129-36.
- Kopplow, O, Barjenbruch, M & Heinz, V 2004, 'Sludge pre-treatment with pulsed from the [Polish] pulp and paper industry', *Przeglad Papier*, vol. 45, pp. 431-4.

- Labatut, R, Angenent, L & Scott, N 2011, 'Biochemical methane potential and biodegradability of complex organic substrates', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 102, no. 3, pp. 2255-64.
- Labatut, RA 2012, 'Anaerobic biodegradability of complex substrates: Performance and stability at mesophilic and thermophilic conditions', Doctoral thesis, Cornell University.
- Li, C, Champagne, P & Anderson, B 2011, 'Evaluating and modelling biogas production from municipal fat, oil and grease and synthetic kitchen waste in anaerobic co-digestions', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 102, no. 20, pp. 9471-80. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.07.103.
- Li, C, Champagne, P & Anderson, BC 2013, 'Effects of ultrasonic and thermochemical pre-treatments on methane production from fat, oil and grease (FOG) and synthetic kitchen waste (KW) in anaerobic co-digestion', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 130, pp. 187-97.

http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.11.053.

- Li, Y & Jin, Y 2015, 'Effects of thermal pretreatment on acidification phase during two-phase batch anaerobic digestion of kitchen waste', *Renewable Energy*, vol. 77, pp. 550-7. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2014.12.056</u>.
- Long, J, Aziz, T, de los Reyes III, F & Ducoste, J 2012, 'Anaerobic co-digestion of fat, oil, and grease (FOG): A review of gas production and process limitations', *Process safety and Environmental Protection*, vol. 90, no. 3, pp. 231-45. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2011.10.001</u>.
- Lu, J, Gavala, H, Skiadas, I, Mladenovska, Z & Ahring, BK 2008, 'Improving anaerobic sewage sludge digestion by implementation of a hyperthermophilic prehydrolysis step', *Journal of Environmental Management*, vol. 88, no. 4, pp. 881-9.

- Luo, K, Yang, Q & Li, X-m 2012, 'Hydrolysis kinetics in anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge enhanced by a-amylase', *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 62, pp. 17-21. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2011.12.009</u>.
- Luostarinen, S, Luste, S & Sillanpaa, M 2009, 'Increased biogas production at wastewater treatment plants through co-digestion of sewage sludge with grease trap sludge from a meat processing plant', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 100, no. 1, pp. 79-85. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2008.06.029.</u>
- Luste, S & Luostarinen, S 2010, 'Anaerobic co-digestion of meat-processing byproducts and sewage sludge – Effect of hygienization and organic loading rate', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 101, no. 8, pp. 2657-264.
- Ma, J, Zhao, Q-B, Laurens, LLM, Jarvis, EE, Nagle, N, Chen, S & Frear, CS 2015,
  'Mechanism, kinetics and microbiology of inhibition caused by long-chain fatty acids in anaerobic digestion of algal biomass', *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, vol. 8, no. 141.
- Martinez-Soza, D, Torrijos, M, Buitron, G, Sousbie, P, Devillers, P & Delgenes, J 2009, 'Treatment of fatty solid waste from the meat industry in an anaerobic sequencing batch reactor: start-up period and establishment of the design criteria', *Water Science and Technology*, vol. 60, no. 9, pp. 2245-51.
- Masse, L & Massé, DK, Kennedy, KJ 2003, 'Effect of hydrolysis pretreatment on fat degradation during anaerobic digestion of slaughterhouse wastewater', *Process Biochemistry*, vol. 38, pp. 1365-72. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/S0032-9592(03)00020-7.</u>
- Masse, L, Kennedy, K & Chou, S 2001, 'Testing of alkaline and enzymatic hydrolysis pretreatments for fat particles in slaughterhouse wastewater', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 77, no. 2, pp. 145-55. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(00)00146-2.</u>

- Mayhew, M, Le, M, Brade, C & Harrison, D 2003, 'The united utilities 'enzyme hydrolysis process' validation of phased digestion at full-scale to enhance pathogen removal', in Residuals and Biosolids Conference: *proceedings of the Residuals and Biosolids Conference* Baltimore, MD.
- Mayoh, R 2011, *Learnings from the Burrangong Meat Processor covered anaerobic lagoon*, Rycam Industrial Pty Ltd, Meat and Livestock Australia, Sydney.
- McCabe, B, Baillie, C, Harris, P, Pittaway, P, Yusaf, T & Hamawand, I 2012, Using covered anaerobic ponds to treat abattoir wastewater, reduce greenhouse gases and generate bioenergy Churchill Abattoir, National Centre for Engineering in Agriculture, Toowoomba, Queensland, Australia.
- McCabe, B, Hamawand, I, Harris, P, Baillie, C & Yusaf, T 2014, 'A case study for biogas generation from covered anaerobic ponds treating abattoir wastewater: Investigation of pond performance and potential biogas production', *Applied Energy*, vol. 114, pp. 798-808. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.10.020.</u>
- McCabe, B, Harris, P, Baillie, C, Pittaway, P & Yusaf, T 2013, 'Assessing a new approach to covered anaerobic pond design in the treatment of abattoir wastewater', *Australian Journal of Multidisciplinary Engineering*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 81-93.
- Mendes, A, Pereira, E & de Castro, H 2006, 'Effect of the enzymatic hydrolysis pretreatment of lipids-rich wastewater on the anaerobic biodigestion', *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 32, pp. 185-90.
- Methanogen ltd 2010, A toolbox guide for assessing the feasibility of an anaerobic digestion project developed for the benefit of a community or for a single farm, Peak District National Park Authority, Ireland.

- Miah, M, Tada, C & Yang, Y 2005, 'Aerobic thermophilic bacteria enhance biogas production', *Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 48-54.
- MLA 2002, *Eco-efficiency manual for meat processing*, Meat and Livestock Australia, New South Wales.
- Mladenovska, Z, Hartmann, H, Kvist, T, Sales-Cruz, M, Gani, R & Ahring, B 2006,
  'Thermal pretreatment of the solid fraction of manure: impact on the biogas reactor performance and microbial community', *Water Science & Technology*, vol. 53, no. 8, pp. 59-67.
- Mobarak-Qamsari, E, Kasra-Kermanshahi, R, Nosrati, M & Amani, T 2012, 'Enzymatic pre-hydrolysis of high fat content dairy wastewater as a pretreatment for anaerobic digestion', *International Journal of Environmental Research*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 475-80.
- Moisan, M 2012, 'Ultrasonic pretreatment for anaerobic digestion: a study on feedstock, methane yield, and energy balance', University of Guelph, University of Guelph.
- Montgomery, LF & Bochmann, G 2014, *Pretreatment of feedstock for enhanced biogas production*, International Energy Agency Bioenergy.
- Mottet, A, Steyer, J, Deleris, S, Vedrenne, F, Chauzy, J & Carrere, H 2009, 'Kinetics of thermophilic batch anaerobic digestion of thermal hydrolysed waste activated sludge', *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 169-75.
- Mshandete, A, Bjornsson, L, Kivaisi, AK, Rubindamayugi, M & Mattiasson, B 2006, 'Effect of particle size on biogas yield from sisal fibre waste', *Renewable Energy*, vol. 31, no. 14, pp. 2385-92. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2005.10.015</u>.

- Nagle, N, Rivard, C, Adney, W & Himmel, M 1992, 'Efficacy of hydrolytic enzyme augmentation and thermochemical pretreatments for increased secondary anaerobic digestion of treated municipal sewage sludges', *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 34/35, no. 1, pp. 737-51.
- Nah, I, Kang, Y, Hwang, K & Song, W 2000, 'Mechanical pre-treatment of waste activated sludge for anaerobic digestion process', *Water Research*, vol. 34, no. 8, pp. 2362-8. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(99)00361-9</u>.
- Nakhla, G, Al-Sabawi, M, Bassi, A & Liu, V 2003, 'Anaerobic treatability of high oil and grease rendering wastewater', *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, vol. 102, no. 2-3, pp. 243-55. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3894(03)00210-3</u>.
- Onyeche, T 2007, 'Economic benefits of low pressure sludge homogenization for wastewater treatment plants', in IWA Specialist Conferences: Moving Forward Wastewater Biosolids Sustainability: proceedings of the IWA Specialist Conferences: Moving Forward Wastewater Biosolids Sustainability Moncton, New Brunswick, Canada.
- Ortner, M, Leitzinger, K, Skupien, S, Bochmann, G & Fuchs, W 2014, 'Efficient anaerobic mono-digestion of N-rich slaughterhouse waste: Influence of ammonia, temperature and trace elements', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 174, pp. 222-32.
- Park, B, Ahn, J, Kim, J & Hwang, S 2004, 'Use of microwave pretreatment for enhanced anaerobiosis of secondary sludge', *Water Science & Technology*, vol. 50, no. 9, pp. 17-23.
- Park, S, Yoon, Y-M, Han, SK, Kim, D & Kim, H 2017, 'Effect of hydrothermal pretreatment (HTP) on poultry slaughterhouse waste (PSW) sludge for the enhancement of the solubilization, physical properties, and biogas

production through anaerobic digestion', *Waste Management*, vol. 64, pp. 327-32. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2017.03.004.</u>

- Peng, L, Bao, M, Wang, Q, Wang, F & Su, H 2014, 'The anaerobic digestion of biologically and physicochemically pretreated oily wastewater', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 151, pp. 236-43.
- Pilli, S, Bhunia, P, Yan, S, LeBlanc, R, Tyagi, R & Surampalli, R 2011, 'Ultrasonic pretreatment of sludge: A review', *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp 1-18.
- Poschl, M, Ward, S & Owende, P 2010, 'Evaluation of energy efficiency of various biogas production and utilization pathways', *Applied Energy*, vol. 87, no. 11, pp 3305-21.
- Rafique, R, Poulsen, T, Nizami, A-S, Asam, Z-u-Z, Murphy, J & Kiely, G 2010, 'Effect of thermal, chemical and thermo-chemical pre-treatments to enhance methane production', *Energy*, vol. 35, no. 12, pp. 4556-61.
- Ray, BT, Lin, J-G & Rajan, R 1990, 'Low-level alkaline solubilization for enhanced anaerobic digestion', *Research Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp 81-7.
- http://www.jstor.org/discover/10.2307/25043796?uid=40541&uid=3737536&uid= 2&uid=3&uid=67&uid=40540&uid=62&uid=5909656&sid=21102752276 941.
- Romano, R, Zhang, R, Teter, S & McGarvey, JA 2009, 'The effect of enzyme addition on anaerobic digestion of *Jose Tall* wheat grass', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 100, no. 20, pp. 4564-71.
- Saharan, B, Sahu, R & Sharma, D 2011, 'A review on biosurfactants: fermentation, current developments and perspectives', *Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology*, vol. 29, pp. 1-39.

- Saiki, Y, Lmabayashi, S, Iwabuchi, C, Kitagawa, Y, Okumura, Y & Kawamura, H 1999, 'Solubilization of excess activated sludge by self-digestion', *Water Research*, vol. 33, no. 8, pp. 1864-70.
- Salminen, E & Rintala, J 2002, 'Anaerobic digestion of organic solid poultry slaughterhouse waste – a review', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 83, no. 1, pp. 13-26.
- Sandino, J, Santha, H, Rogowski, S, Anderson, W, Sung, S & Isik, F 2005, 'Applicability of ultrasound pre-conditioning of WAS to reduce foaming potential in mesophilic digesters', in Residuals and Biosolids Management: proceedings of the Residuals and Biosolids Management Water Environment Federation, Covington, KY.
- Schmidt, T, McCabe, B & Harris, P 2018, 'Process monitoring and control for an anaerobic covered lagoon treating abattoir wastewater', *Chemical Engineering Technology*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 755-60. <u>http://doi.org/10.1002/ceat.201700391.</u>
- Schmidt, T, Ziganshin, AM, Nikolausz, M, Scholwin, F, Nelles, M, Kleinsteuber, S
  & Pröter, J 2014, 'Effects of the reduction of the hydraulic retention time to
  1.5 days at constant organic loading in CSTR, ASBR, and fixed-bed reactors
  Performance and methanogenic community composition', *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 69, pp. 241-8.
  <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.07.021</u>.
- Schwede, S, Rehman, Z-U, Gerber, M, Theiss, C & Span, R 2013, 'Effects of thermal pretreatment on anaerobic digestion of *Nannochloropsis salina* biomass', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 143, pp. 505-11. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.06.043</u>.

- Shilton, A & Harrison, J 2003, *Guidelines for the hydraulic design of waste stabilisation ponds*, Massey University, Palmerston North.
- Sievers, M, Ried, A & Koll, R 2004, 'Sludge treatment by ozonation evaluation of full-scale results', *Water Science and Technology*, vol. 49, no. 4, pp. 247-53.
- Silvestre, G, Rodriguez-Abalde, A, Fernandez, B, Flotats, X & Bonmati, A 2011, 'Biomass adaptation over anaerobic co-digestion of sewage sludge and trapped grease waste', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 102, no. 13, pp. 6830-6. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.04.019.
- Sims, KM 2013, 'Strategies to enhance conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to fermentable sugars and to enhance anaerobic digestion of algal biomass for biogas production', Master's thesis, Utah State University.
- Singh, R, Jain, M & Tauro, P 1983, 'Pre-digestion to improve production of biogas from cattle waste', *Agricultural Wastes*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 167-74.
- Sonakya, V, Raizada, N & Kalia, V 2001, 'Microbial and enzymatic improvement of anaerobic digestion of waste mass', *Biotechnology Letters*, vol. 23, no. 18, pp. 1463-6.
- Strömberg, S, Liu, J, Uvelöv, N & Nistor, M 2012, 'Cloud solution for monitoring and control of continuous anaerobic fermentation tests', in IWA conference: New developments in IT & water: proceedings of the IWA conference: New developments in IT & water.
- Stucley, C, Schuck, S, Sims, R, Bland, J, Marino, B, Borowitzka, M, Abadi, A, Bartle, J, Giles, R & Thomas, Q 2012, *Bioenergy in Australia: Status and* opportunities, Bioenergy Australia, New South Wales.

- Taherzadeh, M & Karimi, K 2008, 'Pretreatment of lignocellulosic wastes to improve ethanol and biogas production: A review', *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. 9, pp. 1621-51.
- Tanaka, S, Kobayashi, T, Kamiyama, K & Signey Bildan, M 1997, 'Effects of thermochemical pre-treatment on the anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge', *Water Science & Technology*, vol. 35, no. 8, pp. 209-15.
- UNEP & DEPA 2000, *Cleaner production assessment in meat processing*, United Nations Environment Programme, Division of Technology, Industry and Economics, Danish Environmental Protection Agency.
- UNSW 1998, *Treatment of abattoir wastewater using a covered anaerobic lagoon*, UNSW CRC for waste management and pollution control.
- Valo, A, Carrere, H & Delgenes, J 2004, 'Thermal, chemical, and thermo-chemical pre-treatment of waste activated sludge for anaerobic digestion', *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, vol. 79, no. 11, pp. 1197-203.
- van Lier, J 2008, 'High-rate anaerobic wastewater treatment: Diversifying from endof-the-pipe treatment to resource oriented conversion techniques', *Water Science and Technology*, vol. 57, no. 8, pp. 1137-48.
- Verein Deutscher Ingenieure 2006, Fermentation of organic materials -Characterisation of the substrate, sampling, collection of material data, fermentation tests, VDI 4630.
- Vlyssides, A & Karlis, P 2004, 'Thermal-alkaline solubilization of waste activated sludge as a pre-treatment stage for anaerobic digestion', *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 91, no. 2, pp. 201-6.

- Wan, C, Zhou, Q, Fu, G & Li, Y 2011, 'Semi-continuous anaerobic co-digestion of thickened waste activated sludge and fat, oil and grease', *Waste Management*, vol. 31, no. 8, pp. 1752-8.
- Wang, Z, Wang, W, Zhang, X & Zhang, G 2009, 'Digestion of thermally hydrolyzed sewage sludge by anaerobic sequencing batch reactor', *Journal of Hazardous Material*, vol. 162, no. 2-3, pp. 799-803.
- Weemaes, M, Grootaerd, H, Simoens, F & Verstraete, W 2000, 'Anaerobic digestion of ozonized biosolids', *Water Research*, vol. 34, no. 8, pp. 2330-6.
- White, T, Johns, M & Butler, B 2013, *Methane recovery and use at a meat processing facility: King Island*, Australian Government.
- Zhen, G, Lu, X, Kato, H, Zhao, Y & Li, Y-Y 2017, 'Overview of pretreatment strategies for enhancing sewage sludge disintegration and subsequent anaerobic digestion: Current advances, full-scale application and future perspectives', *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 69, pp. 559-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.11.187.</u>
- Zheng, J, Graff, R, Fillos, J & Rinard, I 1998, 'Incorporation of rapid thermal conditioning into a wastewater treatment plant', *Fuel Processing Technology*, vol. 56, pp. 183-200.
- Zhu, Z, Hsueh, M & He, Q 2011, 'Enhancing biomethanation of municipal waste sludge with grease trap waste as a co-substrate', *Renewable Energy*, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 1802-7.

# Appendix A

Review of pre-treatments used in anaerobic digestion and their potential application in high-fat cattle slaughterhouse wastewater Applied Energy 155 (2015) 560-575 Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Applied Energy

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/apenergy



( CrossMark

Review of pre-treatments used in anaerobic digestion and their potential application in high-fat cattle slaughterhouse wastewater

#### Peter W. Harris, Bernadette K. McCabe\*

National Centre for Engineering in Agriculture, University of Southern Queensland, Toowoomba, QLD, Australia

#### HIGHLIGHTS

. We review pre-treatment options applicable to wastewater high in fats and oils.

- The unique characteristics of abattoir wastewater are summarised.
- Pre-treatments are evaluated for their potential to improve anaerobic digestion.
- Appropriate pre-treatment technologies are considered on the basis of performance.
- . Limitations and future research opportunities in this area are presented.

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 6 April 2015 Received in revised form 12 June 2015 Accepted 14 June 2015 Available online 27 June 2015

Keywords: Biogas Anaerobic digestion Lipid Biomethane potential Abattoir Pre-treatment

#### ABSTRACT

This paper explores pre-treatment options for the anaerobic digestion (AD) of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse wastewater by assessing and attempting to compare pre-treatment methods used to treat various waste streams. The central focus on cattle slaughterhouse wastewater stems from the problematic nature of high fat, oil and grease (FOG) present in Australian red meat processing (RMP) waste water.

Fully integrated abattoirs such as those operating in Australia typically produce wastewaters that carry high FOG loads of 100–4000+ mg/L While excessive levels of fat can be inhibitory to the AD process, these fats contain a very high theoretical methane potential of 1014 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS when compared with carbohydrates at 370 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS and proteins at 740 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS. However, due to the hydrophobic and inhibitory nature of fat, oil and grease, accessing this methane potential is difficult. This article serves as a review of the literature in the field of pre-treatment of wastewaters and subsequent anaerobic digestion of wastes high in fat, oil and grease. This review covers mechanical pre-treatments including high-pressure homogenisation, ultrasonication and electrokinetic disintegration, and other forms of pre-treatment including thermal, chemical, thermochemical, and enzymatic hydrolysis, and biochemical emulsification. Biological pre-treatments, also known as pre-hydrolysis and two stage digestion are briefly reviewed. The most significant considerations for selecting a pre-treatment technology are the energy balance and costs. Therefore, this review will also provide a commentary on the advantages and disadvantages of the pre-treatment methods reviewed and conclude by evaluating their relative worth in pre-treating FOG.

© 2015 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Abbreviations: BMP, biomethane potential; COD, chemical oxygen demand; DMDO, dimethyldioxirane; DS, dissolved solids; FOG, fat, oil and grease; CHZ, greenhouse gasses; CHZ, gigahertz, billion hertz; HPH, high-pressure homogenisation; HRT, hydraulic retention time; KW, kitchen waste; LCFA, kong-chain fatty acids; MHz, megahertz, million hertz; MJ, megajoules, million joules; MPA, megapascils; NHz-N, ammonium as nitrogen; NOX, oxides of nitrogen; pCOD, particulate chemical oxygen demand; PL-250, pancreatic lipase 250; POME, palm oil mill effluent; POMS, peroxymonosulphate; RMP, red meat processing; SBM, stirred ball mill; sCOD, soluble chemical oxygen demand; SS, suspended solids; tCOD, total chemical oxygen demand; tHSCW, tonnes of hot standard carcass weight; TOC, total organic carbon; WW/TP, wastewater treatment plant.

\* Corresponding author. Tel.: +61 07 46 311 623; fax: +61 07 46 311 530.

E-mail addresses: Peter.Harris@usq.edu.au (P.W. Harris), Bernadette.McCabe@usq.edu.au (B.K. McCabe).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.06.026 0306-2619/© 2015 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### P.W. Harris, B.K. McCabe/Applied Energy 155 (2015) 560-575

1.	Introduction					
2.	Characteristics of abattoir wastewater					
3.	Wastewater parameters associated with biogas production					
4.	Impact of fat, oil and grease in anaerobic digestion					
	4.1. Enhancing biogas yield through co-digestion					
5.	Pre-treatment of substrates for anaerobic digestion					
	5.1. Mechanical degradation of feedstocks. 5					
	5.1.1. High-pressure homogenisation					
	5.1.2. Ultrasonic pre-treatment					
	5.1.3. Pre-treatment of feedstocks using microwave and electrokinetic disintegration.					
	5.2 Thermal hydrolysis					
	5.3 Acid and alkali and oxidative pre-treatments .					
	5.4 Thermochemical pre-treatment					
	5.5 Biological pre-treatment of AD feedstocks					
	5.5.1 Enzymatic pre-treatment of AD feedstocks. 55					
	5.5.2. Biochemical emulsification of AD feedstocks					
6.	Relative performance of pre-treatment options					
7	Merit of pre-treatment methods in abattoir wastewater in Australia 57'					
8	Conclusions					
-	Acknowledgements					
	Defenses of					

#### 1. Introduction

Global processing of cattle has intensified consistently over the past 50 years, increasing by 36.29 Mt from 27.69 Mt in 1961 to 63.98 Mt in 2013 [1] (Fig. 1). While production has more than doubled, waste mitigation techniques have lagged behind the ever increasing accumulation of waste.

Processing livestock is an energy and cost intensive process. An environmental sustainability review of the Australian red meat processing (RMP) industry conducted in 2010 revealed that 9.8 kL of water was used to generate a single tonne of hot standard carcass weight (HSCW) during 2008–2009 and generated 8.7 kL of wastewater. This consumed 4108 MJ of energy from various sources, and committed 11.3 kg of solid waste to landfill, while greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions averaged 554 kg CO<sub>2</sub>/(HSCW). Of total energy emissions, 67% were related to electricity use, and 35% of emissions contributed by anaerobic wastewater treatment [2].

The Australian RMP industry is currently working on a range of measures in an effort to reduce carbon pollution and improve energy efficiency through actively seeking renewable sources of energy and water recovery. This has been largely in response to a variety of factors including prolonged drought, water restrictions and rising water costs, rising fuel and energy costs, increased community focus, and GHG emissions. Several knowledge gaps have been identified in which research is needed to reduce the



Fig. 1. Growth in global meat production from 1961-2013 [1].

industry's emissions and energy costs [3]. One of the technologies identified as a potential solution reducing emission and energy costs is anaerobic digestion (AD). It has been demonstrated that AD technology can play a major role in waste management and the production of biogas in the abattoirs [4]. The methane produced can be combusted to generate heat and electricity (CHP), or can be refined into renewable natural gas and transport fuels [5]. In addition, AD can be used to manage waste and reduce greenhouse gas emissions, and the digestate may be used or sold as a valuable organic fertilizer substitute or soil amendment [6].

561

Red meat processors have embraced the uptake of AD systems to treat high-strength wastewater and thereby reduce emissions. In Australia, AD systems typically take the form of low-rate anaerobic lagoons, which are well suited to the vacant land space available with a move to covered anaerobic lagoons to capture methane and reduce GHG emissions [7]. While it has been noted that anaerobic lagoons are not optimised treatment strategies, they are low-capital investments which can affect a large degree of organic degradation and methane generation [8].

The high-strength wastewaters produced in Australian abattoirs tend to contain high levels of fat, oil and grease (FOG) with values ranging between 5 and 4570 mg/L in grab samples [9]. While AD is effective for the degradation of many substrates, FOG present several challenges. Before waste reaches the digester, FOG can adhere to pipe walls and begin the accumulating to form blockages. In the case of covered anaerobic lagoons FOG typically has two fates; accumulation in fatty crust or hydrolysis and digestion to form methane. It has been observed that a large portion of the fatty material floats to the liquid surface along with cellulosics from paunch material to form a fatty crust [10–13]. Fat particles that are hydrolysed to long-chain fatty acids (LCFA) may subsequently adhere to the surface of the sludge microbes. These LCFA form a layer over the microbial surface, producing reversible inhibition of mass-transfer between the microbes and the medium [14].

Australian abattoirs stand to benefit substantially if an appropriate pre-treatment method can be developed to improve the bioavailability and subsequent conversion of FOG to methane. McCabe et al. [15] has shown that biogas production can potentially vary tenfold depending on factors such as lagoon efficiency and operational practices. While no current AD system currently

#### P.W. Harris, B.K. McCabe/Applied Energy 155 (2015) 560-575

#### Table 1 Concentrations of parameters of high-strength wastewater produced by abattoirs.

Parameter (mg/L)	Residential-strength <sup>a</sup>	Typical abattoir raw wastewater (all meats) <sup>b</sup>	King Island (beef) <sup>c</sup>	Southern Meats wastewater ex DAF (sheep) <sup>d</sup>	Churchill abattoir (beef) <sup>e</sup>
BOD	100-400	1600-3000	3000	~1/2 COD	163-7020
COD		4200-8500	7250	3100-11,500	1040-12,100
FOG	50-150	100-200	120	290-2670	5-2110
TSS	100-400	1300-3400	2000	1150-5700	457-6870
VSS		n/a	n/a	1040-5300	n/a
TN		114-148	450	180-440	296-785
NOx		n/a		0.01-0.12	n/a
NH4-N		65-87	250	18-135	23.8-349
Total P		20-30	45	26.4-60	n/a
VFA		175-400	n/a	61-600	1020-1980
Alkalinity		350-800	n/a	340-700	70-906

n/a indicates not available

<sup>a</sup> Benefield [19].

<sup>b</sup> Johns [18]. <sup>c</sup> White et al. [13].

<sup>d</sup> UNSW [10].

<sup>o</sup> McCabe et al. [12].

<sup>4</sup> Value is for NH<sub>2</sub>-N.

deals with FOG effectively, typically the more sophisticated the anaerobic digestion technology, the less capable they are of handling FOG loads [16,8].

In the context of this review, pre-treatment does not refer to the action of screens, dissolved air flotation systems, contra shears and screw presses which act to capture and separate solids from the waste streams. Here, pre-treatment refers to the treatment of the wastewater to enhance the availability of substrates to microbes and thereby improve the removal of organics and increase reaction kinetics and or total biogas production. The aim of this review is to identify available methods that have commonly been used to treat various substrates that may translate well to FOG pre-treatment. including but not limited to, waste activated sludge (WAS), kitchen waste and grease trap sludge. Biological pre-treatments, also known as pre-hydrolysis and two-stage digestion, are briefly reviewed, as this process is concerned with changing the inoculum as opposed to changing the waste feedstock to enhance digestion. Pre-treatment of FOG is rarely investigated, typically in the form of enzymatic pre-treatments, and little comparison between the effects of various pre-treatment types has been reported. This review investigates several forms of pre-treatment in their ability to enhance methane production. Where possible, investigations into pre-treatment of FOG or high-fat substrates are cited in preference to investigations which treat substrates more removed from abattoir wastewater. The most significant considerations for selecting a pre-treatment technology are the energy balance and costs. Therefore, this review will also provide some preliminary commentary on the advantages and disadvantages of the pre-treatment methods reviewed and conclude by evaluating their relative worth in pre-treating FOG

#### 2. Characteristics of abattoir wastewater

The main types of wastes from abattoirs include organic solid wastes generated during meat processing and wastewaters from washing at various stages of the process. Australian RMP wastewater is generated at high volumes and characterised as having high organic, fat and nutrient loading. Volumes are typically around 850 kL/day with organic content of 5700 kg COD/day. In Australia, a typical abattoir is defined as processing 150 tHSCW per day, equivalent to 625 head of cattle. Production is assumed to take place 5 days a week, 250 days per year, including boning and rendering [17]. While Johns [18] has determined typical values

for abattoir wastewater, case studies have reported pollutant concentrations far greater than the typical [12,10]; Table 1). Abattoir wastewater becomes high-strength due to the accumulation of constituents including blood, fat, paunch, protein and excrement in the water. The composition of Australian RMP wastewaters may vary significantly from abattoir wastewaters in other countries. This is due to the fully integrated facilities in Australia which include slaughter, boning and rendering processes at the same plant [20]. In contrast, German abattoirs, for example, are required by law to perform rendering in an off-site facility [21]. Furthermore, the high-strength wastewaters produced in Australian abattoirs tend to contain high levels of FOG compared with their non-integrated equivalents. For this reason, care must be taken when comparing reports from various abattoirs around the world. While large integrated beef slaughterhouses in the USA show excellent similarities with data from Australian abattoirs, Australian abattoirs tend to generate higher volumes of higher-strength wastewaters than their European counterparts [20,17]. While high-strength wastewaters typically contribute well to biogas production, the FOG component tends to be problematic [22].

#### 3. Wastewater parameters associated with biogas production

The wastewater parameters which are of particular interest to this review are those which could be logically associated with increased biogas production, including soluble COD (sCOD), volatile solids (VS), FOG, fat particle size, and volatile fatty acids (VFA) [16,23,24]. Pre-treatments are often assessed with respect to sCOD release and degradation [25]. As treatments rupture cells, the intracellular contents are released into the extracellular medium, contributing to the soluble fraction of COD [26]. As a measure of pre-treatment impact on substrate degradation, sCOD appears to be useful. However, while sCOD may increase in response to a pre-treatment, the relationship between sCOD and biogas production is complex, and as such, does not necessarily indicate an increase in biogas production [27]. Therefore, if biogas production is to be reported with respect to sCOD degradation, further information must be collected to support findings.

Although less commonly investigated as a measure of pre-treatment impact, specific methane production is regularly reported with respect to degradation of VS [28]. Also known as organic solids, VS is made up of carbohydrates, proteins and fats,

typically derived from organisms, but may also include artificial organic compounds. Consequently, there is a strong correlation between VS degradation and biogas production [16]. Given this strong correlation, measuring VS as an indicator of pre-treatment impact may be more valuable than measuring sCOD. Due to the lack of standardization in the reporting of pre-treatment impact on AD performance, this review will cover the majority common measurements.

This review is particularly focused on the degradation of FOG. either during the pre-treatment process, or during the AD process as a result of pre-treatment. Measurement of FOG content can be done before and after pre-treatment, and post-digestion. Fat particle size reduction is another favourable outcome of pre-treatment. A reduction in particle size increases the surface area to volume ratio of the fat content, increasing the area susceptible to chemical and enzymatic interaction [29]. Logically, this should increase total methane production, but may result in temporary inhibition due to increased LCFA content. Further degradation of LCFA will produce VFA, which are also of interest as these are an end product of the acidogenic and acetogenic pathways of anaerobic digestion, and a feedstock for methanogenic bacteria. While VFA at concentrations of 6.7-9 mM are toxic to methanogens, if a pre-treatment were capable of degrading triglycerides and LCFA to VFA, the process could significantly enhance reaction kinetics [30].

#### 4. Impact of fat, oil and grease in anaerobic digestion

The fat, oil and grease component of high-strength wastes, such as those created in abattoirs, can induce several problems including clogging of pipes, adhesion to sludge causing both inhibition of mass-transfer of nutrients and sludge flotation with subsequent washout [31,14]. Covered anaerobic lagoons suffer further complications, with FOG reacting with cover materials to compromise the material integrity, inhibition of gas permeation and therefore capture by the cover. This crust material can significantly reduce the effective volume of the digester and is largely unavailable to the anaerobic consortium as very little is accessible by hydrolytic enzymes.

Anaerobic lagoons can receive large volumes of FOG and continue to function for long periods of time before the lagoon fails. This is likely due to the lack of mixing in a lagoon, allowing FOG to float to the lagoon surface along with lignocellulosic material to form a fatty crust. The accumulation of crust on the lagoon surface heavily restricts the functional volume of the lagoon in time, through the generation of dead space, resulting in short circuiting [32]. Fig. 2 depicts a schematic diagram of the impact of crust accumulation on the functional volume of an anaerobic layoon. In a continuously fed anaerobic lagoon this process is unsustainable, and accumulation of FOG as crust has typically outweighed FOG consumption. If FOG accumulation is not monitored and dealt with accordingly, crust can accumulate to several meters thick with surprising density as shown in Fig. 3 [12]. Not only does this make cleaning from large lagoons difficult and expensive, the issue of how to deal with waste FOG after removal has not been addressed



Fig. 2. Illustration of dead space contributed by crust and sludge volume resulting in a large reduction in functional pond volume.



Fig. 3. Section of crust removed from an anaerobic lagoon by an excavator after desludging indicating crust thickness [12].

[11]. While this accumulation is far from ideal, a managed crust does offer some benefit in odour reduction, pond insulation, and FOG locked up in crust is relatively unavailable to cause process inhibition [33,34].

Alternatively, high rate systems with active heating and mixing bring microbes into greater contact with FOG and LCFA. Subsequently, high rate AD systems are more sensitive to FOG loadings and are at a greater risk of resulting failure than anaerobic lagoons [35]. While microbes can be acclimated to FOG loadings this is a typically slow process with time required to acclimate increasing with FOG loading [36]. A move towards covered high rate anaerobic lagoon (COHRAL) technology to treat abattoir waste water which incorporates novel waste water distribution and settling systems is underway with the recent commissioning of the first lagoon in Australia [37]. The monitoring of this type of system will be particularly useful in assessing the overall impact of FOG loading and AD performance.

While anaerobic lagoons are currently considered the most suitable digester type for handling wastes with high FOG content. new research into anaerobic membrane reactor (AnMBR) technology has shown great promise in wastewater treatment, especially in wastes with high FOG loads. Christian et al. [38] reported on the first two years of treating high-strength industrial wastewater at Ken's Foods in Massachusetts, USA. This AnMBR, the largest in the world in 2011, has a design 475 m3/d with COD, BOD and TSS loadings of 39,000 mg/L, 18,000 mg/L and 12,000 mg/L respectively. The AnMBR produces consistently high-quality effluent with non-detectable TSS, and average COD and BOD concentrations of 210 and 20 mg/L, giving removals of 99.4% and 99.9% respectively. Furthermore, AnMBR reactors have been loaded with COD in the order of 5-30 kg COD/m<sup>3</sup>/d, and FOG loading of up to 4-6 kg/m<sup>3</sup> with removal rates of 97% and 100% removal efficiency respectively [35,39]. However, few investigations have involved large FOG loadings being treated using AnMBR technology. Given that high-rate AD systems are typically sensitive to FOG loadings, more research should be conducted to investigate the feasibility of FOG digestion using AnMBR technology [14].

#### 4.1. Enhancing biogas yield through co-digestion

While FOG have typically been viewed as a negative influence they have much to offer AD operations. Addition of FOG to an AD system has the potential to significantly increase biogas production [40]. When the theoretical biochemical methane potential (BMP) of macromolecules is compared, lipids are capable of

#### P.W. Harris, B.K. McCabe/Applied Energy 155 (2015) 560-575

Table 2 Effect of co-digesting substrates with FOC-rich co-substrates on methane vield

564

Co-substrates	Feed ratio	CH <sub>4</sub> volume	CH4 %	Reference	
Sewage sludge and grease trap sludge	100:0	278 m²/t VS added	63	Luostarinen et al. [45	
	54:46	463 m <sup>2</sup> /t VS added	62	-	
		(+66% CH4 vield)			
Sewage sludge and grease trap sludge	100:0	271 m <sup>2</sup> /t VS added	65	Davidsson et al. [46]	
	70:30	344 m <sup>2</sup> /t VS added	69		
		(+27% CH <sub>4</sub> yield)			
Pig slurry and waste sardine oil	100:0	0.43 m <sup>2</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /m <sup>2</sup> digester/d	72	Ferreira et al. [47]	
	95:5	1.61 m <sup>2</sup> CH <sub>4</sub> /m <sup>2</sup> /digester/d	70		
		(+274% CH <sub>4</sub> vield)			
Poultry manure and olive-oil mill wastewater	100:0% v/v	0.43 L/(L <sub>p</sub> /d)	74.1	Gelegenis et al. [48]	
-	75:25% v/v	0.52 L/(L <sub>R</sub> /d)	71.8		
		(+21% CH4 vield)			
Sewage sludge and grease trap waste	77:23 VS	+138% CH <sub>4</sub> yield		Silvestre et al. [44]	

vielding more methane at 1014 L/kg VS than both proteins at 740 L/kg VS and carbohydrates at 370 L/kg VS [41,22]. These theoretical values were supported by Labatut [42], with observed specific biomethane yields ranging from 903.9 to 1101.2 L/kg VS for lipids, 302.5-407.3 L/kg VS for proteins and 191.8-359.3 L/kg VS for carbohydrates digested under mesophilic conditions. Indeed, co-digestion of substrates with FOG has produced significant increases in biogas production. Li et al. [43] compared the biogas produced from digestion of WAS with WAS co-digested with FOG using BMP tests. While the WAS control produced 117 ± 2.02 mL/g TVS (total volatile solids), the reactor co-digesting WAS with FOG produced 418 ± 13.7 mL/g TVS. This represents more than 350% increase in biogas production attributed to the addition of FOG. Similarly, Silvestre et al. [44] co-digested sewage sludge with trapped grease waste. Not only did this study result in increased biogas production by 138%, but found that acetic and  $\beta$ -oxidation syntrophic acetogenic activities were 2.5 and 3.75 times higher than the initial inoculum respectively. This suggested that sludge could become acclimatised to greater FOG loads over time, and that this could be an effective strategy for improving fat degradation and reducing the inhibitory effects of LCFA. Table 2 lists several investigations which support the conclusion that co-digestion with FOG can significantly improve methane yields by considerable volumes.

However, co-digestion is dependent on access to available waste streams. Investigation of co-digestion using Australian abattoir wastewater is only in its infancy and is noted to be a multifaceted issue which goes beyond simply sourcing feedstocks for AD. The Australian RMP industry consists of medium to large enterprises which are often not located within close proximity to other agro-industrial waste streams. Subsequently, co-digestion is currently not an economically viable option for Australian abattoirs. Thus, Australian RMP industries which employ biogas facilities use abattoir wastewater as a monosubstrate. Ortner et al. [49] exemplifies the situation of developing a reliable monodigestion process using slaughterhouse waste as the sole substrate. Beyond co-digestion, pre-treatment of FOG offers the next step to enhancing the AD process.

#### 5. Pre-treatment of substrates for anaerobic digestion

In the context of this review, pre-treatment refers to the treatment of the wastewater to enhance the availability of substrates to microbes and thereby improve the removal of organics and increase reaction kinetics and or total biogas production. Substrate availability may be enhanced through several mechanisms, resulting in liberation of sequestered organics, enhance surface area to volume ratio of, or hydrolysis of macromolecules. To achieve these goals, pre-treatments typically aim to enhance hydrolysis, the rate-limiting step of the AD process [50]. There are several different methods available to achieve this, including biological, mechanical, thermal, chemical, enzymatic, and biochemical approaches [16,23]. While this review contains collated literature data on various pre-treatment methods, due to non-standardised reporting and the great variability within between research projects, direct comparison is difficult. Although projects that report on methane and biogas production are preferred, projects which report on other variables such as VS and SCOD are valuable to inform further research.

Fig. 4 illustrates the effect of pre-treatments on rate of anaerobic digestion (i.e. reaction kinetics; pre-treatment b) and increase the methane yield (pre-treatment c). Both effects will improve the operation of a biogas plant. However, depending on when a BMP test is ended, different interpretations are possible: t1: pre-treatment b double the methane yield; t2: none of the pre-treatment methods increase methane yield; t3: pre-treatment c increases the methane yield y 25%, but pre-treatment b has no effect [51].

Carlsson et al. [52] reviewed pre-treatments in literature applied to different substrate categories in lab-, pilot- and full-scale studies as well as discussed in reviews (112 papers from 1978 to 2011). The pie-chart (Fig. 5) illustrates the number of times each substrate-type occurs in combination with a pre-treatment; the total number of occurrences is larger than the number of articles since several articles discuss more than one pre-treatment type. The bar-charts illustrate the distribution among the different pre-treatments for each substrate-type. The literature was selected so as to cover as many different types of substrates, pre-treated with as many processes and/or technologies as possible.



duration of anaerobic digestion

#### Fig. 4. Effect of pre-treatments on rate of anaerobic digestion and increase the methane yield [51].





#### Table 3

The effect of various pre-treatment methods on substrates.

Pre-treatment	Substrate	Treatment		Effect	Source
		Conditions	Time		
Ultrasonic	Waste vegetable oil	2000 kJ/kg TS	N/A	+41,932% organic content (emulsification)	Moisan [53]
Thermal	WAS	60, 80 and 100 °C	Not disclosed	+30% biogas produced	Ho [54]
Chemical	WAS	7 g NaOH/L	Not disclosed	+31.7% sCOD content	Kim et al. [50]
Thermo-chemical	Waste kitchen oil + KW	pH 10, 55 °C Stirred	90 min	+9.9 ± 1.5% biogas produced	Li et al. [55]
Biochemical	FOG	500 mg/L	N/A	+87 ± 13% sCOD removal	Nakhla et al. [23]

. KW - kitchen waste; sCOD - soluble chemical oxygen demand; TS - total solids.

Table 3 gives an indication of some of these pre-treatment methods applied to substrates, with an emphasis on FOG-rich wastes. It is important to note that the effects of various pre-treatments have not been reported in a standard format. As such, while investigations have been conducted using various pre-treatment methods, it is difficult to compare their impact in terms of altering biogas yield.

#### 5.1. Mechanical degradation of feedstocks

Mechanical pre-treatments are commonly used to enhance digestion of cellular wastes such as sludges (e.g. WAS), cellulosics (e.g. crop waste), and other similar wastes. The aim of these pre-treatments are to rupture the cell walls of the cells in these feedstocks, a process which can be reduced from days to minutes through mechanical pre-treatment [56]. This branch of pre-treatments requires the action of units such as, but not limited to, stirred-ball mills (SBM), high-pressure homogenisers (HPH), ultrasonicators, and less commonly, units which emit microwaves and electrical fields. While SBM is not expected to be effective in pre-treating FOG, HPH has been applied to dairy milk with some encouraging results, and therefore is the mechanical pre-treatment which will be covered in this review. Table 4 at the end of this section lists several mechanical pre-treatment methods and summarises the conditions and results of numerous investigations.

#### 5.1.1. High-pressure homogenisation

Popular in large-scale operations, HPH works by compressing waste and projecting at high speed against an impact ring. The turbulence, cavitation and shear stresses applied to the waste disintegrate cells, releasing cellular contents into the medium (Fig. 6; P.W. Harris, B.K. McCabe/Applied Energy 155 (2015) 560-575

566 Table 4

lechanical pre-treatments, wastes treated, conditions, and results from the literature.

Pre-treatment	Pre-treatment conditions	Results	Reference	
Ball mill	WAS	+42% sCOD content +20-50% gas produced	Baier and Schmidheiny [57]	
нрн	30-50 bar	+551% sCOD content +86% soluble protein +11-15 VS removal	Choi et al. [58]	
	150-600 bar	+30% biogas produced	Onyeche [59]	
	600 bar	+28-54% biogas produced	Engelhart et al. [60]	
Mechanical jet	WAS, (30 bar)	+500% sCOD content	Nah et al. [61]	
Sonication	WAS WAS	No improvement in VS removal +11-39% sCOD content	Sandino et al. [62] Khanal et al. [63]	
	WAS, 6000 kJ/kg TS	+30-80% hydrolysis constant value	Braguglia et al. [64]	
	Meat processing effluent, 120 MJ/kg TS	+55.9% oil removed +14.73% COD removed	Erden et al. [65]	
	Meat processing effluent, 750 MJ/kg TS	+76.74% COD removed		
	WAS, 0.5 W/mL, 5 min	-92% particle size	Biggs and Lant [66]	
	Municipal solid waste, 0:1–0.4 W/mL, 30–60 min	+24% biogas produced +71.8% sCOD content	Cesaro et al. [67]	
Microwave	WAS, 0.3-300 GHz, 15 min	+22% sCOD content +79% CH4 produced	Park et al. [68]	
Electrical field	WAS, 8000 kJ/kg DS	+9% sludge digestion	Kopplow et al. [69]	



Fig. 6. Diagrammatic disintegration of waste activated sludge by high-pressure homogenisation [70].

[70,16]. While this technology has been successfully applied to disintegration of algal biomass and heavily utilised in the field of sludge disintegration, there is little available literature which considers HPH for pre-treatment of lignocellulosic biomass or fatty substrates. Choi et al. [58] investigated the ability of HPH to disrupt bacterial cells in sludge, assessed on the basis that the majority of the bacterial cytoplasm consists of protein, and subsequent release of protein was caused by cellular disruption. Pressures of 0.5, 1, 2, 3 and 5 MPa were investigated for their ability to increase protein concentration. After a single treatment, protein concentration increased significantly. Each sample was treated a further four times at the nominated pressure, and assessed for protein concentration following each treatment. Protein concentration continued to increase for each subsequent treatment. After the full five treatments, protein concentration increased from 14% untreated. to 35%, 55%, 75%, 80% and 86% in the 0.5 MPa, 1 MPa, 2 MPa, 3 MPa and 5 MPa treatments respectively. Choi et al. [58] also report on the effect of a single treatment event on the concentration of sCOD, total organic carbon (TOC) and alkalinity as mg of calcium carbonate (mgCaCO3) as a representation of system buffering capacity. After a single treatment at 5 MPa, the average

concentrations increased from: sCOD - 152 mg/L to 1250 mg/L; TOC - 90 mg/L to 1010 mg/L; and alkalinity - 229 to 280 mgCaCO<sub>3</sub>/L.

High-pressure homogenisation operations have also been conducted at much greater pressures. Engelhart et al. [60] investigated the effect of HPH under pressures including 5 MPa, 30 MPa and 60 MPa on the disintegration of excess sludge. Disintegration was quantified by measuring COD release and oxygen consumption, while other notable measurements include total solids (TS), VS and ammonium–nitrate (NH4–N). As seen with Choi et al. [58], Engelhart et al. [60] also measured an increase in several treatment parameters with increasing pressure. Release of COD increased from 4.1 ± 0.9% in the 5 MPa treatment to 21.7 ± 4.8%, and 43.4 ± 11.2% in the 30 MPa and 60 MPa treatments respectively. Oxygen consumption also increased with pressure from 6.6 ± 1.4% in the 5 MPa treatment, to 41.0 ± 15.4% and 79.2 ± 4.6% in the 30 MPa and 60 MPa treatments respectively. Ammoniumnitrate measurements indicating the digestion of protein indicated that protein liberation increased significantly with greater pressures. The 5 MPa treatment resulted in ammonium-nitrogen production of 68.7 ± 4.9 mg/L, while the 30 MPa and 60 MPa treatments produced 199.2 ± 129.0 mg/L and 290.3 ± 117.7 mg/L respectively. Initially, total and volatile solids were not significantly impacted by these treatments. However, once subject to digestion, VS degradation was enhanced up to 25%, resulting in a higher specific biogas production by 12% with respect to VS eliminated. Interestingly, while there is no literature that investigates the use of HPH as a pre-treatment for FOG-rich wastes, HPH is widely used for treatment and emulsification of dairy products. Hayes and Kelly [71] investigated the effect of HPH on raw whole bovine milk on globule size among other properties. Fat globules in milks treated with HPH (50–200 MPa) were significantly smaller than those in conventionally-homogenised samples. However, subsequent investigation suggested that achieving low fat globule size was more dependent on having the fat in a liquid state when exiting the primary homogenisation valve than the actual homogenisation pressure. However, Thiebaud et al. [72] investigated impacts of HPH on dairy milk, and determined that HPH reduces the particle size of fat globules in dairy milk. Particle size reductions of 79%, 83% and 90% were measured at 4 °C, 14 °C and 24 °C respectively under a treatment pressure of 200 MPa (Fig. 7).

P.W. Harris, B.K. McCabe/Applied Energy 155 (2015) 560-575



Fig. 7. Effect of homogenisation pressure on the size distribution of fat globules in milk, at an inlet temperature of 4 °C: 0.1 MPa (Control) (~), 100 MPa (~-), 150 MPa (...), 200 MPa (Δ), 250 MPa (•), and 200 MPa (0). Clustering was not observed at any homogenisation pressure used [72].

While some investigations have assessed the effect of HPH on substrates that are suitable for AD, they have been focussed on the impact to the substrate, and not on AD. Subsequently, it is unknown how the changes in these substrates would impact the BMP achievable through digestion.

#### 5.1.2. Ultrasonic pre-treatment

Like HPH, ultrasonication has also been applied sparingly to FOG-rich substrates. The mode of action of ultrasonication appears to be more sophisticated than SBM and HPH. As ultrasound waves propagate through the medium they create regions of compression and rarefaction. Microbubbles formed in this process grow in successive cycles and reach an unstable diameter at which they violently collapse in a process known as cavitation. Cavitational collapse produces intense local heating and high pressure (around 5000 °C and over 500 atmospheres with a lifetime of a few microseconds) on a liquid-gas interface, and, turbulence and high shearing phenomena in the liquid phase [65,24]. Furthermore, cavitation produces highly reactive H<sup>+</sup> and OH<sup>+</sup> radicals which facilitate chemical reactions for destroying organic materials. These chemical reactions are further favoured by the high temperature and pressure generated at the site of cavitation [73].

While sonication is effective in the degradation of many cellular wastes, including for example crop silage, wheat, hay and sludge [53,24,74], there are few investigations which report on the effect of sonication on FOG digestion [55]. Moisan [53] investigated the effects of ultrasonication on paper sludge, switch grass, hay, wheat straw and FOG as spent vegetable oil. For each instance, sonicated substrates released more organic carbon into solution than unsonicated substrates. This effect was exaggerated in the case of oil treatment. While the treatment of paper sludge, switch grass, hay, and wheat straw result in the degradation of cells and the release of organic contents into the solution, the effect of treatment on oil was to create an emulsion. Unsonicated, the oil-water solution presented an organic carbon content of 4.832 ± 0.79 mg/L. Following sonication, the solution was creamy in texture and presented an organic carbon content of 2031 ± 151 mg/L. The author noted that this effect is due to the dissolution of long-chain fatty acids in the water, and that this may have influenced the AD results obtained. Biogas production for the sonicated and unsonicated samples were measured, the sonicated sample produced a much greater rate of biogas production over the first 250 h of digestion. Beyond 250 h, the production of biogas from the sonicated FOG mirrored that of the unsonicated oil. By 825 h, unsonicated oil produced biogas equivalent to 1.56 m3/kg VS, and sonicated FOG produced 1.66 m3/kg VS at an assumed CH4 content of 60%. Similarly, Li et al. [55] reported that not only was ultrasonic



Fig. 8. Rate of methane production after microwave and ultrasonic pre-treatment [75].

pre-treatment ineffective in enhancing biogas production, but such pre-treatment introduced inhibitory effects on FOG co-digestion. However, the results by Moisan [53] suggest a possible procedural exploit which may be taken advantage of to degrade FOG more quickly in low-retention digesters. The extreme temperatures and pressures generated during cavitational collapse, aided by the formation of H and OH radicals create an environment which would favour degradation of FOG to LCFA and VFA. This would explain the early spike in biogas production, which tapered off to ultimately produce similar biogas yields as seen by Moisan [53].

Saifuddin and Fazlili [75] investigated ultrasonic pre-treatment of 2% palm oil mill effluent (POME) in distilled water. Samples of 200 mL were sonicated at 20 kHz and 100 W for 10 and 30 min. Sonication for 30 min at 0.2 W/mL affected an 18% increase in SCOD from 11% to 29%, and increased methane production by 19% from 37 mL to 44 mL. These treatments were later combined with microwave treatment for more encouraging results (Fig. 8).

#### 5.1.3. Pre-treatment of feedstocks using microwave and electrokinetic disintegration

Microwave pre-treatment operates by irradiating a sample with an oscillation frequency 0.3–300 GHz. The alternating electric field by microwave irradiation causes rapid alignment and realignment of dipoles in a polar solvent, with continuous repetitions generating friction, and thereby local heat generation [75]. Microwaves are reported as effective for solubilising sludge, household organic waste, energy crops/plant residues, food industry waste and manure, and is generally considered effective in enhancing biogas production from AD [52,76]. Although it is possible that the heat generated from microwave pre-treatment may result in thermal hydrolysis of FOG, microwave pre-treatment of FOG-rich waste is rarely investigated.

Saifuddin and Fazlili [75] investigated the effects of microwave pre-treatment on palm oil mill effluent. While POME contained a high FOG content of 4000 mg/L, POME was diluted to 2% TVS in distilled water. Samples were irradiated using a 2450 MHz, 700 W microwave oven for 3 and 7 min. The 3 min treatment consumed 252 kJ/L of sludge, and produced increases in temperature from 10 °C to 59.4 °C, in sCOD content from 11% to 21% and in BOD5/sCOD ratio from 0.44 to 0.56, and an increase in methane production by 57% from 37 mL to 58 mL. Irradiation for 7 min consumed 588 kJ/L and increased temperature from 10 to 91.8 °C, sCOD from 11% to 45%, and BOD<sub>5</sub>/sCOD ratio from 0.44 to 0.93. Both the 3 min microwave, and the 10 min ultrasonic pre-treatment mentioned previously were combined for treatment of a single sample. The total input energy for this treatment was 372 kJ/L of sludge. By combining pre-treatment methods, methane production was increased by 164% from 37 mL to 98 mL (Fig. 8).

The effect of combined microwave-ultrasonic pre-treatment on the anaerobic biodegradability of primary sludge and excess activated sludge was investigated by Yeneneh et al. [77]. Microwave

treatment was conducted at 2450 MHz, 800 W for 3 min, followed by ultrasonication with a density of 0.4 W/mL, 90% amplitude, 150 W intensity, pulse of 55/5 for 6 min. Pre-treatment produced an increase in methane yield in both primary sludge and excess activated sludge trials, with increases from 7.9 to 11.9 mL/g tCOD (+50.6%) and 20.7 to 66.5 mL/g/tCOD (+221%) respectively. While this microwave-ultrasonic pre-treatment method has been effective in microbial cell-based substrates, it is difficult to extrapolate these results to other substrates.

Electrokinetic disintegration is mainly used for the treatment of sewage sludge. The process aids AD by breaking apart flocs and aggregates which are formed by negatively charged molecules on microbial extracellular polymeric substances that result in the formation of ionic bonds with cations. These ionic bonds are disrupted through the application of an electrical field, breaking apart the flocs. Furthermore, it is also likely that electrical fields disrupt cells by changing the charge of the cell membranes. Electrical fields have been applied in pre-treatment to several substrates. However, positive outcomes appear to be restricted to sludge and manure wastes [52]. As is a recurring theme among the mechanical pre-treatment methods, the effects of electrokinetic pre-treatments on FOG have not been investigated.

#### 5.2. Thermal hydrolysis

The concept behind thermal pre-treatment is to expose substrates to elevated temperatures for long enough to promote chemical reactions and solubilise larger biomolecules. While temperatures typically range between 150 and 220 °C under pressures of 600–2500 kPa, lower temperature pre-treatments have been investigated [16,78]. Many European researchers are required to adhere to the EC 1069/2009 regulation for the treatment of animal by-products not intended for human consumption. Thermal pre-treatment of WAS has been heavily investigated, while other applications such as manure, abattoir waste, lignocellulosics and

#### Table 5

Thermal pre-treatments, wastes treated, conditions, and resul	s from the literature.
---	------------------------

even algal biomass have received little attention [16,52,79–81]. There have been few investigations into thermal pre-treatment of FOG-rich wastes. Fortunately, these investigations have yielded some encouraging results. Hiraoka et al. [82], pre-treated substrates high in triglyceride content and measured the decomposition of glyceride fatty acids to produce significant increases in acetic, propionic, butyric and valeric acid following thermal pre-treatment. Subsequent digestion displayed an increase in biogas production of 30%. Similar results were measured by Wilson et al. [83], with pre-treatment at 170 °C vastly enhancing acetic acid content of feed sludge. Equivalent increases in biogas production share also been supported in research by Li and Jin [84]. Table 5 lists the conditions and results of numerous investigations into thermal pre-treatment.

#### 5.3. Acid and alkali and oxidative pre-treatments

Addition of acids and bases to AD feedstocks have been heavily investigated across a range of substrates including sludges, wastewater treatment plant residues, organic waste, plant residues and manures [16,52]. While acid hydrolysis has been investigated using sulphuric and hydrochloric acids, the addition of alkalis are more efficient at enhancing the AD process [99]. Of the alkaline pre-treatments which have been investigated, sodium hydroxide (NaOH) is the most effective for enhancing organics hydrolysis and the AD process [50].

Kim et al. [50] determined that optimal dosing of WAS with sodium hydroxide was 7 g/L NaOH, bringing the solution to pH 12. The duration at which the substrate was held at pH 12 was not mentioned. This pre-treatment increased sCOD content by approximately 478% from 2250 mg/L to around 13,000 mg/L. Digestion resulted in greater sCOD removal from 1136 mg/L in the control to 4941 mg/L, an increase of 335%. Degradation of VS was also improved from 20.5% up to 29.8% in the chemically treated sample. Both biogas production and methane content

Pre-treatment	Pre-treatment conditions	Results	Reference
Thermal	WAS, 70 °C, 1-7d	+19.8-85.9% CH4 produced	Gavala et al. [78]
	WAS, 121 °C, 30 min	+32% biogas produced	Kim et al. [85]
	WAS, 121 °C, 60 min	+20% biogas produced	Barjenbruch and Kopplow [86]
	WAS, 170 °C, 60 min	+45% CH4 produced	Valo et al. [87]
	WAS, 170 °C, 60 s	+49% biogas produced	Dohányos et al. [88]
	WAS, 175 °C, 40 min	+65% TSS removal	Craja et al. [89]
	WAS, 130 °C, 30 min	-70-80% VSS/TSS ratio	Bougrier et al. [90]
	WAS, 170 °C, 30 min	+51% CH4 produced	Bougrier et al. [91]
	WAS, 110 °C, 30 min	+464% FVS/TSS ratio	Bougrier et al. [92]
	WAS, 135 °C, 35 min	+34% sCOD content	
	WAS, 190 °C, 50 min	+46% sCOD content	
	WAS, 116 °C, 38–73 min	+383-429% FVS/TVS ratio	
	WAS, 122 °C, 20–90 min	+306-1410% FVS/TVS ratio	
	WAS, 128 °C, 38-73 min	+814-1441% FVS/TVS ratio	
	WAS, 134 °C, 55 min	+1104% FVS/TVS ratio	
	WAS, 165 °C, 30 min	+47-61% biodegradability	Mottet et al. [93]
	WAS, 170 °C, 30 min	+765% sCOD content	Wang et al. [94]
	Pig manure, 100 °C, 1 h	+31% biogas produced	Rafique et al. [95]
	Slaughterhouse waste, 133 °C, 20 min, >3 bar	Formation of refractory compounds. Unsuccessful in enhancing biodegradability of linids and nitrogenetick works	Cuetos et al. [79]
Steam explosion	Salix 170-220 °C 5-15 min	+50% methone produced	Estavas et al (96)
Steam explosion	Conductivity thickened WAS 124 °C	+4879-7987% cCOD content	Cionico et al. [97]
	Gravity difficience who, 154 C	+2190% total soluble nitrozen	Gameo et al [37]
		+1271% soluble NUC-N content	
	Dynamic thickened WAS	+2217-2289% sCOD content	
	Synamic encyclica (775	+3862% total soluble nitrogen +771% soluble NWT-N content	
	220 °C, 30 s	+80% biogas produced +55% TS solubilised	Zheng et al. [98]

increased in response to the treatment, with increases of 13.4% and 12.8% respectively.

Massé et al. [100] investigated the effect of alkaline pre-treatment on the solubilisation and size reduction of pork fat particles in abattoir waste. While sCOD was not impacted by addition of 50–400 meq NaOH/L, the authors measured a  $73 \pm 7\%$ reduction in particle size at concentrations ranging from 150 to 300 mEq/L Although the fat particles were then smaller, they were still hydrophobic and would float on the surface of a digester, unavailable for immediate consumption. However, this reduction in particle size and subsequently increased surface area should increase the rate of degradation due to exoenzymes produced by the sludge, or could be utilised to improve the efficiency of subsequent pre-treatment methods, such as enzymatic pre-treatment.

This impact on degradation rate was noted by Battimelli et al. [101]. These researchers investigated the effect of NaOH pre-treatment on biogas production from fatty abattoir waste. While this pre-treatment affected little change in the total biogas produced, it also enhanced slightly the initial reaction kinetics. These findings support the previous assertion that reduction of particle size due to alkaline hydrolysis could be exploited for additional benefit through further pre-treatment.

Oxidative pre-treatments can involve the use of oxygen at temperatures of ~260 °C and pressures of 10 MPa. However, odour, corrosion and high energy consumption restrict practical application of this process [16]. Alternatively, powerful oxidants including ozone, and peroxides peroxymonosulphate (POMS) and dimethyldioxirane (DMDO), with the latter being the most promising options. Table 6 lists the pre-treatment conditions and results of various chemical methods investigated in the literature.

#### 5.4. Thermochemical pre-treatment

Several researchers have combined thermal and chemical pre-treatments to produce more favourable results than either individual pre-treatment (Table 7). Again, WAS is a prime candidate for thermochemical pre-treatment. Kim et al. [50] demonstrated the effects of thermochemical pre-treatment with 7 g NaOH/L. This pre-treatment enhanced COD solubilisation by 85.4% over the control, and over 40% greater than simple chemical pre-treatment and increased VS reduction by 30% (Fig. 9). Furthermore, when Tanaka et al. [103] treated WAS with 0.3 gNaOH/L at 130 °C in an autoclave for 5–200 min, they recorded an increase in VSS solubilisation of 40–50% and an increase in methane production by greater than 200% over the control. Valo et al. [87] treated WAS at 170 °C for 15 min in an autoclave and recorded an increase in TS reduction of 59%, with 92% higher gas production. While pre-treatment of WAS has been heavily investigated, there is little literature regarding FOG pre-treatment. One exception to this is an investigation conducted by Li et al. [55] in which co-digested FOG and kitchen waste were pre-treated thermochemically. Pre-treatment enhanced biogas production by 9.9  $\pm$  1.5% over the control.

#### 5.5. Biological pre-treatment of AD feedstocks

Biological pre-treatment includes methods that utilise pre-digestion, enzymes and bio-surfactants to enhance digestion (Table 8). Pre-digestion, involves two-stage digestion - a digestion stage prior to the main digestion process. By subjecting the waste to different digestion parameters prior to the main AD process, researchers aim to improve the digestibility of the waste. Peng et al. [126] investigated the use of an oil-degrading Bacillus species. Prior to AD, oily wastewater was subject to a 24 h digestion with Bacillus. During this time, exoenzymes were released by the bacteria to cleave triglycerides, diglycerides and LCFA, and increase the concentration of VFA present. This results in greater contact between microbes and the VFA substrates, significantly enhancing mass transfer of soluble nutrients into the sludge. This pre-digestion process resulted in an increase in methane yield by 16%, and an increase in the methane content of the biogas produced by 8% from 52 to 60%. However, unlike the other forms of pre-treatment, pre-digestion is rarely reported in the literature.

#### 5.5.1. Enzymatic pre-treatment of AD feedstocks

Using enzymes to enhance hydrolysis of macromolecules, and thereby enhance the AD process has been under investigation for many years. While enzymatic pre-treatment of FOG has received the greater deal of research into FOG pre-treatment, the majority of enzymatic pre-treatment research has been focused on cellular feedstocks [127–130]. Cammarota and Freire [131] have performed a review of hydrolytic enzymes in the treatment of wastewater with high oil and grease content and conclude that further investigation is needed to determine the efficacy of these pre-treatments to improve degradation of the relatively

#### Table 6

hemical pre-treatments, wastes used, conditions, and results from the literature.

Pre-treatment	Pre-treatment conditions	Results	Reference
Alkali	Cattle dung, NaOH (1%), 7 d	+31-42% digestibility	Dar et al. [102]
		+100% biogas produced	
	WAS, NaOH, 130 °C	+20% biogas produced	Tanaka et al. [103]
	WAS, NaOH, 0.01 N, 4 d	Improved sludge thickening	Saiki et al. [104]
	WAS, NaOH, 20-80 mEq/L, 25 °C, 10 h	+31% sCOD content	Chang et al. [105]
	WAS, NaOH, 45 mEq/L, 25-55 °C, 4 h	+28-38% sCOD content	Heo et al. [106]
	WAS, NaOH 20 mEq/L, 24 h	+83% biogas production	Ray et al. [107]
	WAS, NaOH 7 g/L (175 mEq/L)	+31.7% sCOD content	Kim et al. [50]
	WAS, KOH	+28.5% sCOD content	
	WAS, Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub>	+2.7% sCOD content	
	WAS, Ca(OH) <sub>2</sub>	+7.2% sCOD content	
	WAS, CaO	No observed improvement	Carballa et al. [108]
Dxidation, ozone	Primary-secondary sludge, 0.2 g/g COD	+112% CH <sub>a</sub> produced	Weemaes et al. [109]
	WAS, 0.16 g/g SS	+22% SS removed	Battimelli et al. [110]
	WAS, 0.015-0.05 g/g TS	+28% TS removed	Goel et al. [111]
	WAS, 0.06 kg/kg TSS	+16% sCOD content	Pilli et al. [112]
	WAS, 0.1 g/g TS	No improvement in TS removal	Bernal-Martinez et al. [113
	WAS, 0.07 g Fe <sup>2+</sup> /g H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> , 50 g H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> , 1 h	+494% COD content	Dewil et al. [114]
	WAS, 60 g POMS/kg DS, 1 h	+405% COD content	
	WAS, 660 mL DMDO/kg DS, 1 h	+589% COD content	
Table 7 Combined pre-treatments, wastes treated, conditions, and results from the literature. Pre-treatment conditions Results Reference Pre-treatment +46% VSS content WAS, 50-90 °C, Lime Vlyssides andKarlis [115] Thermo-chemical +30% CH4 produced Pig manure, Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> for 1 h, 70 °C, 1 h, HCl for 2 h WAS, 60 °C, 0.6 mg H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> + 1.5 mg FeCL<sub>2</sub>/mg S<sup>2-</sup>, 30 min +86% biogas production +157% sCOD content Rafique et al. [95] Dhar et al. [116] +167% soluble protein content +250% soluble carbohydrate content +20% total VFA content +20% methane produced +10% COD removal +20% sCOD removal WAS, NaOH 7 g, 121 °C, 30 min +77.3% sCOD conten Kim et al. [50] +25.6% VS removal +34% CH4 produced +54% biogas produced +80% sCOD WAS, KOH 65 mEq/dm<sup>2</sup>, 170 °C, 15 min Valo et al. [87] +71% COD removed WAS, lime, vacuum (0.02 bar), 30 min +33% sCOD content Abbassi [117] cal-mechanical



Fig. 9. SCOD removal efficiency and VS reduction rate for pre-treated WAS [50].

recalcitrant and problematic FOG component of dairy and slaughterhouse wastewater.

Hydrolysis of pork and beef fat through enzymatic pre-treatment has been demonstrated by Masse et al. [125]. This investigation involved the pre-treatment of abattoir waste with pancreatic lipase 250 (PL-250) at 25 °C for 5.5 h. Pre-treatment digestion achieved 80% reduction in neutral fat and LCFA concentration 5% faster than the controls. Methane content of biogas was unaffected by PL-250 pre-treatment. Furthermore, Massé et al. [100] have stated that PL-250 is more effective in the treatment of beef fat particles than treating pork fat particles.

Mobarak-Qamsari et al. [132] investigated the effect of enzyme extract preparation from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* on synthetic dairy wastewater with 1000 mg/L total fat content. A treatment of 10% v/v with a lipase activity of 0.3 U/mL was effective in enhancing removal efficiency of COD by 24%, and biogas production after 13 days of digestion by 102%. The researchers noted that these results indicate potential to accelerate the digestion of FOG in the AD process. Mendes et al. [124] also investigated enzymatic pre-treatment of lipid-rich dairy wastewater. The lipase used was a crude preparation of porcine pancreas lipase with activity of 1770 U/mg solid. Treatment with enzyme at 0.5% w/v affected increases in lipid hydrolysis, free fatty acid content, glycerol content, protein hydrolysis, COD removal and biogas production by  $99 \pm 6.8\%$ , 1240%, 65%, 35.45 ± 5.45%, and 227 ± 65% respectively.

#### 5.5.2. Biochemical emulsification of AD feedstocks

Bio-surfactants are typically used to pre-treat wastes high in FOG. A study by Nakhla et al. [23] evaluated BOD-balance in the treatment of FOG-rich rendering wastewater prior to AD. With a dose of 500 mg/L, BOD-balance affected reductions in tCOD and sCOD of 63.42% and 73.21% respectively, an improvement of 29.71% and 36.07% respectively over the controls. When trialled at full-scale, the addition of BOD-balance at 130–200 mg/L affected a dramatic increase in biogas production and a drop in pH (amended with sodium bicarbonate). The concentration of FOG and COD decreased by 84.6% and 40.9% respectively, and COD removal efficiency was noted to have increased from 20% to 64%. Furthermore, the authors also note that the concentrations of bio-surfactant used in this study are very high due to very high FOG content, as well as past accumulation of FOG in the digester. Accordingly, long-term dosage may be lower than employed in this study. While biogas production was not reported, methane content was measured to be 73%.

#### 6. Relative performance of pre-treatment options

A number of factors need to be considered when selecting a pre-treatment technology including the relative performance, advantages/disadvantages of each technology and the costs. Although pre-treatment has the potential to improve anaerobic digester performance in the Australian red meat processing industry, there is significant variation in biogas production reported in the literature for each technology [133]. Major sources of variation can be categorised as reporting, digester, pre-treatment, and feedstock variations.

A general assessment of the advantages and disadvantages of different pre-treatment methods with respect to a specific substrate are presented in Table 9. It is important to note that the advantages and disadvantages listed in Table 9 are relative to the substrate being treated. Without standardised reporting, the current state of the literature does not allow for any reasonable degree of comparison of pre-treatment methods across substrates.

Assuming standardised reporting of methane production, it remains difficult to produce a blanket energy assessment for pre-treatments. Every industry brings with it a unique and challenging feedstock – Some of these include plant residues including but not limited to lignocellulosics and pulps, WAS, municipal WWTP, manures from livestock and poultry, FOG from kitchen waste, grease trap waste and oily products, meat processing effluent, vegetable waste, slurries, offal, biosolids, cheese whey and

## Table 8 Biological r

ents, wastes treated, conditions, and results from the literature.

Pre-treatment	Pre-treatment conditions	Results	Reference
Pre-digestion	Cattle slurry, 30-35 °C, 1-2 d	+17-19% biogas produced +7-11% CH4 content	Singh et al. [118]
Pre-hydrolysis	Primary sludge, 70 °C	+12% SS removal	Lu et al. [119]
Aerobic digestion	WAS, bacterium type SPT2-1 WAS, Geobacillus sp. strain AT1	+50% biogas produced +210% biogas produced	Hasegawa et al. [120] Miah et al. [121]
Enzymatic	WAS, 42 °C, 2 d WAS, HRT 2 d Lipid-rich dairy wastewater, porcine pancreas lipase 0.5% w/v and 10 mM Ca <sup>2+</sup> , pH 8 (1 M NaOH), 37 °C, 4, 8, 12, 24 h Slaughterhouse waste, pancreatic lipase 250 (PL-250), 25 °C, 5.5 h	+10% biogas produced +60% CH4 produced +1240% free fatty acid content +38.5 ± 6.8% lipids hydrolysed +65% glycerol content +32.7% proteins hydrolysed +162-292% biogas produced +30-40.9% COD removed 35% of fat hydrolysed during pre-treatment -5% digestion time	Mayhew et al. [122] Davidsson et al. [123] Mendes et al. [124] Masse et al. [125]
Bio-surfactant	Raw and high FOC rendering wastewater, BOD-Balance <sup>ng</sup> , 100, 250 and 500 mg/L	More effective on beef fat Raw: +59-96% pCOD removal +74-100% sCOD removal High FOG: +164-238% COD removal rate coefficient +164-247% nCOD removal rate coefficient	Nakhla et al. [23]

#### Table 9

Advantages and disadvantages of pre-treating WAS with different technologies (originally adapted from Taherzadeh and Karimi [134]; Hendriks and Zeeman [135]; further modified from Montgomery and Bochmann [51]).

Process	Advantages	Disadvantages
Mechanical		
Milling	<ul> <li>Increases surface area</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Increased energy demand</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Makes substrate easier to handle</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High maintenance costs/sensitive to stones etc.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Often improves fluidity in directer</li> </ul>	
High-pressure homogenisation	<ul> <li>Increases surface area</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High heat and energy demand</li> </ul>
•••	<ul> <li>Organic solvent free method</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Complex equipment required</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Well established technology on large scale</li> </ul>	, , , ,
Ultrasonication <sup>3</sup>	<ul> <li>Increases surface area</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Increased energy demand</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Increased methane production</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Probes require replacement every 1.5-2 years</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>No chemical addition</li> </ul>	·····, ···, ···, ···, ···, ···, ···, ·
	<ul> <li>Low maintenance cost</li> </ul>	
Thermal		
Hot water (TDH)	<ul> <li>Increases the enzyme accessibility</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High heat demand</li> </ul>
	· ····································	<ul> <li>Only effective up to certain temperature</li> </ul>
Steam explosion	<ul> <li>Breaks down lignin and solubilises hemicellulose</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High heat and electricity demand</li> </ul>
	·	<ul> <li>Only effective up to certain temperature</li> </ul>
Extrusion	<ul> <li>Increases surface area</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Increased energy demand</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>High maintenance cost/sensitive to stones etc.</li> </ul>
Chamical		-
Arid	<ul> <li>Enhances organics hydrolysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High cost of acid</li> </ul>
1100	• Enteries organies nytronysis	Corrosion problems
		<ul> <li>Formation of inhibitory, particularly with heat</li> </ul>
411-16	<ul> <li>Enhancer organics hudsolveis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Vish alkali concentration in directer</li> </ul>
	Reduces fat particles	<ul> <li>High enter concentration in eigester</li> <li>High cost of chemical</li> </ul>
Ozonation	Destruction of pathozens	· mgn cost of channel
	Elexible operation	
<b>.</b>		
Biological		-
Microbial	<ul> <li>Low energy consumption</li> </ul>	• Slow
		<ul> <li>No lignin breakdown</li> </ul>
Enzymatic	<ul> <li>Low energy consumption</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Continuous addition required</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>High cost of enzyme</li> </ul>
Bio-surfactant"	Dissolution of lipids	<ul> <li>High cost of bio-surfactants</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Less toxic than anionic surfactants</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Low commercial production</li> </ul>
<sup>a</sup> Appels et al. [16].		
<sup>b</sup> Focus is on lipids; Saharan et al. [136].		

algal wastes [35,137,89,106,69,84,138,100,139,80,134,40]. Each of these substrates varies in composition [140]. Within each industry, wastes are still subject to significant variation between individual

processors [10]. In the RMP industry, variation will include the degree of primary treatment, including the number, size and efficiency of screens, DAFs contra sheers, screw presses, sterilisation

and rendering [33]. Other factors that will impact waste include the degree of product recovery; size of a slaughterhouse; water: waste ratio (i.e. dilution – not to be confused with moisture content); species processed; and operating climate. Each waste source presents a novel characteristic profile – carbohydrate: protein: lipid ratios, VS, TS, alkalinity and VFA content to name a few [141]. The impact of individual pre-treatment methods across a range of feedstocks will vary due to the nature of the feedstock [50]. Unless the goal is to compare the effect of a static pre-treatment method across feedstocks, it is unsuitable to compare the impact of multiple pre-treatment methods unless the substrate is controlled. Furthermore, pre-treatment methods between researchers can vary significantly. Consequently, this becomes a determination of what parameters are most effective within a pre-treatment type on a specific feedstock.

Prior to digestion, pre-treatment may be applied at the discretion of the operator. Pre-treatments, as discussed, include thermal, chemical, thermochemical, mechanical and biological methods which are more or less suitable given the application (Fig. 5). Not only may a pre-treatment be unnecessary, one risk of pre-treatment is that by increasing the amount of available compounds, a digester may experience inhibition [133]. This is a real potential, for example, in high-protein wastes with ammonia formation, and FOG-rich wastes which break down to potentially inhibitory concentrations of LCFA and VFA [30,142]. Furthermore, the degree of impact of a pre-treatment depends on the waste that the pre-treatment method is applied to [60]. As a result of pre-treatments being targeted to a specific waste source, it is difficult in the case of a review to draw appropriate material together for a reasonable comparison.

Following pre-treatment, digestion methods also vary significantly. Digesters are divided into either low-rate or high-rate systems. Low-rate anaerobic systems include batch digestions, plug-flow reactors and lagoons and typically require a high hydraulic (5-120 days) and solids retention time. Alternatively, high-rate anaerobic systems include up-flow anaerobic sludge bed (UASB), continuous stirred tank reactors (CSTR), expanded granular sludge bed (EGSB) and AnMBR systems among others [16,35,143]. These systems are heated to either the mesophilic or thermophilic optimum temperatures of ~37 °C and ~55 °C respectively, and receive active stirring or mixing. These high-rate systems typically involve a de-coupling of the solids and hydraulic retention time and as such, can treat equivalent volumes of wastewater with a hydraulic retention time (HRT) ranging from hours to days [35]. Several things need to be taken into consideration when comparing energy yield here. An important factor to consider is that some pre-treatments actively improve reaction kinetics without impacting total biogas production [140]. Energy production must then be compared as a function of time, not simply total methane produced.

#### 7. Merit of pre-treatment methods in abattoir wastewater in Australia

Australian abattoirs stand to benefit substantially if an appropriate pre-treatment method can be developed to improve the bioavailability and subsequent conversion of FOG to methane. While no anaerobic digestion system currently deals with FOG effectively, typically the more sophisticated the anaerobic digestion technology, the less capable they are of handling FOG loads.

With the increasing popularity of overseas technologies being introduced to Australian RMP plants (e.g. [37]) it is important to note that the quality and biodegradability of the effluent is key to maximise performance of these AD technologies. This is particularly important in light of the high strength nature of the waste water and volumes produced in this industry. This is quite significant when the scale of capital investment is considered which can be regarded as one of the largest inhibitors of uptake of foreign AD technologies. The use of cost-effective pre-treatments to improve the biodegradability of the waste water will enable additional energy recovery with a concomitant reduction in GHG emissions. The actual energy balance and costs is dependent on a number of factors highlighted in the previous section. Further research is needed to fully understand the economics of AD systems to meat processors. The value of biogas, recovered non-renewables, treated water, and GHG mitigation to a meat processor must be understood in order to put forward a strong financial case for an AD system. Only once this is known, can an AD system and subsequent pre-treatment of wastes for AD be valued.

Researched and speculated actions of the pre-treatment of effluents rich fats and oils from several origins presented in this review show new and promising applications for the enhancement of the AD process. Of all the pre-treatments discussed, ultrasonic, thermochemical and biochemical has shown greatest potential in the degradation of high fat waste water in addition to a few studies describing the degradation of fats and oils by alkaline/acid/enzymatic hydrolysis. The greatest increase in biogas production covered in this review was 227 ± 65% using enzymatic pre-treatment of lipid-rich dairy waste; however, it should be noted that several articles investigating pre-treatment methods which do not concern themselves with AD and biogas production have been reviewed. Regardless, there is evidence from these investigations that these pre-treatment methods affect considerable substrate degradation, and are subsequently worth investigation as pre-treatment methods for AD substrates. Although carbohydrates and protein are relatively easily digested, the challenge is to develop a pre-treatment method which greatly improved FOG digestion to produce methane, and developing a digestion protocol to optimally include FOG to improve biogas production while limiting the inhibitory impacts associated with FOG-rich substrates.

Treatment efficiency and nutrient recovery of waste streams can also be optimised through treatment of separate fractions of the waste stream [144]. Aptly, Jensen et al. [8] suggest that this concept be investigated in cattle abattoirs, with treatment of individual waste streams. While this may indeed result in a greater degree of organic removal and nutrient recovery, this could be a relatively expensive operation compared with digestion of a combined waste. However, this could also provide excellent conditions by which FOG could be separated from the primary waste streams, perhaps by dissolved air floatation, pre-treated and suitably introduced to an AD system.

#### 8. Conclusions

The Australian RMP industry is under pressure to reduce GHG emissions and optimise energy consumption. Wastewater produced from fully integrated abattoirs in Australia is high-strength and FOG-laden and contributes significantly to abattoir GHG emissions. Although pre-treatment of wastes such as lignocellulosics and WAS are commonplace, investigation of pre-treatment of FOG for AD is relatively rare. Given the significantly higher theoretical methane content of FOG over carbohydrates and proteins, it is surprising that FOG are only now being considered for pre-treatment.

Despite the fact that FOG has the potential to significantly enhance biogas yield from AD systems, FOG can also produce several problems. Fre-treatment may be critical in reducing problems caused by FOG, including pipeline blockages, adhesion to sludge, and inhibition of mass transfer of nutrients, problems which ultimately lead to anaerobic lagoon failure. However, there is potential

that pre-treatment may worsen problems, in particular inhibition of mass-transfer due to LCFA adhesion to sludge. This may be overcome by diluting pre-treated fatty substrates with co-substrates. While it remains to be seen whether pre-treatment of FOG is economically viable, investigation must first be conducted to identify suitable pre-treatment methods for an optimised process. Once a process is optimised, FOG digestion will help to ease the impact of rising electricity and water prices in industry, as well as reduce GHG emissions.

This review highlights several knowledge gaps in the literature. There is a distinct lack of standardisation when reporting on AD investigations. This makes meaningful comparison across the literature a difficult task. Also prominent is the lack of investigations that focus on FOG-rich wastes, regardless of the potentially enormous benefit from enhanced methane production. Once standardised reporting has been established across the literature, it will be possible to produce a reliable cost/benefit analysis to better advise industry on the best course of action to provide optimal digestion of their waste, and subsequently, optimal methane production. While there are some investigations into pre-treatment of FOG-rich wastes, further research is needed to understand the mechanisms by which pre-treatments impact the FOG component of wastes - investigations which would benefit greatly from standardised reporting. There is little-to-no literature which advises industry on how to handle crust material once it has accumulated. While AnMBR reactors represent a possible solution to digest FOG-rich wastes and avoid the complications associated with crust formation, more research is needed to understand the fate of FOG in these reactors. These knowledge gaps need to be addressed in order to improve performance and further the development of AD technology through industrial uptake.

#### Acknowledgements

The financial support for PWH is received from an Australian Postgraduate Award (APA) scholarship. The authors are grateful for the valuable contributions from Craig Baillie and Nigel Hancock, National Centre for Engineering in Agriculture, University of Southern Queensland, Australia.

#### References

- FAOSTAT. Food and agriculture organization of the United Nations statistics division. Food and agriculture organization of the United Nations. <a href="http://faostati.fao.org/download/Q/Q//2>: 2015 Viewed 30.03.15]">http://faostati.fao.org/download/Q/Q//2>: 2015 Viewed 30.03.15]</a>.
   AMPC & MLA. Industry environmental sustainability review; 2010.
- [3] AMPC & AMIC. Red meat processing industry climate change strategy, AMPC; 2012
- 4. Ortner M, Leitzinger K, Skupien S, Bochmann G, Fuchs W. Efficient anaerobic mono-digestion of N-rich slaughterhouse waste: influence of ammonia, temperature and trace elements. Bioresour Technol 2014;174:222-32.
  [5] Stucley C, Schuck S, Sims R, Bland J, Marino B, Borowitzka M, et al. Bioenergy
- in Australia: status and opportunities. New South Wales: Bioenergy Australi 012
- [6] Appels L, Lauwers J, Degrève J, Helsen L, Lievens B, Willems K, et al. Anaerobic [6] Appels L Lauvers J, Degreve J, Heisen L, Lievens A, Vinaerook digestion in global bio-energy production: Potential and research challenges. Renewable Sust Energy Rev 2011;15:4295-301.
   [7] Meat Technology Update. Covered anaerobic ponds. Meat Technology Update 4/10. <a href="https://www.meatupdate.csiro.au">www.meatupdate.csiro.au</a>; October 2010.
   [8] Jensen P, Sullivan T, Carney C, Batstone D. Analysis of the potential to recover energy and nutrient resources from cattle slaughterhouses in Australia by

- employing anarobic digestion. Appl Energy 2014;136:23-31.
   McCabe B, Baillie C, Harris P, Pittaway P, Yusaf T, Hamawand L Using covered anaerobic ponds to treat abattoir wastewater, reduce greenhouse gases and generate bicenergy Churchill Abattoir, AMPC and MLA funded project generate otcene ENV.0107; 2012.
- ENV/0107, 2012.
   UNSW Treatment of abattoir wastewater using a covered anareobic lagoon. UNSW CRC for waste management and pollution control; 1998.
   Mayoh R. Learnings from the Burrangong Meat Processor covered anaerobic lagoon. Sydney: Rycam Industrial Pby Ind; 2011.
   McCabe B, Harris P, Baillie C, Pittaway P, Yusaf T. Assessing a new approach to
- covered anaerobic pond design in the treatment of abatto J Multidiscip Eng 2013;10(1):81-93. ir waste er Aust

- [13] White T, Johns M, Butler B. Methane recovery and use at a meat processing facility: King Island. Australian Government: 2013.
  [14] Long J, Aziz T, de los Reyes III F, Ducoste J. Anaerobic co-digestion of fat, oil, and grease (FOG): a review of gas production and process limitations. Process Saf Environ Prot 2011;90(3):221-45.
  [15] McCabe B, Hamawand I, Harris P, Baillie C, Yusaf T. A case study for biogas
- generation from covered anaerobic ponds treating abattoir wastewa investigation of pond performance and potential biogas production. Appl Energy 2014;114:798-808.
   [16] Appels L. Baeyens J. Degreve J. Dewil R. Principles and potential of the
- erobic digestion of waste-activated sludge. Prog Energy Combust Sci 2008:34:755-81.
- [17] MLA. Eco-efficiency manual for meat processing. Australia, New South Wales: Meat and Livestock; 2002.
- [18] Johns M. Developments in waste treatment in the meat processing industry review of literature - 1979-1993. Australia: Meat Research Corporat
- Benefield LA. Wastewater quality/strength/content; 2001.
- [20] Johns M. Developments in wastewater treatment in the meat processing industry: a review. Bioresour Technol 1995;54(3):203-16.
- [21] UNEP & DEPA. Cleaner production assessment in meat processing. United Nations Environment Programme, Division of Technology, Industry and Economics. Denmark: Danish Environmental Protection Agency; 2000.
- [22] Wan C, Zhou Q, Fu G, Li Y. Semi-continuous anaerobic co-digestion of thickened waste activated sludge and fat, oil and grease. Waste Manage
- 2011;31(8):1752-8
   213) Nakhla G, Al-Sabawi M, Bassi A, Liu V, Anaerobic treatability of high oil and grease rendering wastewater. J Hazard Mater 2003;102(2-3):243-55.
   214] Filli S, Bhunia P, Yan S, LeBlanc R, Tyagi R, Surampalli R. Ultrasonic
- pretreatment of sludge: a review. Ultrason Sonochem 2011;18. Amani T, Nosrati M, Sreekrishnan T. Anaerobic digestion from the view of microbiological, chemical and operational aspects a review. Envir m the view [25]
- 2010;18(1):255-78. Gronroos A, Kyllonen H, Korpijarvi K, Pirkonen P, Paavola T, Jokela J, et al. [26]
- Ultrasound assisted method to increase soluble chemical oxygen d (SCOD) of sewage sludge for digestion. Ultrason Sonochem m 2005 12:115-20.
- [27] Carrere H, Dumas C, Battimelli A, Batstone D, Delgenes I. Stever I. et al
- [27] Carrere H, Dumas C, Battimelli A, Batstone D, Delgenes J, Steyer J, et al. Pretreatment methods to improve sludge anaerobic degradability: a review. J Hazard Mater 2010;183(1-5):1-15.
  [28] Luste S, Luostarinen S. Anaerobic co-digestion of meat-processing by-products and servage sludge effect of hygienization and organic loading rate. Bioresour Technol 2010;101(8). 2657-264.
  [29] Mshandete A, Bjornsson L, Kivaisi AK, Rubindamayugi M, Mattiasson B. Effect of particle size on biogas yield from sisal fibre waste. Renewable Energy 2006;31(14):2385-92.
  [20] Beterone D, Keller J, Navaell B, Navdend M, Medelling naverbic dimention of
- [30] Batstone D, Keller J, Newell R, Newland M. Modelling anaerobic digestion of complex wastewater. I: model development. Biore our Technol 2000:75 67-74
- Grault R, Bridoux G, Nauleau F, Poullain C, Buffet J, Peu P, et al. Anaerobic co-digestion of waste activated sludge and greasy sludge from flotation process: batch versus CSTR experiments to investigate optimal design. Bioresour [31] Technol 2012:105:1-8.
- [32] Shilton A, Harrison J. Guidelines for the hydraulic design of waste stabilisation ponds. Palmerston North: Massey University; 2003.
   [33] AMPC. Waste water management in the Australian red meat processing
- industry: 2012. [34] Golder Associates Pty Ltd. Anaerobic cover material vulnerability: assessm
- [34] Golder Associates rev fue Anaetooic cover material vulnerability. assessment of available cover materials. AENV.0072, Meat and Livestock Australia; 2009.
   [35] Dereli RK, Ersahin ME, Ozgun H, Ozturk I, Jeison D, van der Zee F, et al. Potentials of anaerobic membrane bioreactors to overcome treatment limitations induced by industrial wastewaters. Bioresour Technol 2012;122:
- 160-70 Fernandez A, Sanchez A, Font X. Anaerobic co-digestion of a simulated organic fraction of municipal solid wastes and fats of animal and vegetable origin. Biochem Eng J 2005;26:22-8. [36]

- origin. Biochem Eng J 2005;26:22-8.
  [37] Condon J. Environment: processing waste water moves from problem to profit. <a href="http://www.beefcentral.com/processing/environment-processing-waste-water-moves-from-problem-to-profit/>2014">http://www.beefcentral.com/processing/environment-processing-waste-water-moves-from-problem-to-profit/>2014.</a>

  [38] Christian S, Grant S, McCarthy P, Wilson D, Mills D. The first two years of full-scale anaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR) operation treating high-strength industrial wastewater. Water Practice Technol 2011;6(2).
  [39] Diez V, Ramos C, Cabezas J. Treating wastewater with high oil and grease content using an anaerobic membrane membrane bioreactor. Water Sci Technol 2012;65(10):1842-53. content using an anaerobic n Technol 2012;65(10):1847-53.
- [40] Zhu Z, Hsueh M, He Q. Enhancing biomethanation of municipal waste sludge with grease trap waste as a co-substrate. Renewable Energy 2011;36(6): 1802-7.
- [41] Buswell A, Neave S. Laboratory studies of anaerobic digestion. Department of
- registration and education; 1930. [42] Labatut RA. Anaerobic biodegradability of complex substrates: performance and stability at mesophilic and thermophilic conditions. Doctoral thesis. Cornell University; 2012.
- [43] Li C, Champagne P, Anderson B. Evaluating and modelling biogas production from municipal fat, oil and grease and synthetic lotchen waste in anaerobic co-digestions. Bioresour Technol 2011;102(20):9471–80.

- [44] Silvestre G, Rodriguez-Abalde A, Fernandez B, Flotats X, Bonmati A, Biomass adaptation over anaerobic co-digestion of sewage sludge and trapped grease waste. Bioresour Technol 2011;102(13):6830-6.
   [45] Luostarinen S, Luste S, Sillanpaa M. Increased biogas production at wastewater treatment plants through co-digestion of sewage sludge with grease trap sludge from a meat processing plant. Bioresour Technol 2009;100(1):79-85.
   [45] Duotselt C, La Caux Jansen J, Couxbarger C, Acourgen H, Cou
- 2009;100(1):79-85.
   [46] Davidson A. Lovstedt C. Ia Cour Jansen J. Gruvberger C. Aspegren H. Co-digestion of grease trap sludge and sewage sludge. Waste Manage 2006;28(6):986-92.
   [47] Ferreira L. Duarte E. Figueiredo D. Utilization of wasted sardine oil as co-
- [47] Ferreira L, Duarte E, Figueiredo D. Utilization of wasted sardine oil as co-substrate with pig slurry for biogas production a pilot experience of decentralized industrial organic waste management in a Portuguese pig farm. Bioresour Technol 2012;116:285-9.
  [48] Celegenis J, Ceorgalakis D, Angelidaki L, Christopoulou N, Goumenaki M. Optimization of biogas production from olive-oil mill wastewater, by codigesting with diluted poultry-manure. Appl Energy 2007;84(6):646-63.
  [49] Ortner M, Woss D, Schumergruber A, Proll T, Fuchs W. Energy self-supply of large abattorir by sustainable waste utilization based on anaerobic monodigestion. Appl Energy 2015;143:460-71.
  [50] Kim J, Park C, Kim T-H, Lee M, Kim S, Kim S-W, et al. Effects of various pre-treatment for enhanced anaerobic disestion with waste activated sludge. I

- ent for enhanced anaerobic digestion with waste activated sludge. J osci Bioeng 2003;95(3):271-5.
- Biosci Bioeng 2003;95(3):271-5.
   Montgomery IF, Bochmann G. Pretreatment of feedstock for enhanced biogas production. Published by International Energy Agency (IEA) Bioenergy. ISBN:978-1-910154-05-2. <a href="http://www.ieabiogas.net/files/daten-redaktion/ download/Technical%20Brochures/pretreatment\_web.pdf">http://www.ieabiogas.net/files/daten-redaktion/ download/Technical%20Brochures/pretreatment\_web.pdf</a>; 2014.
   Carlsson M, Lagerkvist A, Morgan-Sagastume F. The effect of substrate pre-treatment on anaerobic digestion systems: a review. Waste Manage 2012;32(9):1634-50.
   Moisan M. Ultrasonic pretreatment for anaerobic digestion: a study on feedstock, methane yield, and energy balance. Masters thesis. University of Guelin: 2012.
- Guelph; 2012. [54] Ho L. Firet-re
- Ho L First-stage and single-stage continuously stirred tank anaerobic digestion of synthetic complex wastewater and piggery wastewater (with emphasis on thermophilic temperature). Doctoral thesis. Murdoch University; 2010.
- [55] Li C, Champagne P, Anderson B. Effects of ultrasonic and thermo-chemical pre-treatments on methane production from fat, oil and grease (POC) and synthetic kitchen waste (KW) in anaerobic co-digestion. Bioresour Technol 2013-130-187-97.
- [56] Kopp J. Muller J. Dichtl N. Schwedes J. Anaerobic digestion and dewatering characteristics of mechanically disintegrated excess sludge. Water Sci Technol 1997;36(11):129-36.
- Technol 1997;36(11):129-36.
   [57] Baire U, Schnidherny P. Enhanced anaerobic degradation of mechanically disintegrated sludge. Water Sci Technol 1997;36(11):137-43.
   [58] Choi H, Hwang K, Shin E. Effects on anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge pretreatment. Water Sci Technol 1997;35(10):207-11.
   [59] Onyeche T. Economic benefits of low pressure sludge homogenization for wastewater treatment plants. In: IWA specialist conferences: moving forward
- wastewater treatment plants. In: IWA specialist conferences: moving forward wastewater biosolids sustainability: proceedings of the IWA specialist conferences: moving forward wastewater biosolids sustainability Moncton, New Brunswick, Canada; 2007.
   [60] Engelhart M, Kopg J, Dichtl N. Effects of disintegration on anaerobic degradation of sewage excess sludge in downflow stationary fixed film digesters. Water Sci Technol 2000;41(3):171-9.
   [61] Nah I, Kang Y, Hwang K, Song W. Mechanical pre-treatment of waste activated sludge for anaerobic digestion process. Water Res 2000;34(8): 2262-8.
- 2362-8
- [62] Sandino J, Santha H, Rogowski S, Anderson W, Sung S, Isik F. Applicability of ultrasound pre-conditioning of WAS to reduce foaming potential in mesophilic digesters. In: Residuals and biosolids management: proceedings of the residuals and biosolids management water environment federation. Convington, KY; 2005.
- Convington, IXY, 2005. [63] Khanal S, Isik H, Sung S, van Leeuwen J. Ultrasound conditioning of waste activated sludge for enhanced aerobic digestion of waste activated sludge. In: IWA specialized conference on sustainable sludge management: state-of-the-art, challenges and perspectives: proceedings of the IWA specialized conference on sustainable sludge management: state-of-the-art, challenges and another the sludge management: state-of-the-art, challenges and another the sludge management: state-of-the-art, challenges and another the sludge management: state-of-the-art, challenges activation and activation and activation and activation and activation activation and activation activation activation and activation ac
- concernice of sustainable sludge management: state-of-one-art, challenges and perspectives. Moscow, Russia; 2006, p. 441-8. Braguglia C, Tomei M, Mininni C. Anaerobic digestion of sonicated sludge: effect on volatile solids degradation kinetics. In: IWA specialised conference on sustainable sludge management: state-of-the-art, challenges and perspectives: proceedings of the IWA specialised conference on sustainable sludge management: state-of-the-art. Challenges and Perspectives Moscow, Purete: 2006 = 154.40 [64] Brag
- studge management state-or the arc challenges in a respective should, Russia 2006, p. 154-60.
  [65] Erden C, Buyukkamaci N, Filbeli A. Effect of low frequency ultrasound on anaerobic biodegradability of meat processing effluent. Desalination 2010;259(1-3):223-7.
- Australia; 1998.
- Australia: 1998.
  [67] Cesaro A, Naddeo V, Amodio V, Belgiorno V. Enhanced biogas production from anaerobic codigestion of solid waste by sonolysis. Ultrason Sonochem 2012;19(3):596-600.

- [68] Park B, Ahn J, Kim J, Hwang S. Use of microwave pretreatment for enhanced anaerobiosis of secondary sludge. Water Sci Technol 2004;50(9):17-23.
  [69] Kopplow O, Barjenbruch M, Heinz V. Sludge pre-treatment with pulsed from the [Polish] pulp and paper industry. Przeglad Papier 2004;45:431-4.
  [70] Desmeth. Physical methods of Cell Disruption Homogenizer, Desmeth. Anttry: [/www.desmeth.com/?p=28: 2005 [wwwed 25.09.05].
  [71] Hayes MG, Kelly AL. High pressure homogenisation of raw whole bovine milk (a) effects on fat globule size and other properties. J Dairy Res 2003;70: 297-305.

- 297-305.
  [72] Thiebaud M, Dumay E, Picart L, Guiraud J, Cheftel J. High-pressure homogenisation of raw bovine milk. Effects on fat globule size distribution and microbial inactivation. Int Dairy J 2003;12(6):427-39.
  [73] Dewil R. Ultrasonic treatment of waste activated sludge. Environ Progr 2006;25(2):121-8.
  [74] Wu-haan W. Evaluation of ultrasonic pretreatment on anaerobic digestion of biomass for methane production. Masters thesis. Iowa State University; 2008.
  [75] Saifuddin N, Fazilii S. Effect of microwave and ultrasonic pretreatments on biogas production from anaerobic digestion of palm oil mill effluent. Am J Eng Annl Sci 2009;27(1):39-46.
- [75] Saifuddin N, Fazhli S. Effect of microwave and ultrasonic pretreatments on biogas production from anaerobic digestion of palm oil mill effluent. Am J Eng Appl Sci 2009;2(1):139-46.
  [76] Li C. Using anaerobic co-digestion with addition of municipal organic wastes and pre-treatment to enhance biogas production from wastewater treatment plant sludge. Ontario, Canada: Queen's University; 2012.
  [77] Yeneneh AM, Sen TK, Chong S, Ang HM, Kayaalp A. Effect of combined microwave-ultrasonic pretreatment on anaerobic biodegradability of primary, excess activated and mixed sludge. Comput Water, Energy Environ Eng 2013;2(28).
  [78] Cavala H, Venal H, Skiadas L, Westermann P, Abring B, Merophilic and L. Schultz M. Schultz M. 2014.
- [78] Cavala H, Yenal U, Skiadas I, Westermann P, Ahring B. Mesophilic and
- Gavala H, Venal U, Slöadas I, Westermann P, Ahring B. Mesophilic and thermophilic anaecobic digestion of primary and secondary sludge. Effect of pre-treatment at elevated temperature. Water Res 2003;37:4561-72. Cuetos M, Comex X, Otero M, Moran A. Anaerobic digestion and co-digestion of slaughterhouse waste (SHW): influence of heat and pressure pre-treatment in biogas yield. Waste Manage 2010;30(10):1780-9. Mladenovska Z, Hartmann H, Kvist T, Sales-Cruz M, Gani R, Ahring B. Thermal pretreatment of the solid fraction of manure: impact on the biogas reactor performance and microbial community. Water Sci Technol 2006;53(8): 50-67. [80] Mladenovska Z. Hart
- [81] Sims KM. Strategies to enhance conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to ermentable sugars and to enhance anaerobic digestion of algal biomass for iogas production. Masters thesis. Utah State University; 2013.
- [82] Hiraoka M, Takeda N, Sakai S, Yasuda A. Highly efficient anaerobic digestion vith thermal pretreatment. Water Sci Technol 1985;17(4-5):529-35
- With thermal precreations: Water Sci Technol 1965, 17(4-5):525-35.
  [33] Wilson CA, Novak JT, Murthy SN. Thermal hydrolysis of the lipid and protein fractions of wastewater sludge: implications for digester performance and operational considerations. Water Environ Federation 2009.
  [84] Li Y, In Y. Effects of thermal pretreatment on acidification phase during two-
- e batch anaerobic digestion of kitchen waste. Renewable Energy 2015-77-550-7
- [85] Kim M, Ahn Y-H, Speece R. Comparative process stability and efficiency of anaerobic digestion; mesophilis vs thermophilic. Water Res 2002;36(17): 4369-85.
- 4369-85.
  [36] Barjenbruch M, Kopplow O. Enzymatic, mechanical and thermal pre-treatment of surplus sludge. Adv Environ Res 2003;7(3):715-20.
  [87] Valo A, Carrere H, Delgenes J. Thermal, chemical, and thermo-chemical pre-treatment of waste activated sludge for anaerobic digestion. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 2004;79(11).
  [88] Dohányos M, Zábranská J, Kutil J, Jenícek P. Improvement of anaerobic digestion of sludge. Water Sci Technol 2004;49(10):89-96.
  [89] Graja S, Chauzy J, Fernandes P, Patria L, Cretenot D. Reduction of sludge production from WWIP using thermal pretreatment and enhanced anaerobic methanisation. Water Sci Technol 2005;52(1-2):267-73.
  [90] Bouxeire C. Delgenes L Carrere H. Combination of thermal treatments and

- [90] Bougier C, Delgenes J, Carreer H. Combination of thermal treatments and anaerobic digestion to reduce sewage sludge quantity and improve biogas yield. Process Saf Environ Prot 2006;84(4):280-4.
   [91] Bougier C, Delgenes J, Carreet H. Impacts of thermal pre-treatments on the semi-continuous anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge. Biochem Eng Lancet 20(2):2012.
- [92] 8
- 2007;34(1):20-7. Bougrier C, Delgenes J, Carrere H. Effects of thermal treatments on five different waste activated sludge samples solubilisation, physical properties and anaerobic digestion. Chem Eng J 2008;139(2):236-44.

- and anaerobic digestion. Chem Eng J 2006;139(2):236-44.
  [93] Mottet A. Stoyer J. Deleris S. Vedrenne F. Chauxy J. Carrere H. Kinetics of thermophilic batch anaerobic digestion of thermal hydrolysed waste activated sludge. Biochem Eng J 2009;46(2):169-75.
  [94] Wang Z. Wang W. Zhang X. Zhang C. Digestion of thermally hydrolyzed sewage sludge by anaerobic sequencing batch reactor. J Hazard Mater 2009;162(2-3):799-803.
  [95] Rafique R. Poulsen T. Nizami A-S. Asam Z-u-Z. Murphy J. Kiely G. Effect of thermal, chemical and thermo-chemical pre-treatments to enhance methane production. Energy 2010;35(12):4556-61.
  [96] Estevez M, Linjordet R, Morken J. Effects of steam explosion and co-digestion in the methane production from Salix by mesophilic batch assays. Bioresour
- in the methane production from Salix by mesophilic batch assays. Bioresour Technol 2012;104(749–56):749.
- Technol 2012;104(749-56):749.
   [97] Gianico A, Braguglia C, Cesarini R, Mininni G. Reduced temperature hydrolysis at 134 °C before thermophilic anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge at increasing organic load. Bioresour Technol 2013;143:96-103.
   [98] Zheng J, Carff R, Fillos J, Riard I. Incorporation of rapid thermal conditioning into a wastewater treatment plant. Fuel Process Technol 1998;56:183-200.

- [99] Jan T, Adav S, Lee D, Wu R, Sy A, Tay J. Hydrogen fermentation and methane production from sludge with pretreatments. Energy Fuels 2008;22(1): 8-102
- [100] Massé L, Kennedy K, Chou S. Testing of alkaline and enzymatic hydrolysis Technol 2001;77(2):145-55.
- (101) Battimelli A, Carrere H, Delgenes J. Saponification of fatty slaughterhouse wastes for enhancing anaerobic biodegradability. Bioresour Technol 2009;100(15):3695-700.
- [102] Dar G. Tandon S. Biogas production from pretreated wheat straw, lantana residue, apple and peach leaf litter with cattle dung. Biol Wastes 1987;21(2): 75-83.
- 1999:33(8):1864-70.
- [105] Chang C-N, Ma Y-S, Lo C-W. Application of oxidation-reduction potential as a controlling parameter in waste activated sludge hydrolsis. Chem Eng J 2002;90(3):273-81.
- [106] Heo N. Park S. Lee I. Kang H. Solubilization of waste activated sludge by [100] HEY R, Fait S, Lee J, Kang H. Solutianton of water attivated analoge by alkaline pretreatment and biochemical methane potential (BMP) tests for anaerobic co-digestion of municipal organic waste. Water Sci Technol 2003;48(8):211-9.
  [107] Ray B, Lin J, Rajan R. Low-level alkaline solubilization for enhanced anaerobic
- Water Pollut Contr Federation 1990:62(1):81-7.
- digestion. J Water Pollut Contr Federation 1990;62(1):51-7.
  [106] Garballa M, Omit F, Lema J. Improvement of anaerobic digestion operation and digested sludge characteristics using chemical and thermal pre-treatment. In: 10th world congress of anaerobic digestion: proceedings the 10th world congress of anaerobic digestion montreal. Canada; 2004.
- Weemaes M, Crootaerd H, Simoens F, Verstraete W. Anaerobic digestion of ozonized biosolids. Water Res 2000;34(8):2330-6.
   Battimelli A, Millet C, Delgenes J, Moletta R. Anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge combined with ozone post-treatment and recycling. Water Sci Technol 2003;48(4):61-8. [111] Goel R, Tokutomi T, Yasui H. Anaerobic digestion of excess activated sludge
- (111) Goet R, Tontonin T, Fasti P, Anter Son Ggestion of excess activate with ozone pre-treatment. Water Sci Technol 2003;47(12):207–14.
   (112) Sievers M, Ried A, Koll R. Sludge treatment by ozonation evaluatio scale results. Water Sci Technol 2004;49(4):247–53. n of full-
- scale results. Water Sci Technol. 2008;9(4):247-35.
   [113] Bernal-Martinez A, Carrere H, Patureau D, Delgenes J. Oxone pre-treatment as improver of PAH removal during anaerobic digestion of urban sludge. Chemosphere 2007;68(6):1013-9.
   [114] Devil R, Appels L, Baeyens J. Degreve J. Peroxidation enhances the biogas production in the anaerobic digestion of biosolids. J Hazard Mater
- 2007:146(3):577-81.
- 2007;140(3):577-81.
  [115] Vlyssides A, Karlis P. Thermal-alkaline solubilization of waste activated sludge as a pre-treatment stage for anaerobic digestion. Bioresour Technol sludge as a pre-treatm 2004;91(2):201-6. [116] Dhar B. Elbeshbishy E. Hafez H. Nakhla G. Ray M. Thermo-oxidative pretreatment

- [116] Dhar B, Eibehbishy E, Hafer H, Nakhla C, Ray M. Thermo-oxidative pretreatment of municipal waste activated sludge for volatile sulfur compounds removal and enhanced amaerobic digestion. Chem Eng J 2011;174(1):166-74.
  [117] Abbassi BE. Improvement of anaerobic sludge digestion by disintegration of activated sludge using vacuum process. Water Qual Res J Can 2003;38(3).
  [118] Singh R, Jain M, Tauro P. Pre-digestion to improve production of biogas from cattle waste. Agric Wastes 1983;6(3):167-74.
  [119] Lu J, Gavala H, Skiadas I, Mladenovska Z, Ahring BK. Improving anaerobic sewage sludge digestion by implementation of a hyper-thermophilic prehydrolysis step. J Environ Manage 2008;88(4):881-9.
  [120] Hasegawa S, Shiota N, Katsura K, Akashi A. Solubilization of organic sludge big thermonplik carefusile as a pretrement from anaerobic direction.
- [120] Hasegawa S., Simota N., Katsura K., Akasin A. Solubilization of organic sludge by thermophilic aerobic bacteria as a pretreatment for anaerobic digestion. Water Sci Technol 2000;41(3):163-9.
   [121] Miah M., Tada C., Yang Y. Aerobic thermophilic bacteria enhance biogas production. J Mater Cycles Waster Manage 2005;7(1):48-54.
   [122] Mayhew M, Le M, Brade C, Harrison D. The united utilities 'enzyme hydrolisis
- process' validation of phased digestion at full-scale to enhance pathogen

removal. In: Residuals and Biosolids Conference. proceedings of the Residuals and Biosolids Conference Baltimore, MD; 2003

- [123] Davidsson A, Wawrzynczyk J, Norriow O, Jansen J. Strategies for enzy dosing to enhance anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge. J Residuals sludge. J Residuals Sci Technol 2007;4(1):1-7. [124] Mendes A, Pereira E, de Castro H. Effect of the enzymatic hydrolysis
- pretreatment of lipids-rich wastewater on the anaerobic biodigest
- pretreatment of hpids-rich wastewater on the anaerobic biodigestion.
   Biochem Eng J 2006/32:185-90.
   [125] Masse L, Massé DK, Kennedy KJ. Effect of hydrolysis pretreatment on fat degradation during anaerobic digestion of slaughterhouse wastewater.
   Process Biochem 2003;38:1365-72.
   [126] Peng L, Bao M, Wang Q, Wang F, Su H. The anaerobic digestion of biologically
- ated oily wastewater. Bioresour Technol emically pret 2014:151:236-43.

- naerobic digestion of Jose Tall wheat grass. Bioresour Technol 2009;100(20):
- anaerotic digestion of jost rais visites gene scale and enzymatic improvement of anaerobic digestion of waste mass. Biotechnol Lett 2001;23(18):1463-6.
   [131] Cammarota MC, Freire DMC. A review of hydrolytic enzymes in the development of wastewater with high oil and grease content. Bioresour development of wastewater with high oil and grease content. Bioresour development of wastewater with high oil and grease content. Bioresour development of wastewater with high oil and grease content. Technol 2006;122:2195-210.
- recnnoi 2000;122:2195-210. Mobarak-Qamsari E, Kasra-Kermanshahi R, Nosrati M, Amani T. Enzymatic pre-hydrolysis of high fat content dairy wastewater as a pretreatment for anaerobic digestion. Int J Environ Res 2012;6(2):475-80. [132]
- [133] Poschl M, Ward S. Owen [133] Poschi M, Ward S, Owende P, Evaluation of energy efficiency of production and utilization pathways. Appl Energy 2010;87.
   [134] Taherzadeh M, Karimi K. Pretreatment of lignocellulo cy of various biogas
- we ethanol and biogas production: a review. Int | Mol Sci 2008;9: 1621-51
- [135] Hendriks A, Zeeman G. Pretreatments to enhance the digestibility of lignocellulosic biomass. Bioresour Techonol 2009;100(1):10-8.
   [136] Saharan B, Sahu R, Sharma D. A review on biosurfactants: fermentation,
- urrent developm ents and perspectives. Genetic Eng Biotechnol 2011, vol.
- Current developments and perspectives. Cenetic ang sobrenno 2011. vol. 2011, no. CEB-29. Dhorgham Skhan I, Sakthipriya N, Balasubramanian N. Electro-coagulation treatment of oily wastewater with sludge analysis. Water Sci Technol 2012;66(12):2533-8. [137]
- [138] Martinez-Soza D. Torrijos M. Buitron G. Sousbie P. Devillers P. Delgenes I. Treatment of fatty solid waste from the meat industry in an anaerobic sequencing batch reactor: start-up period and establishment of the design criteria. Water Sci Technol 2009;60(9):2245-51. sequen
- (139) Methanogen Itd. A toolbox guide for assessing the feasibility of an anaerobic digestion project developed for the benefit of a community or for a single farm. Ireland: Peak District National Park Authority; 2010.
   (140) Labatut R, Angenent L, Scott N. Biochemical methane potential and biodegradability of complex organic substrates. Bioresour Technol 2011;102(3): 2255-64.
- [141] Alkaya E. Demirer G. Anaerobic mesophilic co-digestion of sugar-beet processing wastewater and beet-pulp in batch reactors. Renewable Energy processing wastewater and beet-pulp in batch reactors. Renewable Energy 2011;36(3):971-5. [142] Chen Y, Cheng J, Creamer K. Inhibition of anaerobic digestion process: a
- ir Technol 2008;99(10):4044-64. review. Bioreso
- [143] van Lier J. High-rate anaerobic wastewater treatment: diversifying from end-[144] Van Der J. High-rate anaerook wastewater treatment: uversigning from end-of-the-pipe treatment to resource oriented conversion techniques. Waster Sci Technol 2006;57(8):1137–48.
   [144] Deng L, Li Y, Chen Z, Liu G, Yang H. Separation of swine slurry into different
- on fractions and its influence on biogas fermentation n. Appl Energy 2014-114-504-11

## Appendix B

Evaluation of chemical, thermobaric and thermochemical pre-treatment on anaerobic digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste Bioresource Technology 244 (2017) 605-610



Evaluation of chemical, thermobaric and thermochemical pre-treatment on anaerobic digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste

CrossMark

Peter W. Harris<sup>\*</sup>, Thomas Schmidt, Bernadette K. McCabe National Centre for Engineering in Agriculture, University of Southern Queensland, Toowoomba, QLD, Australia

#### ARTICLE INFO ABSTRACT

Keywords: Fat Oil and grease Abattoir Biomethane potential Alkali Biogas Dissolved air (lotation sludge This work aimed to enhance the anaerobic digestion of fat-rich dissolved air (lotation (DAF) sludge through chemical, thermobaric, and thermochemical pre-treatment methods. Soluble chemical oxygen demand was enhanced from 16.3% in the control to 20.84% (thermobaric), 40.82% (chemical), and 50.7% (thermochemical). Pre-treatment altered volatile fatty acid concentration by -64% (thermobaric), 127% (chemical) and 228% (thermochemical). Early inhibition was reduced by 20% in the thermochemical group, and 100% in the thermobaric group. Specific methane production was enhanced by 3.28% (chemical), 8.32% (thermochemical) as a result of pre-treatment. Under batch digestion, thermobaric pre-treatment demostrated the greatest improvement in methane yield with respect to degree of pre-treatment applied. Thermobaric pre-treatment cost. Further investigation into long-term impact of pre-treatment is semi-continuous digestion experiments will provide additional evaluation of appropriate pre-treatment options for high-fat slaughterhouses wastewater.

#### 1. Introduction

The Australian red meat processing industry consist of more than 150 slaughterhouses which for the financial year of 2013-4 produced 20.8 gigalitres of untreated wastewater (AMPC, 2015; Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2016). This wastewater contained high concentrations of pollutants, with average concentrations of 2657 and 1780 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) and fat, oil and grease (FOG) respectively (AMPC, 2015). As a result, 37 kilotonnes of FOG entered waste streams. Subsequently, this waste requires several treatment interventions prior to discharge to sewage (Bustillo-Lecompte & Mehrvar, 2015; McCabe et al., 2013).

A comprehensive list of primary, secondary and tertiary treatment technologies used by Australian red meat processors is published by Meat and Livestock Australia (MLA, 2002). Primary treatment options listed include static and rotary screens, screw presses, dissolved air flotation (DAF), and collection pits. These options can result in significant reductions in wastewater pollutant concentrations.

Secondary treatment involves biological treatment as either aerobic or anaerobic digestion, or a combination of both. Anaerobic digestion (AD) is a four-stage process which involves the action of microbes to digest organic waste to produce biogas – a combination of typically 20-50% carbon dioxide, and 50-80% methane gas. The capture of methane from Australian slaughterhouse wastewater via anaerobic digestion has gained momentum over the past two decades (IEA, 2015).

In order for AD systems to perform optimally, it is essential to focus on process stability. Control over influent stream is necessary to reduce the frequency and magnitude of shock loadings, and regulate FOG loading. In Australian slaughterhouses, recovery of FOG for sale as tallow is key for value adding. Following recovery of FOG as tallow, the remaining fat often collects in the anaerobic digesters. There are a number of potential drawbacks to FOG addition to AD feedstocks, including digester foaming, pipe blockages, clogging of gas collection and handling systems, crust formation, sludge flotation and washout, and digester inhibition (Long et al., 2012).

While these drawbacks have been acknowledged, FOG remains a potentially desirable substrate due to a relatively high theoretical methane potential of 1014 L per kg of volatile solids (VS) when compared with protein and carbohydrate at 480 L kg VS<sup>-1</sup> and 370 L kg VS<sup>-1</sup> respectively (Buswell & Neave, 1930; Verein Deutscher Ingenieure, 2006; Wan et al., 2011). Consequently, research has been focused on mechanisms to enhance FOG bioavailability, while avoiding digester inhibition (Chen et al., 2008). Many research projects have utilised co-digestion to varying degrees of success, producing encouraging results. For example, Gelegenis et al. (2007) combined poultry manure with olive-oil mill wastewater at 3:1 v/v and yielded 21% more methane

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.07.179

Received 13 June 2017; Received in revised form 28 July 2017; Accepted 29 July 2017 Available online 03 August 2017

0960-8524/ @ 2017 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/BY-NC-ND/4.0/).

Corresponding author.

E-mail address: Peter Harris@usg.edu.au (P.W. Harris)

than the poultry manure control, while Davidsson et al. (2008) observed a 9-27% increase in methane yield when adding 10-30% grease trap sludge on a VS basis respectively. While co-digestion in Australia has received little investigation, the country is actively pursuing research in this area (Astals et al., 2014).

Alternatively, various pre-treatment methods have been identified and used to good effect in the degradation of waste activated sludge (WAS) prior to anaerobic digestion (Appels et al., 2008). Pre-treatments are aimed at augmenting hydrolysis, the rate limiting step, by improving the surface area to volume ratio of the substrates (Carrere et al., 2016). Methods such as thermobaric, chemical and bio-surfactant all achieve this increase in surface area to volume ratio of organics to varying degrees (Kim et al., 2003; Li & Noike, 1992; Mouneimne et al., 2003). Hydrolysis could also be enhanced by improving conditions for chemical reactions to occur, or introducing reagents that allow hydrolysis to occur more rapidly. For instance, thermobaric treatment will increase the rate at which hydrolysis occurs, while sodium hydroxide produces a saponification reaction to cleave long-chain fatty acids (LCFA) from glycerol (Mouneimne et al., 2003).

While much of the research on pre-treatments of high FOG substrates has centred on WAS, no studies have been performed on the effect they have on slaughterhouse wastewater to date (Harris & McCabe, 2015). This paper presents the results of three pretreatment methods, namely chemical, thermobaric, and thermochemical, conducted on slaughterhouse DAF sludge as a first step in evaluating its effectiveness in enhancing anaerobic digestion.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Inoculum and substrate

The inoculum was anaerobic sludge sourced from a covered anaerobic lagoon at a local slaughterhouse. Sludge was stored in an incubator at 37  $\pm$  1°C for 5 days prior to use. The DAF sludge used as substrate is the concentrated FOG residues collected by the dissolved air filtration unit. This material was used for its high FOG content and is representative of the fatty material entering the anaerobic digestion system of red meat processors. Substrate was collected as a 2 L grab sample from the DAF of a local red meat processing plant. Samples were immediately returned to the laboratory and stored at 4°C. DAF sludge was stirred to achieve homogeneity before portioning waste into bottles for pre-treatment, or into reactors for digestion. The following DAF sludge characteristics were measured: pH, total solids (TS), VS, total chemical oxygen demand (TCOD), soluble chemical oxygen demand (SCOD), FOG, volatile fatty acids (VFA), measured as acetic acid equivalence per litre (HAcEq  $L^{-1}$ ) (Table 1).

#### 2.2. Pre-treatments for DAF sludge

Pre-treatment options were selected based on reported research which use WAS as a substrate (Li et al., 2015). For this current study, methods were selected that were expected to produce a positive impact on the degradation of FOG component of the wastewater (Harris & McCabe, 2015).

Chemical pre-treatment using 7 g NaOH/L was adapted from Kim et al. (2003) and allowed to react with the substrate for 24 h prior to digestion. Thermobaric pre-treatment was conducted using an autoclave at 121 °C for 30 min, and allowed to cool for 24 h before use (Kim

Table 1 Characteristics of inoculum and untreated DAF sludge used in this workND - not determined. Bioresource Technology 244 (2017) 605-610

et al., 2003). Thermochemical treatment was a combination of chemical and thermochemical treatment, with NaOH addition prior to autoclaving.

#### 2.3. Biochemical methane potential testing

Tests were conducted using the Automated Methane Potential Test System II (AMPTS II; Bioprocess Control, Lund, Sweden). Inoculum and substrate were added at a ratio of 3:1 respectively on the basis of VS to avoid overloading the inoculum. Substrate was portioned based on weight, and rinsed into reactors with distilled water. Final reactor volume was approximately 400 mL of liquid with the remaining volume as head space in a 500 mL Schott bottle. Reactors were maintained at a constant temperature of 37 ± 1.5 °C in a water bath. Seven sets of triplicate were tested, including a sludge blank, cellulose control, raw wastewater control and five treatment groups. Carbon dioxide was removed from the biogas using 3 M sodium hydroxide scrubbers, and resulting methane was measured by the AMPTS II gas measurement unit and corrected for standard temperature and pressure (0 °C and 1 atm.). Digestions were considered finished on the day that daily biogas production was less than 1% of the total yield (Verein Deutscher Ingenieure, 2006).

#### 2.4. Cost and energy calculations

The results of the lab-scale investigations detailed in this paper were used in a preliminary evaluation of the treatment options for suitability in a red meat processing context. For the assessment of cost, this section will not consider initial capital investment required to facilitate ongoing pre-treatment. Alternatively, this section will focus on the approximate on-going cost of pre-treatment and the anticipated benefits, as well as assess the appropriateness of the pre-treatment operation onsite at a red meat processing facility. For the calculation of financial values, the waste parameters measured in this investigation will be utilised, a combined heat and power (CHP) unit with electrical conversion efficiency of 40% will be assumed, and an electricity cost of \$0.15 AUD kWh<sup>-1</sup> and a natural gas cost of \$8.15 AUD GJ<sup>-1</sup> will be used (AEMO, 2017). This does not take into account the use of heat from the CHP unit. Furthermore, this work does not consider the flowon benefits to the AD system that may be established as a result of pretreatment, as further work using semi-continuous digesters is needed to identify such benefits

#### 2.5. Analytical methods

Various parameters were investigated on anaerobic sludge and DAF sludge prior to digestion. VS and TS were analysed using a modification to standard method 2540G with a 20 h residence time at 105 °C (Standard methods for the examination of water & wastewater, 2005). Volatile fatty acids were analysed using photometric measurement of Merck volatile organic acid test kits (Cat. No. 101809) and FOG content was measured using a Wilks Infracal 2 analyser. Total COD was measured using Merck test kits following a dilution series. Soluble chemical oxygen demand was determined using centrifugation at 13,000g for 10 min and subsequent photometric measurement of the supernatant with Merck test kits both before and after biochemical methane potential (BMP) investigation.

Sample	рн	TS (%)	VS (%)	VS/TS (%)	TCOD (g L <sup>-1</sup> )	SCOD (g $L^{-1}$ )	FOG (mg $L^{-1}$ )	VFA (mg $L^{-1}$ )
Inoculum	6.82	2.6 ± 0.00	1.99 ± 0.00	76.41 ± 0.02	ND	ND	ND	ND
Substrate	4.16	14.56 ± 0.61	14.21 ± 0.59	97.57 ± 0.01	205	33.5	90000	6400

#### 2.6. Statistical analyses

One factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to detect a difference between trials. Due to small sample size, the non-parametric equivalent, the Kruskal-Wallis test was employed in an attempt to improve the resolution of the statistical investigation. In the event that both the ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis tests were significant with P < 0.05, T-tests were used to further investigate between groups with the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test used to help account for low sample sizes. The T-test outcome has been reported where statistical significant was identified. Standard deviations are provided for values with n greater than 1.

#### 3. Results and discussion

#### 3.1. Qualitative effects of pre-treatment on DAF sludge

Pre-treatment produced varying effects on substrate consistency, from creating a more gelatinous product in the thermochemical and chemical treatments, to a more liquid and particulate substrate in the thermobaric treatment. In particular, this had implications for the uniform portioning of thermobaric substrate into digesters.

#### 3.2. Effect of pre-treatment on COD solubilisation

Thermobaric treatment slightly enhanced COD solubility from 16.3% to 20.84%. Kim et al. (2003) reported similar results with SCOD increased from 8.1% to 17.6% following thermobaric treatment. Thermochemical pre-treatment produced the greatest change, increasing the soluble fraction of COD from 16.3% to 50.7% (Table 2). This was indicative of the hydrolysis and subsequent solubilisation of organic residues in the DAF sludge.

Solubilisation of COD was also enhanced following chemical pretreatment with 7 g L-1 NaOH. Chemical pre-treatment increased SCOD content from 16.3% to 48.2%. Similar results were reported by Kim et al. (2003) in which WAS treated with sodium hydroxide exhibited an increase in SCOD from 8.1% to 39.8%. Karlsson (1990) further supports this outcome with an increase in% SCOD from approximately 13% to 38% when treated with NaOH at pH 11 at 90 °C. In contrast, when similar treatment was attempted by Massé et al. (2001) using sodium hydroxide at concentrations of  $2-16 \text{ g L}^{-1}$  on pork slaughterhouse waste, the authors reported no increase in SCOD after a reaction time of four hours. However, average size of fat particles was reduced to  $73~\pm~7\%$  of the initial average. It is likely that, as the reactions were performed at room temperature, the surface area for reaction was poor. A modest increase in reaction temperature to melt apart the fat globules may have yielded a greater impact on SCOD. Massé et al. (2001) also discuss the results of Karlsson (1990), in which it was reported that NaOH was far more effective at hydrolysing proteins than lipids, and cite this as the mechanism by which SCOD is increased in similar pretreatment investigations. Results by Kim et al. (2003) support the findings that NaOH is effective at solubilising protein, but do not elaborate on its effect specifically on lipids.

Table 2

Comparative effects of pre-treatments on SCOD, VFA and specific methane potential.

Treatment	SCOD (mg.L <sup><math>-1</math></sup> )	$[VFA] (mg.L^{-1})$	${\rm SMF}(L_N\ CH_4.kg\ VS\ ^4)$
Control Thermobaric Chemical Thermochemical	35,000 35,000 147,500 156,000	6400 2300 14510 20976	759 ± 4 823 ± 97 783 ± 6 822 ± 11

Bioresource Technology 244 (2017) 605-610

#### 3.3. Volatile fatty acids production from pre-treatment

Thermochemical treatment increased VFA content by +228%, chemical treatment increased VFA content by +127%, while a loss of VFA content by -64% was measured in the thermobaric treatment (Table 2).

In contrast to Wilson et al. (2009), a large decrease in VFA content was measured after thermobaric treatment of the substrate. This can possibly be explained by loss of volatiles during the autoclaving process, as the vessel seal may have become compromised under the intensity of the autoclaving process. However, under the conditions of this experiment, similar losses should have been observed in the thermochemical treatment.

The increase in VFA content produced by the chemical and thermochemical groups was attributed to the addition of sodium hydroxide. Similar results were obtained by Mouneimne et al. (2003) in which solid fatty residues from a wastewater treatment plant were degraded using sodium hydroxide and potassium hydroxide to yield VFA. This result demonstrated that treating with sodium hydroxide effectively enhanced hydrolysis of macromolecules to form organic acids. VFA liberation was greater in the thermochemical treatment possibly due to elevated temperature increasing the rate of both saponification and steam hydrolysis. This suggests that the majority of VFA production from sodium hydroxide addition occurred post-autoclaving.

#### 3.4. Biochemical methane potential of treated DAF sludge

Anaerobic sludge was assessed for activity using a cellulose control, which achieved 80% of its theoretical specific methane production (SMP) by day 6. Thermobaric-treated DAF sludge produced an 8.49  $\pm$  12.75% greater than the control (P = 0.0821); the chemical treatment group enhanced the SMP of DAF sludge by 3.28  $\pm$  0.81% (P < 0.05); and the thermochemical treatment group 8.32  $\pm$  1.40% (P < 0.05; Table 2).

The increase in SCOD and VFA concentration observed in the chemical (+31.9% SCOD, +127% VFA, +3.28% SMP) and thermochemical (+34.4% SCOD, +228% VFA, +8.32% SMP) treatments provided the basis that improvement in digestion parameters such as methane production or reaction kinetics should occur (Kim et al. 2003). Results obtained from the thermobaric treatment (+4.54% SCOD, -64% VFA, +8.49% SMP) appear to contradict this concept. Subsequently, positive relationships between SCOD or initial VFA concentration, and methane production or reaction kinetics were not demonstrated under the conditions of this experiment.

#### 3.4.1. Thermobaric pre-treatment of DAF sludge

Although displaying the greatest variability, thermobaric treatment performed best in BMP testing (Fig. 1). While it is possible that thermobaric treatment of lipid-rich wastes to form inhibitory concentrations of LCFA could occur, such inhibition was not observed in this experiment. The lag period of 5 days in the control group was not observed, indicating that the thermobaric treatment produced effective hydrolysis that did not result in inhibition (Fig. 1). These results are supported by Wilson et al. (2009) who reported similar results in which thermobaric treatment of lipids did not produce LCFA at previously reported inhibitory levels.

Time required to degrade the pre-treated substrate was similar to the control. However, the thermobaric treatment had produced equivalent gas volume as the controls by approximately day 9, effectively improving digestion time by 3 days (Fig. 1). Furthermore, Gianico et al. (2013) suggested that the increased organic solubilisation resulting from thermobaric pre-treatment had likely converted a fraction of recalcitrant material to a more degradable form. This explanation supports the greater production of methane in the thermobaric and thermochemical groups.







Fig. 1. Specific methane production and flow rates for controls and thermobaric treated DAF sludge measured during biochemical methane potential test. (Avg  $\pm$  SD; Control n = 3, thermobaric n = 6).

#### 3.4.2. Chemical pre-treatment of DAF sludge

Chemical treatment was expected to saponify the lipid component of the DAF sludge, and subsequently induce LCFA inhibition (Wilson et al., 2009). However, treatment did not extend the lag period exhibited in the control group, and even appeared to reduce any inhibitory impact (Fig. 2). While treated reactors completed digestion after 12.67  $\pm$  0.58 days, methane production equivalent to the control was achieved by day 10, effectively reducing digestion time by 2 days.

#### 3.4.3. Thermochemical pre-treatment of DAF sludge

Thermochemical-treated DAF sludge performed similar to thermobaric and chemical treatments. While the SMP was comparable to thermobaric-treated DAF sludge, the digesters still experienced a 4 day lag period (Fig. 3). The profile of rate of gas production retains the inhibitory phase in the first 4 days of digestion, after which the profile appears to follow more comparable to the thermobaric treatment (Fig. 3). Methane production in the treatment group was equivalent to the control group end point by day 11, producing an effective improvement in direction time by 1 day.

## 3.5. Implications for use of pre-treatments in slaughterhouse industrial applications

#### 3.5.1. Chemical pre-treatment

While pre-treatment with 7 g NaOH L<sup>-1</sup> demonstrated a high degree of COD solubilisation, the economic outcome of increasing



methane production was minimal at 3.28%. Sodium hydroxide pellets could be purchased for approximately \$467 AUD per 1000 kg. Assuming infrastructure were in place to remove residual FOG from waste streams to be made available for pre-treatment, this would allow for the treatment of 143 m<sup>5</sup> of FOG-rich waste. With an improvement of 3.28%, this would be worth \$185 AUD as electricity, or could offset natural gas worth \$229.60 AUD. This is insufficient to cover the cost of sodium hydroxide pre-treatment and is likely not a viable option. Furthermore, following pre-treatment, this material would likely require neutralisation with acid prior to dosing to the anaerobic digester. However, this does not take into account the flow-on effects of greater treatment efficiency, and the effects on anaerobic digester operation.

#### 3.5.2. Thermobaric pre-treatment

Given the 8.32% increase observed from thermochemical pretreatment, and a load of 143 m<sup>3</sup> of FOG-rich waste would generate an extra 28172 MJ. Converting to electricity with a 40% conversion efficiency provides 3130 kWh. The value of this as electricity is \$470 AUD, and used to offset natural gas would be worth \$230 AUD.

The cost of performing this treatment is heavily dependent on the water content. With a specific heat capacity of 4.18 J g<sup>-1</sup> 'C<sup>-1</sup>, water is energetically expensive to heat, and the economics of the treatment could be improved through dewatering (Table 3). With a TS content of 14.56, and a water content of 85.44%, 117.2 MWh of electricity would be required to heat 143 m<sup>3</sup> of material from 40 to 100 °C. At an estimated cost of \$0.15 AUD kWh<sup>-1</sup>, this would cost \$17580. In contrast, if

> Fig. 2. Specific methane production and flow rates for controls and chemical-treated DAF sludge measured during biochemical methane potential test. (Avg  $\pm$  SD; n = 2).



800 Ē

700 ī

600 chon

500

400

D

Ð

2

4

nethane 300 200

Specific 100

(SA 900

50



Fig. 3. Specific methane production and flow rates for controls and thermochemical DAF sludge measured during biochemical methane potential test. (Avg  $\pm$  SD; n = 3).



10

12

14

#### Table 3

Scenarios identifying estimates on the energy required to heat fatty waste from 40 to 100 °C based on different levels of de-watering.

6

	Water content						
	85.44%	70%	50%	30%	10%	0%	
Volume treated (m3)	143	120.42	91.82	63.22	34.62	20.32	
Volume of water (m3)	122.18	100.10	71.50	42.90	14.30	0	
Volume of fat (m3)	20.32	20.32	20.32	20.32	20.32	20.32	
VS (%w/w)	14.21	16.87	22.13	32.14	58.69	100.00	
Mass treated (t)	140	118	90	61	32	18	
Mass of fat treated (t)	18	18	18	18	18	18	
Specific heat capacity (kJ/ kg) <sup>4</sup>	3.87	3.81	3.70	3.48	2.90	2.00	
Required heating (MJ) <sup>b</sup>	32557	27018	19861	12718	5625	2163	
MWh needed	117.2	97.3	71.5	45.8	20.3	7.8	

Specific heat capacity of tallow obtained from Can eo Chemical (1999). <sup>b</sup> Energy required to heat substrate from 40 to 100 degrees Celsius.

90% or 100% of water were removed, the cost to heat would be around \$3045 AUD and \$1170 AUD respectively.

These calculations highlight that active heating of the material is not a viable option to take advantage of the effects of pre-treatment in this situation. Utilisation of heat-exchange from CHP, or from other plant processes, such as re-using waste heat from the stacks could significantly reduce the need for active heating, and improve viability of thermobaric pre-treatment in an industrial setting.

#### 3.5.3. Implication summary

Thermobaric pre-treatment is the most viable option for the pretreatment of DAF sludge under the conditions of this investigation. Pretreatment efficacy can be greatly enhanced through reasonable dewatering to limit the amount of heat wasted heating water, and utilisation of heat exchange to reduce active heating costs. Utilisation of CHP technology will further improve the economics of thermobaric pretreatment.

#### 4. Conclusions

This work identifies that methane yields can be enhanced by 3.28%, and 8.49% by chemical and thermochemical treatments respectively. SCOD and VFA concentrations can also be greatly increased. Early inhibition was reduced by thermochemical (-20%) and thermobaric (-100%) pre-treatments. Preliminary assessment of economic viability identified thermobaric as the most viable pre-treatment technology for industrial application under the conditions of this investigation.

Thermobaric pre-treatment efficacy can be greatly enhanced through utilisation of heat exchange, and substrate dewatering. CHP technology could further improve the economics of thermobaric pre-treatment. Semi-continuous investigations are necessary to assess on-going benefits of thermobaric pre-treated DAF sludge.

#### Acknowledgements

500

450

400 -

350 Đ

300 H

250 2

200 윭

150 g

100

50

41

16

The financial support for PWH is received from an Australian Postgraduate Award (APA) scholarship.

#### References

- AMPC, 2015. Environmental performance review: Red meat processing sector 2015.
- Australian Meat Processor Corporation. Australian Meat Processor Corporation. Applis, L., Baeyens, J., Degreve, J., Dewil, R., 2008. Principles and potential of the anaerobic digestion of waste-activated sludge. Prog. Energy Combust. Sci. 34, 755-781.
- AFHA. Standard methods for the examination of water & wastewater 21st ed. 2005
- Washington DC.
  Astals, S., Batstone, D., Mata-Alvarez, J., Jensen, P., 2014. Identification of synergistic impacts during anaerobic co-digestion of organic wastes. Bioresour. Technol. 169, 421-427.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics., 2016, Livestock and Meat, Australia, Australian Bureau of Statistic, viewed 19/02/2016, < http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATATA/abs@usf/ second+level+view?ReadFormEgrodno=7218.05.001&viewtitile=livestock %20and%20Meat,%20Australia=Dec%202015=Latest=09/02/2016&&tabname Past%20Puture%20Issues&modno = 7218.0.55.001&issue = Dec%202015&mum = & iew = & >
- View = 207. tillo-Lecorpte, C.F., Mehrvar, M., 2015. Slaughterhouse wastewater characteristics, treatment, and management in the meat processing industry: a review on trends an advances. J. Environ. Manage. 161, 287–302.
- Buswell, A., Neave, S., 1930. Laboratory studies of anaerobic digestion. Department of registration and education.
- Cameo Chemicals, 1999. Tallow, Cameo Chemicals, < https://car gov/chris/TLO.pdf>.
- gon/canor recovery and the second second
- Davidsson, A., Lovstadt, C., la Cour Jansen, J., Grubberger, C., Aspegren, H., 2008. Co-digestion of grease trap sludge and sawage sludge. Waste Manage. 28 (6), 986–992.
   Gelegenis, J., Georgaladkis, D., Angelidaki, I., Christopoulou, N., Goumenaki, M., 2007.
   Optimization of biogas production from olive-oil mill wastewater, by codigesting 992
- with diluted poultry-manure. Appl. Energy 84 (6), 646-663.
- with diluted poulity-manure. Appl. Energy 84 (6), 646–663.
  Gianico, A., Brazugdia, C., Cesarini, R., Minini, G., 2013. Reduced temperature hydro-lysis at 134 'C before thermophilic anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge at increasing organic load. Bioresour. Technol. 143, 96–103.
  Harris, P., McCabe, B., 2015. Review of pre-treatments used in anaerobic digestion and their potential application in high-fat cattle slaughterhouse wastewater. Appl. Energy
- 155, 560-575,
- IEA. 2015. IEA Bioenergy task 37: Country reports summary 2015. International Energy
- Agency. Karlsson, I., 1990. Carbon source for denitrification from pre-precipitated sludge. In: Hahn, H.H., Klute, R. (Eds.), Chemical Water and Wastewater Treatemnt. Springer,

- Berlin, Heidelberg.
  Kim, J., Park, C., Kim, T-H., Lee, M., Kim, S., Kim, S-W., Lee, J., 2003. Effects of various pre-treatment for enhanced anaerobic digestion with waste activated shudge. J. Biosci., 59 (3), 271-5.
  Li, C., Champagne, P., Anderson, B., 2015. Enhanced biogas production from anaerobic co-digestion of municipal wastewater treatment sludge and fat, oil and grease (POG) by a modified two-target thermophilic digester system with selected thermo-chemical pre-treatment. Renew. Energy 83, 474-482.
  Li, Y., Nolke, T., 1992. Upgrading of anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge by thermal pretreatment. Water Sci. Technol. 26 (3-4), 857-866.
  Long, J.T., Azizde los Rayes III, F., Ducoste, J., 2012. Anaerobic co-digestion of fat, oil, and grease (POG): a veriew of gas production and process limitations. Process Saf. Environ. Prot. 90 (3), 231-245.
  Massé, L., Kennedy, K., Chou, S., 2001. Testing of alkaline and enzymatic hydrolysis pretreatments for fat particles in slaughterhouse wastewater. Bioresour. Technol. 77 (2), 145-155.

Bioresource Technology 244 (2017) 605-610

- McCabe, B., Harris, P., Baillie, C., Pittaway, P., Yusaf, T., 2013. Assessing a new approach to covered anaerobic pond design in the treatment of slaughterhouse wastewater. Aust. J. Multidiscip. Eng. 10 (1), 81–93.MLA, 2002. Eco-efficiency manual for meat processing. Meat and Livestock Australia. Mounaime, A., Carrere, H., Bernet, N., Delgenes, J., 2003. Effect of saponification on the anaerobic digestion of solid fatty residues. Bioresour. Technol. 90 (1), 89–94.
- Verein Deutscher Ingenieure., 2005. Fermentation of organic materials Characterisation of the substrate, sampling, collection of material data, fermentation tests. in: VDI

- DSC-1798. Wilson, CA., Novak, JT., Murthy, SN., 2009. Thermal hydrolysis of the lipid and protein fractions of wastewater sludge: Implications for digester performance and operational considerations, Water Environment Federation.

## Appendix C

Bovine bile as a bio-surfactant pretreatment option for anaerobic digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering 6 (2018) 444-450



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering



. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Bovine bile as a bio-surfactant pre-treatment option for anaerobic digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste



Peter W. Harris<sup>+</sup>, Thomas Schmidt, Bernadette K. McCabe National Centre for Engineering in Agriculture, University of Southern Queensland, Toowoomba, QLD, Australia

#### ARTICLE INFO ABSTRACT

Reywords: Biochemical methane potential Abattoir Dissolved air (lotation Anaerobic toxicity assay Reaction kinetics Inhibition Bovine bile was assessed as a novel bio-surfactant pre-treatment to enhance anaerobic digestion of lipid-rich dissolved air flotation (DAF) sludge using biochemical methane potential (BMP) tests. Bile was dosed at arbitrary concentrations from 0.2-6 g/L. At 0.6 g bile/L, methane yield increased by 7.08%. Does above 2 g bile/L produced negative impacts on SMP, kinetics and digestion profile. At 6 g/L bile produced a 6% decrease in specific methane production and up to 79% additional inhibitory duration, delayed time of peak methane production by up to 74%, and slowed total digestion time by up to 65%. Reaction kinetics declined linearly with respect to bile addition, reaching half the control value at 6 g/L bile concentration. Subsequent anaerobic toxicity assays between 1 and 6 g bile/L revealed that bile has an inhibitory effect under BMP testing at these higher doses. The economic viability of using bile as a bio-surfactant was assessed. In comparison to the current use of bile as a sale product to pharmaceutical companies, the addition of 0.2 g bile/L to existing slaughterhouse waste streams could increase the value of bile to 220% of its current sale value. The promising results of bile dosed at 0.6 g/L using WHP testing warrant further investigation into long-term impact of bile pre-treatments of high-fat slaughterhouse wastewater in semi-continuous digestion experiments.

#### 1. Background & introduction

The high concentrations of fat, oil and grease (FOG) in red meat processing (RMP) water can be problematic in anaerobic digestion (AD) systems. Lipids affect digesters in many ways, including pipe blockages, crust formation and short-circuiting, sludge flotation and washout, and reversible inhibition of mass-transfer of nutrients induced by long-chain fatty acids (LCFA) [1]. This is particularly relevant when sludge is less active; situations where slaughterhouse waste is used in monodigestion or the AD technology does not incorporate temperature control and stirring. While FOG may be difficult to utilise as a substrate, altering the material with pre-treatment prior to entering an AD system may improve its bio-availability, and reduce either the frequency and or severity of complications [2].

Pre-treatment of a substrate involves the application of a treatment to the substrate prior to digestion in an attempt to improve substrate degradability [3]. The desired effect of this is to improve biogas yields, while improving or maintaining stable digester operation. While there have been many investigations into the pre-treatment of waste activated sludge, lipid pre-treatment has been a largely undeveloped field [4,5]. Pre-treatment options of particular interest include thermobaric, chemical, thermochemical, ultrasound, and biochemical methods. Of these, biochemical methods have been investigated the least, and literature regarding bio-surfactant pre-treatment methods is scarce [2].

Bio-surfactants are naturally-derived, typically non-toxic, and biodegradable surface active agents which improve the solubility of lipids into an aqueous solution, thereby increasing the interaction between microbial enzymes and lipids, and consequently enhancing hydrolysis, the rate-limiting step of anaerobic digestion [6–8]. However, this also increases the risk of foaming [9,10]. Saharan et al. [8] identified a number of potential bio-surfactants derived from microbiological and plant sources, although few have been investigated for application in anaerobic digestion. Some successful applications of bio-surfactants include use of 'BOD-balance' by Nakhla et al. [11], which is a combination of bio-surfactant and enzyme used by Damasceno et al. [12].

Investigation of BOD-balance by Nakhla et al. [11] as a pre-treatment to aid in the digestion of wastewater high in FOG yielded promising results. With a dose of 500 mg BOD-balance/L, the researchers measured no change in chemical oxygen demand (COD) solubilisation following pre-treatment, but did record a significant improvement in particulate COD (PCOD) soluble COD (SCOD) degradation. Bio-surfactant addition increased PCOD removal by 96%, and SCOD by 100%, while also increasing COD biodegradation rate coefficient of 164–238%. The authors note that the increase in PCOD removal is due

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2017.12.034

2213-3437/ © 2017 Published by Elsevier Ltd.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: Peter.Harris@usq.edu.au (P.W. Harris), Thomas.Schmidt@usq.edu.au (T. Schmidt), Bernadette.McCabe@usq.edu.au (B.K. McCabe).

Received 7 November 2017; Received in revised form 12 December 2017; Accepted 15 December 2017 Available online 16 December 2017

to a reduction in surface tension induced by the bio-surfactant, which helps solubilize hydrophobic organics, including FOG and colloidals [11]. Unfortunately, there was little focus on methane production during the investigation by Nakhla et al. [11]. However, it was noted that bio-surfactant addition appeared to reduce methane yield.

Bile is a natural product which is formed in the liver and stored in the gall bladder. It is a by-product of meat processing, and while there are pre-existing markets in cosmetics, pharmaceuticals and biological media [13], bile may be of value in enhancing the anaerobic digestion of high-fat wastes and aid in the operation of on-site AD systems in red meat processing plants. In vivo, bile acts as a surfactant to reduce large fat globules into smaller globules and thereby increase the surface area to volume ratio, consequently increasing the surface area available for enzymatic degradation.

This article presents novel work conducted using bovine bile as a bio-surfactant pre-treatment of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse. The aim of the work was to assess the effectiveness of bile, a readily available by product of meat processing, in enhancing anaerobic digestion of abattoir wastewater using batch biochemical methane potential (BMP) tests.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Inoculum and substrate

Three batches of inocula were used in this experiment. The inoculum for the first BMP test using bile at  $1-6 \, g/L$  was collected from the sludge recirculation pump servicing an anaerobic digester at a red meat processor. Due to unforeseen operational issues at the initial site of inoculum collection, the quality of the inoculum decreased markedly, and in subsequent testing was no longer able to produce > 80% of theoretical methane potential within 10 days when digesting cellulose. Consequently, subsequent batches of inoculum were collected from a new source at a wastewater treatment plant, prior to sludge thickening. Two separate samples were collected to conduct the second BMP testing bile at 0.2–1 g/L, and an anaerobic toxicity assay (ATA). Sludge was immediately transported back to the lab and stored in an incubator at 37 °C.

The substrate was dissolved air flotation (DAF) sludge, a concentrated source of FOG residues produced by the DAF process that is representative of the fatty material entering the anaerobic digestion system of red meat facilities [14]. Substrate was collected from the outlet of a DAF unit, and refrigerated at 4 °C until use. Avicel microcrystalline cellulose powder was used as a control substrate to measure sludge activity.

Bile was collected fresh from the abattoir and refrigerated at 4 °C until use. The characteristics of the inocula, substrates and bile used in this investigation are presented in Table 1.

Table 1		
Characteristics of inocula,	DAF sludge, cellulose	and bile used in digestions.

	рн	VS (% of TS)	COD (mg/1)	FOG (mg/L)
Low-dose BMP:	0.2-1.0 g b	ile/L		
Inoculum	7.48	63.01	ND	ND
DAF sludge	4.40	98.32	469,000	85,000
High-dose BMP:	: 1–6 g bile/	a.		
Inoculum	6.86	76.86	ND	ND
DAF sludge	4.28	95.82	469,800	10,500
Anagrobic Toxic	ity Assay			
Inoculum	7.48	76.41	ND	ND
Cellulose	ND	95.38	ND	ND
Bio-surfactant				
Bile	6.74	81.7	ND	ND

ND = not determined; BMP = Biochemical methane potential; ATA = Anaerobic toxicity assay.

Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering 6 (2018) 444-450

#### 2.2. Pre-treatment of DAF sludge

Bile was dosed to reactors immediately prior to beginning the BMP digestion. Concentrations for bile addition were determined arbitrarily due to the novelty of the pre-treatment. Consequently, bile was dosed 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 g/L of final liquid volume prior to commencing the BMP test. Bile characteristics are presented in Table 1.

#### 2.3. Biochemical methane potential and anaerobic toxicity assay

BMP tests were conducted using the Automated Methane Potential Test System II (AMPTS II; Bioprocess Control, Lund Sweden). Final reactor volume was 400 mL, with an inoculum to substrate ratio of 3:1 based on volatile solids (VS) to avoid overloading. Reactor temperature was maintained at 37  $\pm$  1.0 °C in a water bath. Biogas was scrubbed of carbon dioxide using 3 M sodium hydroxide, and resulting methane was measured by the AMPTS II gas measurement unit. Cellulose controls were used to confirm sludge activity of > 80% of its theoretical maximum [15], and a bile control was used to account for methane yield from bile VS. Digestions were considered complete on the day that daily methane production (Trmc) [15]. Results are reported as normal millilitres (mL<sub>N</sub>), normalised to 0 °C and 1 atm and corrected for water vapour.

An anaerobic toxicity assay was performed to elucidate the nonspecific, overall inhibitory effect of high-dose bile addition. The ATA was performed using the AMPTS II as above, with cellulose as a standard substrate and bile was dosed at 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and  $6\,g/L$  of final reactor volume. Inoculum to substrate ratio was 3:1 to be consistent with the BMPs. Kinetic analysis was used to quantify the effect of bile addition on methane formation rate kinetics, and inhibition with respect to lag phase, delay in reaching peak methane production, and time required to complete digestion (Table 3).

#### 2.4. Analytical methods

Parameters included: pH, VS and total solids (TS) using standard method 2540G [16]. COD was measured using Merck colorimetric test kits type 5000-90000 mg COD/L with a Spectroquant Pharo 100 spectrophotometer. FOG content was measured using a Wilks Infracal II, with sample workup similar to the user manual. Briefly, sample material was acidified using HCl to pH < 2, shaken, mixed 10:1 with hexane, and shaken again for 1 min. Emulsified hydrophobic component was extracted and centrifuged at 18000g for 5 min to break the emulsion. Hexane component was measured on the Wilks Infracal II 0&G unit. Samples requiring dilution for COD (1 in 10, V/V) and FOG (1 in 100–1000, V/V) analysis were diluted with distilled water prior to application to the analytical method.

#### 2.5. Kinetic analysis

Kinetic analysis was applied to the collected data to determine the rate constant (k, U) of linear gas production and better estimate the lag period  $(\lambda)$  for each treatment to assess the degree of inhibition due to bile pre-treatment. Two equations were fitted to the data to acquire values for rate constants and lag periods. Eq. (1) was a standard growth curve logistic function, while equation 2 was a modified Gompertz equation [17]. Equations were fitted using SciPy optimization curve-fit routine [18]. In order for the equations to be applied, data must fit a sigmoid shape. With exception to the cellulose and controls, sigmoidshaped graphs were achieved by excluding data obtained from days 0–3, with day 4 considered to be day 0 for subsequent curve fitting. This offset was then added back to the equation outputs to obtain the true value for variables such as inhibitory period and time of maximum production.

Eq. (1): Growth curve logistic equation

$$B = \frac{B_0}{1 + e^{-k(p-q_0)}}$$
(1)

From Eq. (1): B is the cumulative specific methane potential (SMP; mL CH<sub>4</sub>/g VS) at time t (days); B<sub>0</sub> is the maximum SMP achieved by end of digestion; k is the rate constant; t<sub>0</sub> is the time at which maximum production rate occurs. The function is weighted using standard deviation to achieve a better fit.

Eq. (2): Modified Gompertz equation [17].

$$B = B_0 e^{-e^{\left(\frac{i\pi}{B_0}(1-i)+1\right)}}$$
(2)

From equation (2): B is the cumulative SMP at time t; B<sub>0</sub> is the maximum SMP achieved by end of digestion; U is the kinetic constant of methane production rate;  $\lambda$  is the duration of lag phase in days, used here to represent inhibition. Equation is unweighted.

#### 2.6. Statistical analyses

One factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to detect a difference between groups in BMP tests. Due to small sample sizes of n-3, the non-parametric equivalent, the Kruskal-Wallis test was employed in an attempt to improve the resolution of the statistical investigation. In the event that both the ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis tests were significant with P < .05. T-tests were used to further investigate between groups, with the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test used to help account for low sample sizes. Where P values are given, all four of these tests have returned a significant result, and the T-test result has been reported.

#### 3. Results and discussion

#### 3.1. Biochemical methane potential of bile-treated DAF sludge

#### 3.1.1. BMP of DAF sludge treated with bile at 0.2-1 g/L dosage

Addition of bile at 0.2–1 g/L improved biogas production from the outset of digestion (Fig. 1). With respect to the final methane yield attained by the control, bile treatments achieved equivalent methane yield 4  $\pm$  0.71 days earlier and yields corresponded to the theoretical maximum yield from fat of 1014 mL/g VS. Impact to rate kinetics were negligible (Table 2).

Addition of bile at dosage of 0.2-1 g/L produced a significant

Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering 6 (2018) 444-450

increase in SMP in the range of 5.71%–7.08% with P < .05 in all cases. Although bile addition increased SMP at these doses, a dose-response relationship was not demonstrated. The increase in biogas production from the bile control was negligible, and coupled with the lack of dose-response relationship, this indicated the increase in SMP achieved by the digesters was not related to the additional VS or COD in the form of bile. It may be possible that 0.2 g bile/L was sufficient to saturate the fatty material, aid solubility of fats, and subsequently improve digestion such that further increases in bile dose would produce minimal improvement.

#### 3.1.2. BMP of DAF sludge treated with bile at 1-6 g/L dosage

Bile addition at dosage of 1-6 g/L had negligible influence on biogas production. However, the impact on lag phase and T<sub>FIN</sub> was significant and was prolonged with increasing doses of bile (Fig. 2; Table 3). An inhibitory duration of 7.1 ± 0.2 days was determined for the controls using the Gompertz equation. Addition of bile further increased the inhibitory duration by 10% ± 3% (3 g bile/L), 14% ± 3% (4 g bile/ L), 37% ± 4% (5g bile/L), and 79% ± 6% (6g bile/L) (Fig. 2; Table 3). Similar outcomes were recorded by Feitkenhauer and Meyer [19] in which alcohol sulfate, an anionic surfactant was added to batch digestions. Although the concentration of surfactant used by Feitkenhauer and Meyer [19] was much lower at 50-500 mg/L, the researchers observed significantly prolonged inhibition. Lag phase was doubled in the lowest dose, and time required to finish digestion was also extended. The curves displayed in Fig. 2 are the average of 3 replicates, with error bars removed to improve clarity. Standard deviations ranged from 3 to 11 mL<sub>N</sub> CH<sub>4</sub>/g VS with an average of 8 mL<sub>N</sub> CH<sub>4</sub>/g VS.

Peak methane production rate was achieved by 10.1  $\pm$  0.1 days in the controls, with similar results in the 1 and 2g bile/L groups. Increased dosage produced statistically significant delays at 13  $\pm$  2% (3g/L), 19  $\pm$  2% (4g/L), 39  $\pm$  2% (5g/L) and 74  $\pm$  3% (6g/L) respectively (Table 3). Completion of digestion followed a similar trend. At doses of 0 and 1g bile/L trials were complete after 17  $\pm$  0 days, with a negligible increase at 2g/L to 17.7  $\pm$  0.6 days. At doses of 3–6 g bile/L, T<sub>FDN</sub> was significantly delayed by 16  $\pm$  7% (3g/L), 22  $\pm$  7% (4g/L), 37  $\pm$  7% (5g/L), and 65  $\pm$  6% (6g/L) (Table 3). Reaction kinetics declined linearly with respect to bile addition (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.9634). From the logistic equation, a rate constant of  $k = 0.73 \pm 0.01$  was  $-3 \pm 3\%$  (1g bile/L),  $-7 \pm 1\%$  (2g bile/L),  $-22 \pm 3\%$  (3g bile/





Table 2

Kinetics modelling of SMP curves from low-dose bile BMP using a standard growth curve logistic equation and a modified Gompertz equation.

Units	Inhibition (),) Days	T <sub>o</sub> Days	Finish day Days	$\rm B_0 \ NmL \ CH_4/g \ VS$	k	U NmL CH <sub>6</sub> /g VS/day	R <sup>2</sup> Logistic	R <sup>2</sup> Gompertz
Cellulose*	3.2 ± 0.1	5.8 ± 0.1	14 ± 1.2	348 ± 2	0.81 ± 0.04	71 ± 2	0.997	0.998
Control	$19.2 \pm 0.1$	$23.2 \pm 0.0$	$33 \pm 0.6$	999 ± 7	$0.53 \pm 0.01$	136 ± 2	1.000	0.999
Bile 0.2 g/L	$19.1 \pm 0.1$	$23.1 \pm 0.1$	$33 \pm 0.6$	1056 ± 22	$0.51 \pm 0.01$	139 ± 3	0.999	0.998
Bile 0.4 g/L	$19.2 \pm 0.1$	$23.4 \pm 0.1$	$34 \pm 0.0$	1056 ± 3	$0.48 \pm 0.01$	135 ± 9	0.999	0.997
Bile 0.6 g/L	$19.1 \pm 0.1$	$23.3 \pm 0.2$	$33 \pm 0.6$	$1080 \pm 12$	$0.50 \pm 0.01$	135 ± 4	1.000	0.997
Bile 0.8 g/L	$19.1 \pm 0.1$	$23.3 \pm 0.1$	$33 \pm 0.6$	$1068 \pm 4$	$0.50 \pm 0.01$	136 ± 4	0.999	0.998
Bile 0.1 g/L	$19.0 \pm 0.1$	$23.2 \pm 0.3$	33 ± 1.7	1056 ± 12	$0.50 \pm 0.03$	129 ± 4	1.000	0.997

\* Cellulose is provided as a reference for comparison, logistic equation was unweighted to achieve curve fit

L),  $-27 \pm 4\%$  (4 g bile/L),  $-40 \pm 2\%$  (5 g bile/L), and  $-52 \pm 5\%$  (6 g bile/L) (Table 3).

Bile dosed at 1 and 2 g/L produced negligible impact on inhibitory duration. Given the minimum inhibitory concentrations of oleic acid (C18:1) from the literature of 0.443 mM [20], to 2.4 mM [21], and the composition of beef tallow of 37–47% C18:1 [22,23], the FOG load of 1245 mg/L equates to 1.73–2.15 mM C18:1. This is well within the reported range of inhibitory concentrations, and given sufficient solubilisation, LCFA inhibition should result.

While doses of 1 and 2 g bile/L appeared to have negligible impact on inhibitory duration, doses between 3 and 6 g bile/L induced significant inhibition. At doses of 3, 4, 5 and 6 g/L, inhibition increased by 9.8%, 14.1%, 36.6% and 78.87% respectively. The inhibition observed was consistent with descriptions of inhibition by LCFA adsorption, as the inhibition was reversible and overcome to produce roughly equivalent methane yields in all doses with exception to 6 g/L [24]. At 6 g bile/L, methane yield was reduced by an average of 6% (P < .05, n = 3).

The methane yields from the BMP trialling doses of 0.2-1 g bile/L were much greater than those obtained from the BMP trialling doses of 1-6 g bile/L. Yields in the low-dose BMP were very close to the theoretical maximum yield from fat of 1014 mL/g VS, and was likely due to the much greater FOG content of the DAF sludge used. Conversely, the yields from the high-dose BMP were much lower, which was consistent with a much lower FOG content.

While it is standard for BMP experiments to be conducted at an I:S ratio of 2:1, Li et al. [25] identified that the optimum I:S ratio for FOG digestion lies between 4:1 and 1.33:1. For this work, an I:S ratio of 3:1 was used with the intent to limit overloading and subsequent inhibition typically associated with FOG digestion. As 4:1 was the highest ratio investigated by Li et al. [31], I:S ratios greater than 4:1 may further optimise FOG digestion, increasing SMP and/or reducing inhibition.

#### 3.2. Evaluation of bile inhibition using anaerobic toxicity assay

The ATA produced small changes in digestion profile (Fig. 3). As bile dose increased from 0 to 6 g/L, inhibition increased by up to 16.67% with a good linear correlation to dose ( $R^2 - 0.94$ ). The time required to reach T<sub>0</sub> was delayed by up to 10%, and also correlated well

with bile dosage (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.88). Bile dosage showed no effect on time required to complete the digestion. Similarly, the rate constant, k, showed little change between the control and 4000 mg/L dose, but began to reduce with doses of 5000 and 6000 mg/L by 3% and 5% respectively (Table 4). The curves displayed in Fig. 3 are the average of 3 replicates, with error bars removed to improve clarity. Standard deviations ranged from 1 to 17 mL<sub>N</sub> CH<sub>4</sub>/g VS with an average of 5 mL<sub>N</sub> CH<sub>4</sub>/g VS.

Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering 6 (2018) 444-450

In comparison to the results produced by the ATA, where sludge response at doses of 0-6 g bile/L was linear, the response observed in the BMP is much more typical of a logarithmic growth curve, in which 6 g/L is beginning to severely delay the process (Fig. 4). This variation could be a result of the much greater sludge quality in the ATA.

The anaerobic toxicity tests demonstrate that bile had an inhibitory effect during BMP testing at doses of 3-6 g bile/L. As evidenced by Girault et al. [26] and Martin-Gonzalez et al. [27], once an anaerobic consortium had overcome initial LCFA inhibition, the rate of biogas production increases to a similar rate as the controls. While the ATA was digesting cellulose, the recovery of the rate kinetics reproduced in the ATA indicated that bile produced reversible inhibition, while a dose of 6 g bile/L induced the first signs of decline in reaction kinetics. However, in the BMP, the rate kinetic began to decline significantly from addition of 3 g/L. This inhibition could be caused by susceptibility to free fatty acids [28], or bile [29], but possibly due to the compounding effect of both. Bile is known to be toxic to various bacteria, in particular, gram-positive bacteria [29]. While population composition varies, gram-positive can account for a considerable fraction of active anaerobic biomass [30]. It is therefore possible that bile toxicity could have played a major role in reducing the rate of biogas production.

Comparison of bile pre-treatment at low (0.2–1 g/L) and high (1–6 g/L) doses

The high-dose trial utilised a FOG-acclimatised inoculum, with a substrate relatively low in FOG content. The resulting impact of bile addition was found to be largely negligible or negative depending on the dose. In comparison, the low-dose trial used an inoculum that was unaccustomed to high-fat substrates, and was combined with a substrate much higher in FOG content, yet produced an increase in SMP.

Tab	de	3
	-	

Kinetics modelling of SMP curves from high-dose bile BMP using a standard growth curve logistic equation and a modified Gompertz equation.

Units	Inhibition ().) Days	T <sub>o</sub> Days	Finish day Days	${\tt B}_0 \; {\tt NmL} \; {\tt CH}_6/g \; {\tt VS}$	k	U NmL CH <sub>4</sub> /g VS/day	R <sup>2</sup> Logistic	R <sup>2</sup> Gompertz
Cellulose*	$1.3 \pm 0.1$	$2.9 \pm 0.1$	10.0 ± 0	312 ± 6	$1.30 \pm 0.13$	102 ± 4	0.991	0.998
Control	7.1 ± 0.2	$10.1 \pm 0.1$	$17.0 \pm 0$	765 ± 11	$0.73 \pm 0.01$	121 ± 6	0.999	0.999
Bile 1 g/L	7.3 ± 0.1	$10.3 \pm 0.1$	$17.0 \pm 1$	$764 \pm 12$	$0.71 \pm 0.02$	121 ± 6	0.999	0.995
Bile 2 g/L	$7.0 \pm 0.2$	$10.1 \pm 0.1$	$17.7 \pm 0.6$	761 ± 3	$0.68 \pm 0.01$	109 ± 5	0.993	0.994
Bile 3 g/L	7.8 ± 0.2	$11.4 \pm 0.2^{-1}$	$19.7 \pm 1.2^{\circ}$	756 ± 7	$0.57 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	96 ± 4	0.997	0.994
Bile 4 g/L	$8.1 \pm 0.2$	$12.0 \pm 0.2^{\circ}$	$20.7 \pm 1.2^{\circ}$	755 ± 8	$0.53 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	88 ± 4	0.994	0.989
Bile 5 g/L	9.7 ± 0.3	$14.0 \pm 0.2^{\circ}$	$23.3 \pm 1.2^{\circ}$	741 ± 3	$0.44 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	75 ± 4	0.989	0.987
Bile 6 g/L	12.7 ± 0.4	$17.6 \pm 0.3^{\circ}$	28.0 ± 1 <sup>^</sup>	720 ± 11°	$0.35 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	65 ± 3°	0.985	0.986

\* Statistically significant at P < .05, n = 3.</p>

\* Cellulose is provided as a reference for comparison, logistic equation was unweighted to achieve curve fit.



The data indicate that there is potential for beneficial outcomes from low-dose bile addition. However, the data also support that the influence of bile on the digestion process at these lower doses is also reliant on other factors, indicated by the varying result of the 1 g/L trial, which overlaps both BMP investigations. It is likely that variation in inoculum or substrate is responsible for this inconsistency. Subsequently, the cellulose controls for each BMP and the ATA were compared (Fig. 5). The sludge used for the low-dose investigation, while slower to complete digestion, produced 9% and 12% more biogas than the inoculum used for the ATA and high-dose BMP respectively. It is likely that the superior sludge quality used in the low-dose BMP was responsible for the positive response to bile addition observed in the low-dose BMP. trialled, 5 g/L and 6 g/L have potential bile salt concentrations above 5.3 mM, with 5.6 and 6.7 mM respectively. Measured differences in inhibition, SMP, finish time and reaction kinetics, as shown in Figs. 2 and 4, and Tables 3 and 4 indicate that degradative effects are appearing as early as 3 g/L, with a potential bile salt concentration of 3.6 mM. While these effects don't appear to correlate with CMC, these degradative effects do appear to become more severe at concentrations above the CMC of sodium deoxycholate, and micelle formation may induce more significant inhibitory effects.

Bile is a complex mixture of components, with a range of critical micellar concentrations (CMC). Surfactant compounds within bile, sodium deoxycholate, sodium chenodeoxycholate and sodium cholate, have CMCs of 5.3, 7.0 and 18.4 mM respectively [31]. Of the bile doses processing facilities Bile is a by-product of red meat processing and was used in this study to assess the relative merit as onsite treatment of processing

3.4. Economic considerations of bile pre-treatment of wastewater at meat



P.W. Harris et al.

Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering 6 (2018) 444-450

#### Table 4

Anaerobic toxicity	y assay	with	cellulose	and	bile.
--------------------	---------	------	-----------	-----	-------

Units	Inhibition ( $\lambda$ ) Days	T <sub>o</sub> Days	Finish day Days	SMP mL <sub>N</sub> CH <sub>4</sub> /g VS/day	k	U mL_N CH_4/g VS/day	R <sup>2</sup> Logistic	R <sup>2</sup> Gompertz
Cellulose	3.0 ± 0.1	5.1 ± 0.1	10 ± 0	318 ± 2	1.03 ± 0.05	83 ± 3	0.998	0.998
Bile 1 g/L	$3.0 \pm 0.1$	5.0 ± 0.0	$10 \pm 0$	309 ± 2	$1.07 \pm 0.03$	84 ± 3	0.998	0.997
Bile 2 gL	$3.1 \pm 0.1$	$5.1 \pm 0.0$	$10 \pm 0$	318 ± 9	$1.05 \pm 0.03$	84 ± 3	0.998	0.995
Bile 3 g/L	$3.3 \pm 0.1$	5.3 ± 0.0	$10 \pm 0$	313 ± 2	$1.07 \pm 0.03$	85 ± 3	0.998	0.995
Bile 4 g/L	$3.4 \pm 0.1$	$5.4 \pm 0.0$	$10 \pm 0$	322 ± 1	$1.06 \pm 0.03$	85 ± 3	0.998	0.995
Bile Sg/L	$3.5 \pm 0.1$	5.5 ± 0.0	$10 \pm 0$	318 ± 1	$1.04 \pm 0.03$	83 ± 3	0.998	0.995
Bile 6 g/L	$3.5 \pm 0.1$	$5.7 \pm 0.0$	$10 \pm 0$	318 ± 1	$1.00 \pm 0.03$	80 ± 3	0.998	0.993

Australian RMP facilities is as a sale product to pharmaceutical industries. The effort of collecting and preparing bile for this purpose is considerable. Although collection by specialised equipment can yield approximately 96% of bile, simple slashing of the gall bladder and draining bile by workers can result in loss of up to 50% is common [32]. Collected bile must then be heated to concentrate the bile to 75% solids. This carries the benefits of preserving the product and avoiding the cost of preservatives, while eliminating large quantities of water to reduce shipping costs [32]. At a throughput of 500 head of cattle per day for a medium sized Australian RMP facility, with a bile volume of 0.4 L and a solids content of 10%, this equates to 20 kg of solids available per day [32]. At a value of 25 AUD/kg (Dennis King, pers.comm. 1/11/2017) [37], bile is worth 500 AUD/day or 125,000 AUD/year (250 days) to the processor. Assuming 50% loss of bile, this value is reduced to 250 AUD/day or 62500 AUD/year. This return is so low that many processors consider the return on invested effort and energy does not warrant collection (Dennis King, pers.comm. 1/11/2017).

By comparison, dosage to the waste stream does not require concentration. At a throughput of 500 cattle, 200 L of bile is recoverable. While the maximum methane increase measured in this investigation was 7.08%, 0.6 g bile/L, the corresponding quantity would require 600 L of bile to treat 1 ML of wastewater. Alternatively, a dose of 0.2 g bile/L would require 200 L of bile, and is possible for an increase in methane yield of 5.71%, assuming 100% bile recovery.

In comparison with the financial implications considered in Harris et al. [14], an SMP of 759 m<sup>3</sup> CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS was measured for a DAF sludge containing 14.21% VS, presumed to be primarily FOG. For a 143 m<sup>3</sup> load of waste, the equivalent FOG load was calculated to be around

20.3 m<sup>3</sup>, or, with a density of approximately 0.7861 g/mL, a rough mass of 15.96 tons of FOG solids. The treatment of this volume of wastewater with bile would require 28.6 L of bile. This mass, with an SMP of 759 m<sup>S</sup>/kg VS would produce 12105119 m<sup>S</sup> CH<sub>4</sub>. An additional 5.71% equates to 691202 m<sup>S</sup> CH4. With an energy content of 35.75 MJ/m<sup>S</sup>, this volume contains 19334 MJ. At 3.6 kWh/MJ, and an electrical conversion efficiency of 40% for a combined heat and power plant, this would result in approximately 2148 kWh of usable electricity. At a rate of 0.15 AUD/kWh, this would be worth 322 AUD. If used to offset natural gas, at a rate of 8.15 AUD/GJ, this would be worth 158 AUD. With respect to the volume of bile generated per day, around 200 L, the treatment of 1 ML of such waste would bring the value of bile up to around 1102 AUD/day based on these values. In comparison with the collection and preparation of bile for sale to the pharmaceutical industry, bile for wastewater treatment is dosed directly to the waste stream with no other treatment, reducing the effort and energy investment. Conclusion

Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering 6 (2018) 444-450

This work identified that bile dosed at 0.6 g/L produced a 7.08% increase in methane yield. Higher doses of bile ranging between 3 and 6 g/L resulted in reduced methane yield, increased inhibition by up to 79%, and reduced reaction kinetics by 52%. The economic viability of using bile as a bio-surfactant was assessed. In comparison to the current use of bile as a sale product to pharmaceutical companies, the addition of 0.2 g bile/L to existing slaughterhouse waste streams could increase the value of bile, through biogas production, to 220% of its current sale value. The quality of inoculum and substrates were important factors when assessing the effect of bile as a pre-treatment option.



Fig. 4. Inhibition period with respect to bile addition in BMP testing. T<sub>MAX</sub> represents the time between recovering from lag phase inhibition and achieving maximum methane production rate. T<sub>FIN</sub> represents the time between achieving T<sub>MAX</sub> and completing digestion with methane production < 1% of total yield.





#### Acknowledgements

Financial support for PWH is received through an Australian Postgraduate Award (APA) scholarship. The authors thank Matthew Mengel (USQ) for assistance with equation fitting, and the USQ statistical consulting unit for statistical aid.

#### References

- [1] J. Long, T. Aziz, F. de los Reyes III, J. Ducoste, Anaerobic co-digestion of fat, oil, and
- J. Long, T. Artz, F. de los Reyes III, J. Ducots, Anaerote: Co-ingestion of rat, edi, and grease (POG): A review of gas production and process limitations, Process. Saf. Environ. Prot. 90 (2012) 231-245, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2011.10.001.
   P. Harris, B. McCabe, Review of pre-treatments used in anaerobic digestion and their potential application in high-fit cattle slaughterhouse wastewater, Appl. Energy 155 (2015) 560-575, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apmargy.2015.06.026.
   H. Carrere, C. Dumas, A. Battimelli, D. Battone, J. Delgenes, J. Steyer, I. Ferrer, Pretransment methods to improve fundea anaerobic dometholing: a various I.
- Pretreatment methods to improve sludge anaerobic degradability: a review, J. Hazard. Mater. 183 (2010) 1–15, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.06. [4] M. Cammarota, D. Freire, A review on hydrolytic enzymes in the treats nent of
- M. Cammarota, D. Freire, A review on hydrolytic enzymes in the treatment of wastewater with high oil and grease content, Biorssour. Technol. **57** (2006) 2195-2210, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biotrech.2006.02.030.
   C. Li, P. Champagne, B. Anderson, Enhanced biogas production from anaerobic co-digestion of municipal wastewater treatment sludge and fat, oil and grease (FOG) by a modified two-stage thermophilic digester system with selected thermo-the-mical pre-treatment, Renew. Energy 83 (2015) 474-482, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.reneme.2015.04.055.
   V. Cinjone S. Gittiebic E. Backus Selection of far-derading microgramium for
- 1016/j.renene.2015.04.055.
   [6] V. Cipinyte, S. Girigilskis, E. Baskys, Selection of fat-degrading microorganisms for the treatment of lipid-contaminated environment, Biologija 55 (2009) 84-92,
- the treatment of lipid-contaminated environment, Biologija 55 (2009) 84-92, http://dx.doi.org/10.2478/v1003-4009-0014-3.
  [7] Y. Matsumiya, D. Wakita, A. Kimura, S. Sanpa, M. Kubo, Isolation and characterization of a lipid-degrading bacterium and its application to lipid-containing wastewater treatment, J. Biosci. Bioeng. 103 (2007) 325-330, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1263/bb.103.325.
  [8] B. Saharan, R. Sahu, D. Sharma, A review on biosurfactants: fermantation, current developments and perspectives, Genet. Eng. Biotechnol. J. 29 (2011) 1-39.
  [9] N. Ganidi, S. Tyrrel, E. Cartmell, Anaerobic digestion foaming causes a review, Bioresour. Technol. 100 (2009) 5546-5554, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech. 2009.06.024.
- 2009.06.024.

- 2009.06.024.
  T. Hug, Characterization and Controlling of Foam and Scum in Activated Sludge Systems, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zurich, 2006 (Doctorate thesis).
  G. Nakhla, M. Al-Sabawi, A. Bassi, V. Liu, Anaerobic treatability of high oil and grease rendering wastewater, J. Hazard. Mater. 102 (2003) 243-255, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3894(03)00210-3.
  F.R. Damasceno, M. Cammarota, D.M. Freire, The combined use of a biosurfactant and an enzyme preparation to treat an effluant with a high fat content, Colloids Surf. B 95 (2012) 241-246, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.colaurfb.2012.03.003.
  K. Jayathilakan, K. Sultana, K. Radhakrishna, A.S. Bava, Utilization of byproducts and waste materials from meat, poultry and (ish processing industrie: a review, J. Food Sci. Technol. 49 (2012) 278-293, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s13197-011-0290-7.
- [14] P.W. Harris, T. Schmidt, B.K. McCabe, Evaluation of chemical, thermobaric and

thermochemical pre-treatment on anaerobic direction of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste, Bioresour. Technol. 244 (2017) 605-610, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.biortech.2017.07.179.

- [15]
- Joecemen.2017.07. Verein Deutscher Ingenieure, Permentation of Organic Materials Characterisation of the Substrate, Sampling, Collection of Material Data, Fermentation Tests, VDI 4830, 2006. Standard Methods for the Examination of Water & Wastewater, 21st edn, APHA, [16]
- Washington, DC, 2005.
  [17] M.D. Ghatak, P. Mahanta, Kinetic assessment of biogas production from lig-
- [17] M.D. Ghatak, P. Mahanta, Kinetic assessment of biogas production from lig-nocallulosis biomasses. Int J. Eng. Adv. Technol. 3 (2014) 244-249.
  [18] E. Jones, E. Oliphant, P. Peterson, SciPy: Open Source Scientific Tools for Python, (2001) (viewed 05-07-2017), http://www.scipy.org/.
  [19] H. Feitkenhauser, U. Meyer, Anaerobic digestion of alcohol sulfate (anionic surfac-tant) rich wastewater batch experiments. Part I: Influence of the surfactant concentration, Bioresour. Technol. 82 (2002) 115-121, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ 50960-8524(01)00173-0.
  [20] K.T. Dasa, S.T. Wastman, R. Millati, M.N. Calvanto, M. Taherzadeh, C. Niklasson, Inhibitory effect of long-chain fatty acids on biogas production and the protective effect of membrane bioreactor, Biomed Res. Int. 2016 (2016), http://dx.doi.org/10. 1155/2016/7263074.
- 1155/2016/7263974.
- I. Koster, A. Cramer, Inhibition of methanogenesis from acetate in granular sludge.
- [22]
- . ic digestion of
- L Koster, A. Cramer, Inhibition of methanogenesis from acetate in granular slud, by long-chain fatty acids, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 53 (1987) 403-409. National Research Council, Fat Content and Composition of Animal Products, National Academy of Sciences, Printing and Publishing Office, 1976. R. Taylor, The Chemistry of Glycerides, Unliever Idd, London, 1965. D. Cirne, X. Paloumet, L. Bjornsson, M. Alves, B. Mattiasson, Anaerobic digestion lipid-tich waste effects of lipid concentration, Renew. Energy 32 (2007) 965-975, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.renem.2006.04.003. [25]
- digestions, Bioresour. Technol. 102 (2011) 9471-9480, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ ortech.2011.07.103. [26]
- R. Girzulf, G. Bridoux, F. Nauleau, C. Poullain, J. Buffet, P. Peu, A. Sadowski, F. Beline, Anaerobic co-digestion of waste activated sludge and greazy sludge from flotation process: batch versus CSTR experiments to investigate optimal design, Bioresour. Technol. 105 (2012) 1-8, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortach.2011.11.
- [27] L. Martin-Gonzalez, L. Colturato, X. Font, T. Vicent, Anaerobic co-digestion of the organic fraction of municipal solid waste with FOG waste from a sewage treatment plant: recovering a wasted methane potential and enhancing the biogas yield, Waste
- plant: recovering a wated memane potential and enhancing the toogas yield, Wated Managa 50 (2010) 1854–1859, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.waman.2010.03.029.
   [28] A.P. Desbois, V.J. Smith, Antibacterial free fatty acids: activities, mechanisms of action and biotechnological potential, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 85 (2010) 1629–1642, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00233-00-2335-3.
   [29] M. Begley, C.G. Gahan, C. Hill, The interaction between bacteria and bile, FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 29 (2005) 625–651, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.femsre.2004.09.003.
- OOS. R. Chouari, D.I. Paslier, P. Daegelen, P. Ginestet, J. Weissenbach, A. Sghir, Novel predominant archaeal and bacterial groups revealed by molecular analysis of an anaerobic sludge digester, Environ. Microbiol. 7 (2005) 1104-1115, http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2005.00795.x. [30] [31]
- B.R. Simonovic, M. Momirovic, Determination of critical micelle concentral bile acid salts by micro-calorimetric titration, Mikrochim. Acta 127 (1997) tration of 101-104
- [32] P.M. Husband, Gall Collection, Processing and Analysis, CSIRO, 1977.

### **Supplementary Tables**

Supplementary Table 1: Characteristics of inocula, DAF sludge, cellulose and bile used in digestions.

	pН	TS	VS	VS (% of	COD	FOG			
		(% FM)	(% FM)	TS)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)			
Low-dose BMP: 0.2-1.0 g bile/L									
Inoculum	7.48	5.08	3.20	63.01	ND	ND			
DAF	4.40	28.67	28.19	98.32	469,000	85,000			
sludge									
	High-dose BMP: 1-6 g bile/L								
Inoculum	6.86	2.44	1.88	76.86	ND	ND			
DAF	4.28	9.33	8.94	95.82	469,800	10,500			
sludge									
		Ana	erobic Tox	cicity Assay					
Inoculum	7.48	2.60	1.99	76.41	ND	ND			
Cellulose	ND	100	95.38	95.38	ND	ND			
<b>Bio-surfactant</b>									
Bile	6.74	9.63	7.87	81.7	ND	ND			

ND = not determined; BMP = Biochemical methane potential; ATA = Anaerobic

toxicity assay; FM = Fresh matter

Low-dose bile BMP				High-dose bile BMP							
Dose (g bile/L)	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.8	1	1	2	3	4	5	6
Inoculum mass (g)	385.4	385.4	385.4	385.4	385.4	373.8	373.8	373.8	373.8	373.8	373.8
Substrate mass (g)	14.6	14.6	14.6	14.6	14.6	26.2	26.2	26.2	26.2	26.2	26.2
Bile added (mg)	80	160	240	320	400	400	800	1200	1600	2000	2400
FOG (mg)	1239.6	1239.6	1239.6	1239.6	1239.6	275.1	275.1	275.1	275.1	275.1	275.1
Bile dose (mg/mg FOG)	0.065	0.129	0.194	0.258	0.323	1.454	2.908	4.362	5.816	7.270	8.723

Supplementary Table 2: Conversion of volumetric dosing of bile to dosage per unit of FOG.

# Appendix D

Impact of thermobaric pre-treatment on the continuous anaerobic digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste Biochemical Engineering Journal 134 (2018) 108-113 Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

ELSEVIER

## Biochemical Engineering Journal

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bej



#### Regular article

Impact of thermobaric pre-treatment on the continuous anaerobic digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste



#### Peter W. Harris\*, Thomas Schmidt, Bernadette K. McCabe

National Centre for Engineering in Agriculture, University of Southern Queensland, Toowoomba, QLD, Australia

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received 19 December 2017 Received in revised form 9 March 2018 Accepted 10 March 2018 Available online 13 March 2018

Keywords: Oil and grease Abattoi Thermal Dissolved air flotation sludge

#### ABSTRACT

Thermobaric pre-treatment of a combination of dissolved air flotation (DAF) sludge and slaughterhouse wastewater was evaluated for performance over 50 days of continuous anaerobic digestion. Continuous digestion was conducted over three phases represented by varying fat, oils and grease (FOG) concentrations and organic loading. In comparison with earlier biochemical methane potential (BMP) investigations using thermobaric treated substrate by Harris, Schmidt and McCabe (Harris et al., 2017) which yielded an 8.32% increase in specific methane production, pre-treated DAF sludge produced negative impacts on digestion under continuous conditions. Average pH was consistently lower by 0.04, and loss of volatile organics during pre-treatment reduced methane yield by 12.1%. H<sub>2</sub>S concentration was 56% higher on average with 795 ppm compared with 510 ppm in the controls owing to enhanced protein degradation. Alkalinity was low due to insufficient replacement from the substrate. Fresh substrate containing double the fat content (236 mg/L) and reduced organic loading rate (OLR) caused both control and treatment reactors to fail, highlighting the need for consistent substrate characteristics. Magnesium hydroxide addition effectively recovered both pH and biogas production within digesters rapidly, addressing the underlying complication of insufficient alkalinity contribution by the substrate.

© 2018 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

Low-rate covered anaerobic lagoons (CALs) offer the Australian red meat processing (RMP) industry an attractive wastewater treatment option with the added benefit of capturing methane-rich biogas that can be combusted to offset onsite fossil fuel consumption [2]. The RMP industry produces high-strength, high fat wastewater which has excellent potential for biogas production. In comparison with carbohydrates and proteins which have theoretical methane potentials of 370 and 480 m3/kg VS, fat has a potential of 1014 m3/kg VS [3,4], and thereby has the potential to significantly enhance methane yields from AD systems. However, fats also present operational problems, and can reduce the performance of an aerobic digestion (AD) systems [5]. Fat has potential to cause problems such as blockages, foaming, cover damage, reversible inhibition, sludge flotation, and sludge washout [6,7]. Co-digestion and pre-treatment are two avenues of research which work to overcome these problems and increase methane yields [8]. While co-digestion in RMP facilities in Australia has received little

\* Corresponding author. E-mail addresses: Peter.Harris@usq.edu.au (P.W. Harris), nas.SchmidtØusq.edu.au (T. Schmidt), Bernadette.McCabeØusq.edu.au (B.K. McCabe).

//doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2018.03.007 1369-703X/© 2018 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

investigation, the country is actively pursuing research in this area [9]

Pre-treatment options for FOG-rich substrates typically fall into the categories of thermal, chemical, thermochemical, mechanical, enzymatic and surfactant methods [10]. Harris, Schmidt & McCabe [1] investigated the effects of thermobaric, chemical and thermochemical pre-treatment on dissolved air flotation (DAF) sludge. Under batch digestion, thermobaric pre-treatment demonstrated improvement in methane yield, increasing specific methane production (SMP; mL<sub>N</sub> CH<sub>4</sub>/g VS) of DAF sludge by 8.32%, achieving equivalent methane yield 4 days earlier than the controls, and completely eliminated lag phase inhibition.

While BMP tests provide good information regarding the amount of methane that can ultimately be produced from a feedstock, these experiments are not entirely representative of industrial scale AD systems [11]. Lab-scale continuous digestion experiments are the next progression from BMP tests which can elucidate further information regarding the digestion of a substrate, and it's suitability for large-scale AD. Lab-scale continuous digestion experiments allow the operator to optimise organic loading rate (OLR) and hydraulic retention time (HRT), while monitoring for the accumulation of potential inhibitory compounds, or the gradual loss of necessary components (i.e. trace elements, alkalinity, etc.) [3]. One of the assumptions that is made with a BMP test, and challenged with continuous digestion experiments, is the

#### P.W. Harris et al. / Biochemical Engineering Journal 134 (2018) 108-113

### Table 1 Initial parameters of sludge, and substrate batches.

	pH	TCOD (mg/L)	VS (%)	FOG (mg/L)	TN (mg/L)	VFA (mg/L
Inoculum	7.12	ND	$2.00 \pm 0.01$	ND	ND	ND
	n=1		n=2			
Phase I: Days 0-3	33					
Control	7.32	$7450 \pm 134$	$1.01 \pm 0.04$	917	86	$151 \pm 0$
Thermal	7.40	$7875 \pm 502$	$1.01 \pm 0.07$	ND	ND	$178 \pm 0$
	n=1	n=2	n=3	n=1	n=1	n=2
Phase II & III: Day	/s 34-49					
Control	$7.42 \pm 0.25$	$7034 \pm 2.7$	$0.85 \pm 0.03$	1886	102	$150 \pm 1.15$
Thermal	$7.50 \pm 0.26$	6989 ± 2.7	$0.86 \pm 0.05$	ND	ND	$180 \pm 4.04$
	n=7	n=9	n=17	n=1	n=1	n=2

Table 2

Substrate inizitales.						
Phase	DI water (ml)	Green stream (ml)	DAF sludge (ml)	Total (ml)		
1	459	230	11.34	700		
	520	1/3	0.10	700		

supply of a substrate of consistent composition, and the impact that this variation has on the digestion process. The chemical and physical composition of wastewater in the RMP industry varies significantly owing to the degree of primary treatment, including the number, size and efficiency of screens, DAF units, contra sheers, screw presses, sterilisation and rendering [12], as well as species slaughtered, seasonal changes, and variation down to the week, day and even between shifts [13].

Although batch investigations provide valuable information, there is often disparity between results obtained from batch and continuous digestion investigations. Schwede, Rehman, Gerber, Theiss and Span [14] thermally treated microalgae and produced a 185% increase in methane yield under batch conditions. However, under continuous digestion, an increase of only 108% was recorded. Similarly, Zhang, Su and Tan [15] measured on average 29% less methane produced from substrate digested in continuous systems when compared with batch systems.

This current study is a progression of work performed by Harris, Schmidt and McCabe [1], and aimed to investigate the impact of thermobaric-pre-treatment on the anaerobic digestion of a combination of DAF sludge and slaughterhouse wastewater during continuous digestion, with respect to methane yield and process stability.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Inoculum and substrate

The inoculum was anaerobic sludge sourced from a CAL at a local slaughterhouse (Table 1). Sludge was immediately portioned into  $6 \times 2L$  continuous stirred-tank reactors (CSTRs), incubated at  $37 \pm 1^{\circ}$  for 4 days to allow residual organics to digest.

The substrate was a semi-synthetic combination of distilled water, wastewater collected from the slaughterhouse green stream, and DAF sludge (Table 1), with the intent to limit substrate variability and contribute to a greater C:N ratio. DAF sludge is a

Table 3			
Operational	details	of CSTR	continued

Phase	Days	Stirring (hours on/day) <sup>a</sup>	OLR (g COD/L/day)	FOG load (mg/L/day)	Mg(OH) <sub>2</sub> (g/ml/day)
1	0-32	20.5	1	115	0
п	33-43	20.5	0.85	236	0.005
ш	44-49	23.83	0.85	236	0.005

\* Stirring interval is 1:5 min on/off.

concentrated source of FOG residues collected by the DAF process. This material was used for its high FOG content and has a fatty acid composition representative of the fatty material entering the AD system of the red meat processor [1]. Green stream waste is a combination of tripe wash, render, stick water, paunch wash, cattle wash and green wash waste. Green stream waste was diluted to allow for the majority of COD to be contributed by DAF sludge, while attempting to retain some degree of nitrogen to contribute to alkalinity. Both wastewater and DAF sludge were collected as grab samples and immediately returned to the laboratory for storage at 4°C, and subsequent pre-treatment prior to use. DAF sludge was blended using a 600 W stick blender to improve uniformity prior to portioning into storage containers. Waste components were combined to produce a substrate of 8 g COD/L to allow for an OLR of 1 g COD/L/day while retaining a HRT of 8 days (Table 2).

#### 2.2. Pre-treatment and continuous digestion set-up

Thermobaric pre-treatment of DAF sludge was performed as per Harris, Schmidt & McCabe [1]. Anaerobic reactors were BioProcess Control bioreactor simulator (BRS) reactors (BioProcess Control, Sweden). As described by Strömberg et al. [16], the BRS consists of 5 main parts. Gas from the bioreactors (BR) is measured by a data acquisition instrument (DAI). Information from the DAI is transmitted to the database (DB), and through the website to file storage (FS). The user then accesses this data through the website.

Reactors were operated at a working volume of 1.8 L with a HRT of 8 days. Reactors were fed daily with 225 mL of semi-synthetic substrate, and 225 mL of effluent digestate was recovered for subsequent analysis. Reactors were maintained at  $37 \pm 1^{-}$ C with a thermostatic water bath. Table 3 details the feeding regimes for the reactors. Phase I spanned days 0–32, in which reactors were fed with the first batch of substrate. Phase II spanned days 33–43, in which reactors were fed with a second batch of substrate. Phase III spanned days 44–49, in which reactors were fed with the second batch of substrate, but dosed with magnesium hydroxide (Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub>).

Stirring was paused for 2.5 h prior to feeding in phases I and II allowed for biomass settling. In response to gradually increasing sludge flotation observed visually over the course of phases I and II, stirring protocol was modified in phase III. Stirrers were stopped 10 min prior to feeding to allow for sludge settling while limiting sludge flotation. Reactors are stirred intermittently at 80% of motor capacity, with 1 min on and 5 min off. Volumetric gas measurement was normalised to 0 C, 1 atmosphere and corrected for water vapour internally by the DAI, and is reported as normal milliitres (mLN). Adjustment of pH was performed using magnesium hydroxide at a dose of 0.005 g Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub>/mL<sub>SUBSTRATE</sub>/day on days 43–49.

#### 2.3. Analytical methods

Effluent digestate samples were collected in parallel to daily substrate addition. pH was measured daily. Total solids (TS) and VS were measured twice a week in accordance with standard method 2540G [17]. Merck test kits were used to measure ammonium, total nitrogen (TN), COD at 25–1500 mg/L, 500–10000 mg/L, and 5000–90000 mg/L and were subsequently analysed on a Spectroquant Pharo 100 spectrophotometer. Volatile fatty acids (VFA) and TA were measured by FOS/TAC titration [18], samples were centrifuged at 2345g for 30 min and filtered through a Whatman grade 4 (20–25  $\mu$ m) filter paper to remove particulate lipid prior to titration.

Biogas volume was measured continuously by the BRS, and gas composition was analysed for methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), oxygen, and hydrogen sulphide (H<sub>2</sub>S) twice a week by recirculating the digester headspace through a Biogas 5000 gas meter (Geotech, United Kingdom). FOG was measured using a Wilks Infracal II analyser, using the extraction method outlined in the user manual, with modifications outlined in [1].

#### 2.4. Statistical analyses

Single factors analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to detect statistical significance between samples.

#### 3. Results and discussion

#### 3.1. Biogas production and composition

The onset of daily biogas production generally occurred sooner in the controls, with production increasing within 15 min of substrate addition. By comparison, production began within 1 h of substrate addition in the treatment group. This indicated that the control substrate was either more readily accessible by the microbes than the thermobaric substrate, or contained substances which were more rapidly degradable, i.e. VFA potentially lost during pre-treatment as seen in Harris, Schmidt and McCabe [1].

Daily biogas production typically remained greater in the control group throughout the 24 h period (Fig. 1). The decrease in biogas production at 21–22 h was due to the cessation of stirring prior to feeding. This was contrary to the results obtained by BMP analysis of substrate collected from the same location and subject to the same treatment in Harris, Schmidt and McCabe [1], in which treated DAF sludge produced greater methane yield and reduced lag phase inhibition. This was expected to translate to a reduced delay between daily substrate addition and subsequent gas production under continuous digestion.

Specific biogas production (SBP;  $mL_N/g VS/day$ ) in the control averaged  $930 \pm 142 mL_N/g VS$ , while the treatment reactors averaged  $814 \pm 128 mL_N/g VS$ . This was significantly lower than the



Fig. 1. Average daily biogas production from control and thermal groups (P<0.05, n=49).



Fig. 2. Gas flow rates and methane content. Values are the average of 3, with error bars representing one standard deviation.

theoretical value for tallow at 2009 mL $_{\rm N}/g$  VS [4,19], indicating that the substrate was not fully degraded within the 24 h period.

SBP was consistently higher in the control group by an average of 12.8% (P<0.05), as was specific methane production (SMP;  $mL_N$  CH4/g VS/day) by 12.1% (P<0.05) (Fig. 2). It was expected that in the absence of beneficial effects of pre-treatment, that the biogas yield from the treatment group should mirror the controls. This was not the case. As pre-treatment was conducted in a Schott bottle, it is suspected that the vessel seal was broken, and some of the reduction in gas yield resulted from the loss of organic content, specifically as VFA, from DAF sludge during the pre-treatment process as reported in Harris, Schmidt and McCabe [1]. This problem could be overcome with the use of a pressure vessel as was conducted in Wilson & Novak [20]. The reduction in yield may also be in part due to reduced substrate degradability, or increased inhibition perhaps induced by increased LCFA content [20]. This reduced yield is consistent with the results of Schwede, Rehman, Gerber, Theiss and Span [14] and Zhang, Su and Tan [15] in that pre-treated substrate produced a greater result under batch conditions than under continuous digestion conditions. However, the pre-treatments investigated by Schwede, Rehman, Gerber, Theiss and Span [14] and Zhang, Su and Tan [15] still produced an increase in methane yield in comparison to the controls, and in this respect, the results of this investigation are inconsistent with the literature.

Methane and carbon dioxide content remained largely consistent throughout the experiment. Controls averaged 72.1  $\pm$  0.6% CH<sub>4</sub> and 27.6  $\pm$  1.15% CO<sub>2</sub>, while the thermobaric treatment averaged 72.5  $\pm$  0.6% CH4 and 27.5  $\pm$  1.15% CO<sub>2</sub> (Table 4). Conversely, H<sub>2</sub>S content varied greatly (Table 4; Fig. 3). Thermobaric-treated substrate produced 56% more H<sub>2</sub>S until day 43, indicative of increased protein degradation. Magnesium hydroxide (Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub>) addition on day 43 significantly reduced H<sub>2</sub>S concentrations in both the control and treatment groups. The mechanism for this reduction in

#### P.W. Harris et al. / Biochemical Engineering Journal 134 (2018) 108-113

Table 4
Biogas production and composition.

- - - - -

Reactor	SBP mL <sub>N</sub> /g VS	SMP mL <sub>N</sub> CH <sub>4</sub> /g VS	CH4 (%)	CO <sub>2</sub> (%)	H <sub>2</sub> S(%)
Control 1	932 ± 141	665 ± 103	71.3 ± 1.12	27.6 ± 1.15	$413 \pm 210$
Control 2	945 ± 161	687 ± 118	72.4 ± 1.16	$27.5 \pm 1.15$	$576 \pm 304$
Control 3	909 ± 126	656 ± 93	$72.0 \pm 0.94$	$27.8 \pm 0.92$	$541 \pm 270$
Thermal 1	852 ± 111	616 ± 80	72.0 ± 1.18	$27.8 \pm 1.14$	$830 \pm 303$
Thermal 2	834 ± 127	604 ± 92	72.1 ± 1.11	27.8 ± 1.11	$746 \pm 305$
Thermal 3	759 ± 197	550 ± 148	$72.4 \pm 1.70$	$27.4 \pm 1.70$	796 ± 321



Fig. 3. Average biogas composition  $\pm$  standard deviation with respect to CH4, CO2 and H2S content.



Fig. 4. Digester response to reduced pH, and recover with  $Mg(OH)_2$ . Phase linvolved the digestion of the first batch of substrate. Phase II indicates the change to a new batch of substrate on day 33. Phase III indicates the addition of  $Mg(OH)_2$  on day 43.

H<sub>2</sub>S content is two-fold. Firstly, Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> reacts with H<sub>2</sub>S in solution to produce hydrosulphide (HS<sup>-</sup>), a non-volatile product [21]. Secondly, raising the pH from 6.3 to a more alkaline environment increased the capacity of the water to solubilise H<sub>2</sub>S, resulting in reduced gas release [22].

#### 3.2. Process stability – VFA, TA and NH<sub>4</sub>-N

### 3.2.1. Effect of pH on biogas production

Reactor pH steadily decreased from  $6.71 \pm 0.05$  to  $6.51 \pm 0.02$ in the control group during phase I (Table 3; Fig. 4). A change in substrate to a fresh batch with around double the FOG content saw a rapid pH decrease to  $6.30 \pm 0.03$  by the end of phase II. A similar trend was exhibited by the treatment group, decreasing from  $6.68 \pm 0.04$  to  $6.47 \pm 0.03$  during phase I, followed by a rapid decrease to  $6.27 \pm 0.02$  by the end of phase II. Continued biogas production at such a low pH was unexpected, but not unprecedented [23]. This rapid decrease in pH was accompanied by an extreme decrease in biogas production in all reactors. At this point, Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> was added to the substrate to recover the digesters and indicated the beginning of phase III. Although pH recovered slowly, biogas production recovered rapidly. Overall, the treatment group main-



Fig. 5. Comparison of volatile fatty acids, total alkalinity, and VFA:TA ratio. Values are given as average ± one standard deviation. Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub> was dosed to digester from day 43 onward.

tained a lower pH at almost all times in comparison to the control group. Indeed, signs of decline had begun to show by day 23 in the treatment group, while the control group was still increasing in biogas production.

#### 3.2.2. Effect of VFA and alkalinity content on pH

While VFA content was 64% lower in the substrate following thermobaric pre-treatment in the BMP investigation [1], this was inconsistent with the literature, and reinforces the possible loss of organics from the substrate through pre-treatment. A similar investigation by Wilson, Novak and Murthy [24] demonstrated that thermobaric treatment at 170 °C increased VFA yield by 89% over the yield achieved at 150 °C. Wilson and Novak [20] further elucidated the effects of temperature on LCFA degradation. Regarding saturation, lipids with greater degrees of saturation responded at lower temperatures, and VFA yield was far greater at each temperature trialled than their more saturated counterparts. While the results of Wilson and Novak [20] are encouraging, it should be noted that C18:1 accounts for almost half of the fatty acid profile of beef tallow, which only began to show improvements at 190 °C. The VFA profile produced by thermal-treated LCFA in the Wilson and Novak study was also dependant on LCFA saturation. Thermal treatment of C18:0 effected a small increase in acetic, propionic and butyric acids, and a relatively large generation of valeric, caproic and heptanoic acids. Conversely, thermal treatment of C18:3 generated a profile almost opposite to C18:0, with acetic acid and propionic representing roughly 85% of all VFA

Under continuous digestion, VFA concentrations were on average 54% higher in the thermobaric-treated digester effluent for the first 25 days (3 HRT) of digester operation. Beyond day 25, VFA concentrations reduced to levels equivalent to the controls, at approximately  $60 \pm 18$  mg/L in both groups (Fig. 5). Higher VFA content within the thermobaric reactors indicated that organics were more easily degraded to form VFA following pre-treatment. This explains the reduced pH of the treatment group with respect to the control group over the first 28 days of digestion. Given that accumulation of VFA was not detected throughout the experiment, the decrease in pH was found to be a result of reduced buffer-

ing capacity due to washout and insufficient replacement by the substrate.

A total alkalinity of 903 mg CaCO<sub>3</sub>/L and 923 mg CaCO<sub>3</sub>/L was present in the control and treatment reactors respectively at the beginning of digestion, contributed by the inoculum. Alkalinity decreased almost linearly during phases I and II to 375  $\pm$ 7 mg CaCO<sub>3</sub>/L in the control group, and 374  $\pm$ 8 mg CaCO<sub>3</sub> in the thermal group. This decrease was due to a low TN concentration in the undiluted green stream waste of 198 mg/L, and loss through washout. Green stream waste was diluted 1:2 in phase I, and 1:3 in phase II and III to achieve a high proportion of pre-treated DAF sludge as COD in the substrate. While the DAF sludge contained a high TN of 3300 mg/L at such a small loading, the TN in the prepared substrate was only 86 mg/L in phase I, and 102 mg/L in the phase II and III. Consequently, with a HRT of 8 days, ammonium, which contributes significantly to alkalinity [25], was quickly diluted and discharged from the system, with insufficient replacement.

Addition of magnesium hydroxide in phase III steadily increased alkalinity until the final measurement on day 49. Control reactors increased from a minimum of  $375 \pm 7 \text{ mg CaCO}_3/L$  on day 42 up to  $446 \pm 6 \text{ mg CaCO}_3/L$  by day 49. This resulted in a corresponding increase in digester pH from  $6.30 \pm 0.03$  to  $6.41 \pm 6.41 \pm 0.03$ . Pre-treated reactors also increased from a minimum of  $374 \pm 8 \text{ mg CaCO}_3/L$  on day 42 up to  $421 \pm 5 \text{ mg CaCO}_3/L$  by day 49, resulting in a pH increase from  $6.27 \pm 0.02$  up to  $6.36 \pm 0.04$  (Fig. 4).

VFA:TA ratio remained below the optimum range of 0.3-0.4:1[26], with averages of 0.14±0.02:1 in the control group, and 0.17±0.04:1 in the treatment group. It is important to note that VFA:TA ratio is dynamic, with acid concentrations increasing shortly after substrate addition as hydrolysis and acidogensis take place, and decreasing as digestion proceeds to completion.

Ultimately, pH was heavily reliant on the buffering capacity. Although increased protein degradation was indicated by the increase in H<sub>2</sub>S production, there appeared to be little impact on ammonium content. Total nitrogen in the substrate was too low at 50–66 mg/L to replace the ammonium washed out during substrate addition. While VFA concentration exhibited little fluctuation with 73 ± 20 mg/L in the control group and 95 ± 40 in the treatment group, alkalinity continually decreased as ammonium was lost from the system (R<sup>2</sup> - 0.977). Although pH decreased gradually with respect to alkalinity, the VFA:TA ratio remained low, indicating that VFA accumulation did not cause digesters to fail.

These data indicated that digestion was not completed within the 24h timeframe. OLR could have been increased, either by decreasing the dilution of the green stream component of the substrate and thereby increasing the nitrogen contribution to the digester, or by increasing the DAF sludge component of the wastewater. Following addition of magnesium hydroxide, pH and gas production increased markedly.

#### 3.3. Operational aspects

#### 3.3.1. Inhibition/overloading

Both control and pre-treated groups experienced a significant reduction in biogas production during phase II, corresponding with the addition of a fresh batch of substrate (Fig. 6). During phase II, SBP decreased by 45% from a high of 2096–1.172 mL<sub>N</sub>/g V5/L/day in the control group, and by 47% from 1700 to 909 mL<sub>N</sub>/g V5/L/day in the treatment group. With respect to the change of substrate characteristics in phase II, HRT remained static at 8 days, while OLR was reduced to  $0.85 \pm 0.03$  g/L/day. And the FOG load to the reactors doubled from 115 to 236 mg/L/day. Although TN was greater in the second batch of substrate, the pH of the reactors further declined, and intervention with magnesium hydroxide was necessary to prevent digester failure. As pH recovered, SBP recovered until the



collection of completely mixed digestate was implemented on day 48.

As reported by Harris and McCabe [10], wastewater composition in RMP plants can vary significantly. The effect of substrate variation and the minor degree of shock loading demonstrated in Fig. 6 is indicative of the effect of substrate variation on the performance of industry-operated anaerobic digesters. This highlights the need for consistent feedstock for optimum anaerobic digestion. While some full scale AD facilities make use of an equalizing tank to reduce the severity of the peaks and troughs in wastewater characteristics over time, these fail-safes are not perfect, and there may be potential for pre-treatment to aid in the formation of more consistent feedstocks.

In order to reduce substrate variability, the substrate used in this study was semi-synthetic. Although elements of industrial waste streams were utilised, these components were diluted and added in proportions that achieved a desirable OLR. Despite this, the degree of control over feedstock variability was limited, and shock loading of FOG in the second batch was still enough to significantly affect AD performance. Hanaki, Matsuo and Nagase [27] reported similar inhibitory actions from shock loadings of LCFA in a system treating synthetic waste, where the addition of FOG to the reactors induced a lag phase in the degradation of acetate, LCFA and n-butyrate, and reduced the rate of methane production from hydrogen [27].

#### 3.4. Comparison of batch vs continuous digestion

While simple BMP tests give a good indication of the amount of biogas and methane that can be ultimately produced from a substrate, these tests do not accurately reproduce the conditions of large-scale AD systems under continuous or semi-continuous operation [11]. Given that laboratory investigation to understand the biogas potential of a substrate is critical in making business and design decisions regarding the implementation of AD technology, it is important to consider the limitations of BMP tests, and the advantages and shortcomings of batch and continuous digestion investigations. Continuous digesters are more sophisticated systems that accommodate for the monitoring of operational parameters such as OLR, HRT, solids retention time, and critical parameters which reflect process stability, such as pH, organic acid load and system buffering capacity, and the effect of accumulation of various compounds. Consequently, many of the observations in this experiment would not have been possible under batch digestion.

Protein degradation appeared to be enhanced by pre-treatment, as indicated by the H<sub>2</sub>S content in the biogas. However, pH in the thermobaric reactors was consistently lower than the controls, VFA:TA ratio was more variable, and response to change in substrate characteristics was more severe. Measurement of VFA:TA and ammonium concentrations indicate that digesters were subject to

continual washout of buffer from the system, without a reasonable source of replacement such as proteinaceous substrate.

The effect of substrate variation also had distinct impact on AD performance in this experiment. Shock FOG load induced immediate digester failure, although digesters were recovered with Mg(OH)2. This exemplifies the necessity for the Australian RMP industry, which is subject to extraordinary variation in substrate characteristics [10], to better regulate digester substrate characteristics in order to guarantee reliable performance in both methane yield and substrate degradation [28]. This can be achieved through use of an equalizing tank with a short HRT, allowing for the reduction of peaks and troughs in substrate characteristics [29].

While mono-digestion of porcine slaughterhouse waste has been demonstrated by Ortner et al. [30], BMP testing of individual and combined waste streams demonstrated that although the majority of methane was produced within 15-20 days, reactors required 48-81 days to complete digestion. Subsequent continuous digestion performed well under mesophilic conditions, with an OLR of typically 1.5-2.5 kg VS/m3/d, and a HRT within a reasonable range of 20-40 days for the majority of the experiment [30]. However, under psychrophilic conditions of 25 °C, a more representative temperature for unheated and low-rate anaerobic digesters, digestion of the substrate seemed difficult. OLR was reduced to around 0.35, and HRT was increased up to 165 days [30]. Such operation is too slow and ineffective for systems such as covered high-rate anaerobic lagoons to be worthwhile as an energy source. Accordingly, slaughterhouse waste may lend itself better as an optimised substrate as in the case of co-digestion, and further potential for pre-treatment to significantly enhance degradation rates for such slowly degrading substrates.

#### 4. Conclusion

Previous BMP investigation of thermobaric-treated DAF sludge yielded an 8.32% increase in SMP and eliminated lag-phase inhibition [1]. Subsequent investigation of thermobaric-treated substrate under continuous digestion resulted in reduced methane yield by 12.1% due to lost volatile organics, consistently lower digester pH, and enhanced protein degradation produced 56% higher H2S concentrations. Alkalinity was consistently washed out of reactors, with insufficient replacement from the substrate, leading to steady pH decline during phase I. Although phase II decreased OLR, a concurrent increase in FOG loading caused digesters to fail. Addition of Mg(OH)2 rapidly recovered digester pH, biogas production and significantly reduced H<sub>2</sub>S concentrations.

#### Acknowledgement

Financial support for PWH is received through an Australian Postgraduate Award (APA) scholarship.

#### References

- [1] P.W. Harris, T. Schmidt, B.K. McCabe, Evaluation of chemical, thermobaric and thermochemical pre-treatment on anaerobic digestion of high-fat cattle slaughterhouse waste, Bioresour. Technol. 244 (2017) 605-610.
- [2] C. Stucley, S. Schuck, R. Sims, J. Bland, B. Marino, M. Borowitzka, A. Abadi, I. C. sculety, S. Scheler, R. Simis, F. Bianni, B. Marino, M. Borowitzka, R. Hodan Bartle, R. Giles, Q. Thomas, Bioenergy in Australia: Status and Opportunit Bioenergy Australia, New South Wales, 2012. Verein Deutscher Ingenieure, Fermentation of Organic Materials –
- Characterisation of the Substrate, Sampling, Collection of Material Data, Fermentation Tests, VDI 4630, 2006.
- [4] A. Buswell, S. Neave, Laboratory Studies of Anaerobic Digestion, Department of registration and education, 1930.

- [5] B. McCabe, P. Harris, C. Baillie, P. Pittaway, T. Yusaf, Assessing a new approach
- McLabe, P. Harris, C. Ballie, P. Mtravay, I. Tusar, Assessing a new approach to covered anaerobic pond design in the treatment of abattoir wastewater, Aust J. Multidiscip, Eng. 10 (2013) 81–93.
   J. Long, T. Aziz, F. de los Reyes III, J. Ducoste, Anaerobic co-digestion of fat, oil, and grease (FOC): a review of gas production and process limitations, Process Saf, Environ. Prot. 90 (2012) 231–245.
- [7] M. Pereira, O. Pires, M. Mota, M. Alves, Anaerobic biodegradation of oleic and Ar Perera, O. Pires, M. Mota, M. Arves, Anaerolic biologitation of object palmitic acids: evidence of mass transfer limitations caused by long chair fatty acid accumulation onto the anaerobic sludge, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 92 (2005) 15–23.
- C. Li, Using Anaerobic Co-digestion with Addition of Municipal Organic [8] C. L. Comp Function: Concernment of Enhance Biogas Production from Wastewater Treatment Plant Sludge, Department of Givil Engineering, Queen's University, Ontario Canada, 2012, pp. 285.
   S. Astals, D. Batstone, J. Mata-Alvarez, P. Jensen, Identification of synergistic
- impacts during anaerobic co-digestion of organic wastes, Bioresour. Technol. 169 (2014) 421-427.
- F. Harris, B. McCabe, Review of pre-treatments used in anaerobic digestion and their potential application in high-fat cattle slaughterhouse wastewater, Appl. Energy 155 (2015) 560–575.
   H. Carrere, G. Antonopoulou, R. Affes, F. Passos, A. Battimelli, G. Lyberatos, I.
- Ferrer, Review of feedstock pretreatment strategies for improved anaerol digestion: from lab-scale research to full-scale application, Bioresour. Technol. 199 (2016) 386-397.
   AMPC, Waste Water Management in the Australian Red Meat Processing
- Industry, 2012.
- [13] A. Bauer, Investigation into the Biochemical Methane Potential of Abattoir [13] A. Bauer, Investigation into the biochemical Methane Potential of Abattoir Wastewater, Faculty of Engineering and Surveying, University of Southern Queensland, 2011.
   [14] S. Schwede, Z.-U. Rehman, M. Gerber, C. Theiss, R. Span, Effects of thermal
- John Strong, E. Orana, and Strong, S. Sandar, S. San
- waste in a dual solid-liquid system, Bioresour. Technol. 145 (2013) 10–16.
- [16] S. Strömberg, J. Liu, N. Uvelöv, M. Nistor, Cloud solution for monitoring and control of continuous anaerobic fermentation tests, IWA Conference: New Control of continuous anaerobic fermentation tests, IWA Conference: New Developments in IT & Water (2012).
   [17] APHA, Standard Methods for the Examination of Water & Wastewater, 21 st
- ed., APHA, Washington DC, 2005. [18] K. Strach, M.-D. Zechendorf, Determination of the VOA value (according to
- (Ed. Mapp) and of the VOA/ITC value (in accordance with FAL), in: D. Liebetrau (Ed.), Collection of Methods for Biogas: Methods to Determine Parameter Analysis Purposes and Parameters That Describe Processes in the Biogas Sector, Biomass energy use, 2016.
- [19] National Research Co
- -cuov, sormass energy use, 2016. National Research Council, Fat Content and Composition of Animal Products, National Academy of Sciences, Printing and Publishing Office, 1976, 2018. C.A. Wilson, J.T. Novak, Hydrolysis of macromolecular components of primary and secondary wastewater sludge by thermal hydrolytic pretreatment, Water Res. 43 (2009) 4489–4498. [21] O. Gutierrez, D. Park, K.R. Sharma, Z. Yuan, Effects of long-term pH elevation

- [21] O. Gutierrez, D. Park, K.R. Sharma, Z. Yuan, Effects of long-term pH elevation on the sulfate-reducing and methaneogenic activities of anerobic sewer biofilms, Water Res. 43 (2009) 2549–2557.
  [22] L. Zhang, P. De Schryver, B. De Gusseme, W. De Muynck, N. Boon, W. Verstrate, Chemical and biological technologies for hydrogen sulfide emission control in sewer systems: a review, Water Res. 42 (2008) 1–12.
  [23] EPA, Development Document for the Proposed Effluent Limitations Guidelines and Standards for the Meat and Poultry Products Industry Point Source Category (40 CFR 432), Office of Water, U.S. Environmental protection prenew Washington DC 2002. agency, Washington, DC, 2002. [24] C.A. Wilson, J.T. Novak, S.N. Murthy, Thermal Hydrolysis of the Lipid and
- Protein Fractions of Wastewater Sludge Implications for Digester Performance and Operational Considerations, Water Environment Federation,
- [25] J. Lopez, M. Passeggi, L. Borzacconi, Co-digestion of ruminal content and blood
- I conject, in respect to the second of the second of the second s Condition, 2008.
- [27] K. Hanaki, T. Matsuo, M. Nagase, Mechanism of inhibition caused by long-chain fatty acids in anaerobic digestion process, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 23 (1981) 1591–1610.
- M. Johns, Developments in wastewater treatment in the meat processing
- [28] M. Jonns, Developments in Wattewater treatment in the meat processing inudstry: a review, Bioresour. Technol. 54 (1995) 203-216.
   [29] V. Del Nery, I.R. de Nardi, M.H.R.Z. Damianovic, E. Pozzi, A.K.B. Amorim, M. Zaiat, Long-term operating performance of a poultry slaughterhouse wastewater treatment plant, Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 50 (2007) 102-114.
   [30] M. Ortner, K. Leitzinger, S. Skupien, G. Bochmann, W. Fuchs, Efficient
- anaerobic mono-digestion of N-rich slaughterhouse waste: influence of nia, temperature and trace elements, Bioresour. Technol. 174 (2014) 222-232